
 

 

 

 
Saltash Town Council 

Konsel An Dre Essa  
 

The Guildhall 
12 Lower Fore Street 

Saltash 
PL12 6JX 

Telephone: 01752 844846 
www.saltash.gov.uk 

 

28 March 2025 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
I write to summon you to the Meeting of Saltash Town Council to be held at the 
Guildhall on Thursday 3rd April 2025 at 7.00 pm. 
 
The meeting is open to members of the public and press.  Any member of the public 
requiring to put a question to the Town Council must do so by 12 noon the day 
before the meeting either by email to enquiries@saltash.gov.uk or via The 
Guildhall, 12 Lower Fore Street, Saltash PL12 6JX.  
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
S Burrows 
Town Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: 

Essa Tamar Trematon 

R Bickford 
J Brady 
R Bullock (Deputy Chairman) 
J Foster 
M Griffiths 
S Lennox-Boyd 

J Dent 
S Gillies 
S Martin 
L Mortimore 
J Peggs (Chairman) 
P Samuels 

S Miller 
B Samuels 
B Stoyel 
D Yates 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.saltash.gov.uk/
mailto:enquiries@saltash.gov.uk


 

 

Agenda 
 
1.   Health and Safety Announcements.   

 
2.   Apologies.   

 
3.   Declarations of Interest:   

a. To receive any declarations from Members of any registerable (5A of the 
Code of Conduct) and/or non-registerable (5B) interests in matters to be 
considered at this meeting. 

 
b. The Town Clerk to receive written requests for dispensations prior to the start 

of the meeting for consideration. 
 

4.   Public Questions - A 15-minute period when members of the public may ask 
questions of the Town Council.   
Please note: Any member of the public requiring to put a question to the Town 
Council must do so by email or via The Guildhall no later than 12 noon the 
day before the meeting.  
 
Members of the public are advised to review the Receiving Public Questions, 
Representations and Evidence at Meetings document prior to attending the 
meeting. 
 

5.   To receive and approve the Minutes of the Full Town Council Meeting held on 6 
March 2025 as a true and correct record.  (Pages 5 - 17) 
 

6.   To receive and note the minutes of the following Committees and consider any 
recommendations:   
 

 a.   Policy and Finance held on 11 March;  (Pages 18 - 157) 
 

 b.   Planning and Licensing held on 18 March;  (Pages 158 - 161) 
 

 c.   Extraordinary Personnel held on 27 March.  (Pages 162 - 175) 
 

7.   To review the Town Council's Provision of IT and Acceptable Use Policy and 
consider any actions.  (Pages 176 - 190) 
 

8.   To welcome, We Are With You Cornwall to provide an overview of the services 
provided and consider any actions.   
 

9.   To receive the Chairman's report and consider any actions and associated 
expenditure.  (Page 191) 
 

10.   To receive the Monthly Crime Figures and consider any actions.  (Page 192) 
 

11.   To receive a report from Community Enterprises PL12 and consider any actions 
and associated expenditure.   
 

Page 2



 

 

12.   To receive a report from Community Area Partnerships and consider any 
actions and associated expenditure.  (Pages 193 - 199) 
 

13.   To receive a report on behalf of Safer Saltash and consider any actions and 
associated expenditure.   
 

14.   To receive a report from Saltash Chamber of Commerce and consider any 
actions and associated expenditure.  (Page 200) 
 

15.   To receive a report from Cornwall Councillors and consider any actions and 
associated expenditure.   
 

16.   To receive an update on the future of the health care in Saltash and consider 
any actions and associated expenditure.  (Page 201) 
 

17.   To consider Risk Management reports as may be received.   
 

18.   Finance:   
 

 a.   To advise the receipts for February 2025;  (Page 202) 
 

 b.   To advise the payments for February 2025;  (Pages 203 - 207) 
 

 c.   To report urgent and essential works actioned by the Town Clerk under 
Financial Regulations;   
 

 d.   To note that bank reconciliations up to 28 February 2025 were reviewed as 
correct by the Chairman of Policy & Finance Committee and the Town 
Clerk;   
 

 e.   To note that an audit on recent supplier payments was conducted by the 
Chairman of Policy & Finance in line with the Councils Financial 
Regulations. It was noted that there are no discrepancies to report.   
 

19.   To receive an updated report on the Town Council Schedule of Meetings for the 
year 2025-26 and consider any actions.  (Pages 208 - 210) 
(Pursuant to minute number 318/24/25 Full Council meeting held 9 
January 2025) 
 

20.   To receive a report from Saltash Town Team and consider any actions and 
associated expenditure.  (Page 211) 
 

21.   To receive a request from the Saltash & District Branch of the Royal British 
Legion and consider any actions and associated expenditure.  (Page 212) 
 

22.   To note: due to the pre-election period the next Meet your Councillors session is 
scheduled for Saturday 14 June 2025 outside Superdrug, Fore Street.   
 

   
 

Page 3



 

 

23.   Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960:   
To resolve that pursuant to Section 1(2) of the Public Bodies (Admission to 
meetings) Act 1960 the public and press leave the meeting because of the 
confidential nature of the business to be transacted. 

  
24.   To consider any items referred from the main part of the agenda.   
   
25.   Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960:   

To resolve that the public and press be re-admitted to the meeting.  
   
26.   To confirm any press and social media releases associated with any agreed 

actions and expenditure of the meeting.   
 

27.   Date of next meeting: The Annual Meeting of Saltash Town Council to be held 
on Thursday 15 May 2025 at 7:00 p.m.   
 

28.   Common Seal:   
I Move to Order that the Common Seal of the Council be affixed to all Deeds 
and Documents necessary to give effect to the foregoing Acts and Proceedings. 
 

Page 4



5522 

SALTASH TOWN COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the Meeting of the Saltash Town Council held at the Guildhall on 
Thursday 6th March 2025 at 7.00 pm 
 
PRESENT: Councillors: R Bickford, R Bullock (Deputy Chairman), J Dent, 

S Gillies, M Griffiths, S Lennox-Boyd, S Miller, L Mortimore, 
J Peggs (Chairman), B Samuels, P Samuels and B Stoyel. 

 
ALSO PRESENT: 1 Member of the Public, 2 Members of the Press, H Frank 

(Cornwall Council), S Burrows (Town Clerk), D Joyce (Office 
Manager / Assistant to the Town Clerk), B Gordon 
(Communications and Engagement Officer) and F Pretty 
(Development and Engagement Manager). 

 
APOLOGIES: S Martin and D Yates. 

 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 
361/24/25 HEALTH AND SAFETY ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

 
The Chairman welcomed Ben Gordon Communications and 
Engagement Officer in attendance at this evening’s meeting. 
 
The Chairman informed those present of the actions required in the 
event of a fire or emergency. 
 
 

362/24/25 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST: 
 
a. To receive any declarations from Members of any registerable (5A of 

the Code of Conduct) and/or non-registerable (5B) interests in 
matters to be considered at this meeting. 
 
None. 

 
b. The Town Clerk to receive written requests for dispensations prior to 

the start of the meeting for consideration. 
 
None. 

 
 

363/24/25 PUBLIC QUESTIONS - A 15-MINUTE PERIOD WHEN MEMBERS OF 
THE PUBLIC MAY ASK QUESTIONS OF THE TOWN COUNCIL. 
 
None received. 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



5523 

364/24/25 TO RECEIVE AND APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE FULL TOWN 
COUNCIL MEETING HELD ON 6 FEBRUARY 2025 AS A TRUE AND 
CORRECT RECORD. 
 
Please see a copy of the minutes on the STC website or request to see 
a copy at the Guildhall. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor B Samuels, seconded by Councillor Dent 
and RESOLVED that the minutes of the Full Town Council Meeting 
held on 6 February 2025 were confirmed as a true and correct record. 
 
 

365/24/25 TO RECEIVE AND NOTE THE MINUTES OF THE FOLLOWING 
COMMITTEES AND CONSIDER ANY RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
a. Services held on 13 February 2025;  

 
It was RESOLVED to note the minutes and consider the following 
recommendations. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 1: 
 
106/24/25 TO CONSIDER RISK MANAGEMENT REPORTS AS 
MAY BE RECEIVED. 
 
Jubilee Pontoon 
 
4. To RECOMMEND to Full Council to approve a virement of 

£26,450 from General Reserves to budget code 6584 EMF 
Pontoon Maintenance Costs; 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Bickford, seconded by Councillor P 
Samuels and RESOLVED to approve the above recommendation. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 2: 
 
112/24/25 TO RECEIVE A DRAFT CORRECTIONS AND 
ADDITIONS TO SALTASH WAR MEMORIALS POLICY AND 
CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
1. To RECOMMEND to Full Council to be held on 6 March 2025 to 

approve the Corrections and Additions to the Saltash War 
Memorial policy, subject to amendments as attached; 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Bickford, seconded by Councillor 
Dent and RESOLVED to approve the above recommendation. 

 
 
 
 

Page 6



5524 

b. Planning and Licensing held on 18 February 2025;  
 
It was RESOLVED to note the minutes. There were no 
recommendations. 

 
c. Joint Burial Board held on 25 February 2025;  

 
It was RESOLVED to note the minutes. There were no 
recommendations. 

 
d. Personnel held on 27 February 2025. 

 
It was RESOLVED to note the minutes and consider the following 
recommendations. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 1: 
 
84/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT FROM THE COMMUNITY HUB 
TEAM 
LEADER AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 

 
5. To RECOMMEND to Full Council reducing the number of Library 

and Information Assistant posts from 6 to 5 in the Town Council 
staffing structure to commence from 1 April 2025 (as attached); 

 
6. To RECOMMEND to Full Council approving an additional 1 hour 

to the Library Staffing budget code increasing from a weekly total 
of 124 to 125 hours to provide consistency, a less complex rota, 
and improved coverage to commence from 1 April 2025; 

 
7. To RECOMMEND to Full Council approving a change of job title 

from Library and Information Assistants to Community Hub 
Assistants with immediate effect (as attached). 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Peggs, seconded by Councillor 
Stoyel and RESOLVED to approve the above recommendations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



5525 

RECOMMENDATION 2: 
 
86/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT ON ANNUAL STAFF 
PERFORMANCE REVIEWS AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND 
ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
  
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Stoyel and 
resolved to RECOMMEND to Full Council to be held on 6 March 2025 
to approve staff salary increments for those who meet the criteria 
working within budget for the year 2025/26. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Griffiths, seconded by Councillor Miller 
and RESOLVED to approve the above recommendation. 
 
 

366/24/25 TO RECEIVE AND NOTE THE MINUTES OF THE PROPERTY 
MAINTENANCE SUB COMMITTEE HELD ON 20 FEBRUARY 2025 
AND CONSIDER ANY RECOMMENDATIONS. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note the minutes. There were no 
recommendations. 
 
 

367/24/25 TO RECEIVE THE CHAIRMAN'S REPORT AND CONSIDER ANY 
ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

368/24/25 TO RECEIVE THE MONTHLY CRIME FIGURES AND CONSIDER 
ANY ACTIONS. 
 
Members highlighted concern of a trend in increased crime figures 
being reported.  
 
The Chairman reported that following discussions with key 
stakeholders, the figures were more favourable compared to other 
parishes and towns. Members enquired about ways to effectively 
highlight this information. 
 
The Chairman also informed Members that a Community Beat Officer 
would be attending the Meet Your Councillor session on Saturday 8 
March. Additionally, the Chairman informed Members of the 
appointment of a new PCSO, who is set to take up the post in four 
weeks. It was further noted that the police have established a Crime 
Investigation Team. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

Page 8



5526 

369/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT FROM COMMUNITY ENTERPRISES PL12 
AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

370/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT FROM COMMUNITY AREA 
PARTNERSHIPS AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND 
ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
As the meeting took place on Tuesday 4 March, no report was available 
for submission at this evening’s meeting. 
 
 

371/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT ON BEHALF OF SAFER SALTASH AND 
CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
Councillor Lennox-Boyd provided a brief overview of the report included 
in the circulated reports pack, highlighting attendance at the recent 
Safer Saltash meeting with Danny King from Saltash.net. Councillor 
Lennox-Boyd emphasised the valuable insights gained, and the strong 
relationships being developed with local schools. 
 
It was noted that 170 children from Plymouth attend Saltash.net for 
schooling, stressing the importance of collaboration with Plymouth and 
cross-sector communication with local authorities to address ongoing 
issues of anti-social behaviour. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

372/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT FROM SALTASH CHAMBER OF 
COMMERCE AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
As the meeting took place on Monday 3 March, no report was available 
for submission at this evening’s meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



5527 

373/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT FROM CORNWALL COUNCILLORS AND 
CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
Cornwall Councillor Lennox-Boyd advised there was nothing to add to 
the report submitted and received within the circulated reports pack. 
 
Cornwall Councillor Frank provided a brief verbal update on discussions 
with the Monitoring Officer regarding the proposed installation of ANPR 
technology at Belle Vue West Car Park. 
 
Cornwall Councillor Frank informed Members that the proposal to install 
the technology had been challenged; however, the Monitoring Officer 
dismissed the challenge stating that the grounds presented were not 
sufficient to warrant a call-in. 
 
Cornwall Councillor Frank confirmed she had been offered a meeting 
with Neil Edmonds who is the CEO of Corserv and is keen for Saltash 
Town Council and the Chamber of Commerce to be in attendance.  
 
Additionally, Cornwall Councillor Frank highlighted the introduction of 
free bus fares for young people travelling within Cornwall. While 
welcoming the initiative, expressing disappointment that it does not 
extend to students commuting across the bridge to Plymouth for 
schooling. 
 
Cornwall Councillor Worth highlighted the upcoming Joint Committee – 
Tamar Bridge and Crossings meeting scheduled for tomorrow 7 March. 
Cornwall Councillor Worth encouraged Members to connect in online, 
as discussions would cover the Tamar 2050 program, including 
proposals to explore more affordable tolls for local residents and the 
potential for securing Central Government support to eventually remove 
tolls altogether. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

374/24/25 TO RECEIVE AN UPDATE ON THE FUTURE OF THE HEALTH 
CARE IN SALTASH AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND 
ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
Nothing to report. 
 
 

375/24/25 TO CONSIDER RISK MANAGEMENT REPORTS AS MAY BE 
RECEIVED. 
 
Nothing to report. 
 
 
 

Page 10



5528 

376/24/25 FINANCE: 
 
a. To advise the receipts for January 2025; 

 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 

b. To advise the payments for January 2025; 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 

 
c. Urgent and essential works actioned by the Town Clerk under 

Financial Regulations. 
 
Nothing to report. 

 
d. To note that bank reconciliations up to 31 January 2025 were 

reviewed as correct by the Chairman of Policy & Finance Committee 
and the Town Clerk. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 

 
e. To note that an audit on recent supplier payments was conducted by 

the Chairman of Policy & Finance in line with the Council’s Financial 
Regulations. It was noted that there are no discrepancies to report. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



5529 

377/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT ON SUPPORTING POTENTIAL 
CANDIDATES FOR ELECTION AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS 
AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
Members discussed the report circulated in the reports pack.  Members 
also considered the impact on staff capacity and workloads, noting that 
a wealth of information is already available online for those interested in 
standing as a Town Councillor. As a result, Members explored whether 
a signposting approach would be a more effective alternative. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Griffiths, seconded by Councillor Miller 
and RESOLVED: 
 
1. To note the report; 

 
2. To approve an information evening to be held at the Guildhall on 

Thursday 13 March from 6pm to 8pm to support candidates that are 
interested in standing as a Town Councillor; 

 
3. That the Town Clerk together with Councillors Peggs, Miller, Lennox-

Boyd, Bullock and Dent attend the session; 
 
4. To delegate to the Assistant to the Town Clerk to arrange the setup; 
 
5. To promote the information evening via social media and Saturday 8 

March Meet Your Councillor session. 
 
The Town Clerk referred to an email she sent Members about an 
informal Information Day to be held at the Guildhall on Saturday 10 May 
to welcome those who have been elected to stand as a Town Councillor 
for Saltash Town Council, and to run through the Members Induction 
Pack. 
 
Members welcomed this initiative.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



5530 

378/24/25 TO RATIFY SALTASH TOWN COUNCIL RESPONSE TO THE 
PENINSULAR TRANSPORT STRATEGIC IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
CONSULTATION. 
 
Councillor Bickford provided an overview of the Peninsula Transport 
Strategic Implementation Plan Consultation and the Town Council 
response to be ratified at this evening’s meeting. 
 
Councillor Bickford highlighted that Members were given the 
opportunity to provide feedback individually, the consultation form was 
restrictive, allowing only one selection, however, ‘support bus 
improvements’ was included at the end of the survey. As a result, rail 
and bus improvements were identified as the top priorities for Saltash. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Bickford, seconded by Councillor P 
Samuels and RESOLVED to ratify Saltash Town Council’s response 
submitted to the Peninsular Transport Strategic Implementation Plan 
Consultation (as attached). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



5531 

379/24/25 TO RECEIVE AN UPDATE FROM THE SALTASH TUNNEL 
WORKING GROUP AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND 
ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
Members reviewed the report included in the circulated reports pack 
and discussed the challenges posed by the limited communication from 
National Highways regarding the proposed tunnel works. 
 
Members emphasised the importance of working collaboratively with 
National Highways to ensure clear communication about the upcoming 
works, including details on how, when, and where they will take place.  
 
Members expressed a strong desire for all Saltash residents, workers 
and visitors to be fully informed about the upcoming works. Due to the 
current lack of communication, the Town Council conveyed its 
frustration while reiterating its readiness to assist in disseminating the 
necessary information and working in partnership to deliver a strategic 
communication strategy, with the understanding that the costs would be 
covered by National Highways. 
 
Councillor Bickford provided a verbal update on upcoming changes to 
rail timetables, set to take effect in May. These changes are expected 
to benefit Saltash by adding five services from London Paddington, 
although some direct services to Cardiff will be discontinued. 
 
Additionally, Councillor Bickford has been campaigning for extra 
services proposed to be implemented during the tunnel works to be 
made permanent. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Peggs, seconded by Councillor Miller and 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. To delegate to the Development and Engagement Manager to liaise 

with National Highways to work in partnership to deliver a good 
standard of communication regarding the Saltash tunnel works, 
referring to the report; 
 

2. All associated cost to be covered by National Highways not Saltash 
Town Council; 

 
3. Updates to be received at a future Full Town Council meeting.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



5532 

380/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT FROM FRIENDS OF CHURCHTOWN AND 
CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
Members discussed the report received and contained within the 
circulated reports pack expressing a desire to assist in future 
negotiations to ensure the Reserve’s ecological richness is maintained 
for future generations.   
  
It was proposed by Councillor Gillies, seconded by Councillor 
Mortimore and RESOLVED: 
 
1. To create a working group comprising of Councillors Mortimore, 

Stoyel, Bullock, Bickford, Dent, Gillies, in partnership with Friends of 
Churchtown Farm Reserve, Anthony Estate and Cornwall Wildlife 
Trust; 
 

2. To approve free use of Town Council buildings to hold meetings 
when necessary to conclude the negotiations.  

 
 

381/24/25 TO RECEIVE A BT CONSULTATION AND CONSIDER ANY 
ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE.  
 
Members discussed the two BT payphones proposed for removal. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Peggs and seconded by Councillor Dent 
to support the removal of both BT payphones located at the bottom of 
Fore Street and Alamein Road. 
 
The proposal did not carry. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor P Samuels, seconded by Councillor 
Stoyel and RESOLVED that the BT payphone on Alamein Road be 
removed, while requesting the BT payphone at the bottom of Fore 
Street remains due to its central location and potential use in 
exceptional circumstances. 
 
 

382/24/25 MEET YOUR COUNCILLORS: THE NEXT SCHEDULED MEETING 
DATE SATURDAY 8 MARCH 2025 OUTSIDE SUPERDRUG, FORE 
STREET. 
 
The next scheduled meeting date Saturday 8 March 2025 outside 
Bloom Hearing, Fore Street. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Peggs, seconded by Councillor Lennox-
Boyd and RESOLVED for Councillors Lennox-Boyd, Bullock, Peggs 
and Gillies to attend. 
 
 

Page 15



5533 

383/24/25 PUBLIC BODIES (ADMISSION TO MEETINGS) ACT 1960: 
 
To resolve that pursuant to Section 1(2) of the Public Bodies 
(Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 the public and press leave the 
meeting because of the confidential nature of the business to be 
transacted. 
 
 

384/24/25 TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE MAIN PART OF 
THE AGENDA. 
 
None. 
 
 

385/24/25 PUBLIC BODIES (ADMISSION TO MEETINGS) ACT 1960: 
 
To resolve that the public and press be re-admitted to the meeting. 
 
 

386/24/25 TO CONFIRM ANY PRESS AND SOCIAL MEDIA RELEASES 
ASSOCIATED WITH ANY AGREED ACTIONS AND EXPENDITURE 
OF THE MEETING. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Gillies, seconded by Councillor Bullock 
and RESOLVED to issue the following Press and Social Media 
releases: 
 
1. Meet Your Councillor; 

 
2. Information evening – support candidates for election; 
 
3. Peninsula Transport Strategic Implementation Plan. 
 
 

387/24/25 DATE OF NEXT MEETING: 3 APRIL 2025 AT 7:00 P.M. 
 
Thursday 3 April 2025 at 7.00pm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



5534 

388/24/25 COMMON SEAL: 
 
It was RESOLVED to Move to Order that the Common Seal of the 
Council be affixed to all Deeds and Documents necessary to give effect 
to the foregoing Acts and Proceedings. 
 

  
Rising at: 8.23 pm 

 
 

Signed:  

 Chairman 
 

Dated: 
 
 

Page 17



1241 

SALTASH TOWN COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the Meeting of the Policy and Finance Committee held at the 
Guildhall on Tuesday 11th March 2025 at 6.30 pm 
 
PRESENT: Councillors: R Bullock, J Dent, S Gillies, S Martin, S Miller 

(Chairman), J Peggs, B Samuels, P Samuels (Vice-Chairman) 
and B Stoyel. 

 
ALSO PRESENT: 3 Members of the Public, S Burrows (Town Clerk), W Peters 

(Finance Officer / RFO) and M Thomas (Senior Policy and 
Data Compliance Officer) 

 
APOLOGIES: R Bickford, J Brady, M Griffiths, S Lennox-Boyd, L Mortimore 

and D Yates. 
 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 
142/24/25 HEALTH AND SAFETY ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

 
The Chairman informed those present of the actions required in the 
event of a fire or emergency. 
 
 

143/24/25 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST: 
 
a. To receive any declarations from Members of any registerable (5A of 

the Code of Conduct) and/or non-registerable (5B) interests in 
matters to be considered at this meeting. 
 

Councillor Agenda 
Item 

Pecuniary/No
n-Pecuniary 

Reason Left 
Meeting 

B Samuels 19b Non-Pecuniary Belongs to 
group 

applying for 
funding 

Yes 

Bullock 19c Non-Pecuniary Volunteer 
with Tamar 

Trotters 

Yes 

 
b. The Town Clerk to receive written requests for dispensations prior to 

the start of the meeting for consideration. 
 
None. 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1241Page 18

Agenda Item 6a



1242 

144/24/25 PUBLIC QUESTIONS - A 15-MINUTE PERIOD WHEN MEMBERS OF 
THE PUBLIC MAY ASK QUESTIONS OF THE TOWN COUNCIL. 
 
None received. 
 
 

145/24/25 TO RECEIVE AND APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY AND 
FINANCE COMMITTEE HELD ON 14 JANUARY 2025 AS A TRUE 
AND CORRECT RECORD. 
 
Please see a copy of the minutes on the STC website or request to see 
a copy at the Guildhall. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor P 
Samuels and RESOLVED that the minutes of the Policy and Finance 
Committee held on 14 January 2025 were confirmed as a true and 
correct record. 
 
 

146/24/25 TO RECEIVE AND CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING 
RECOMMENDATION FROM THE SERVICES COMMITTEE AND 
CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
113/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT ON CCTV AND CONSIDER ANY 
ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE.  
 

Members reviewed the report and considered suitable locations from 
the proposed sites identified in the report as areas that would benefit 
from CCTV coverage.  
 

Members also discussed the associated cost of procuring the cameras 
and the potential for using S106 funding to cover the cost of the Town 
Centre cameras.  
It was proposed by Councillor Bickford, seconded by Councillor Peggs 
and RESOLVED:  
 

1. To delegate to the Administration Officer to purchase five CCTV 
cameras to cover locations - Top and bottom of Fore Street, Ashtorre 
Rock area, Old Ferry Road and Burraton Cross Traffic lights;  

 

2. To delegate to the Administration Officer to submit an S106 
application for associated capital cost for the cameras located in the 
Town Centre and RECOMMEND to Policy and Finance Committee 
for the remaining cost to be allocated to budget 6270 PF EMF Crime 
Reduction;  

 

3. To delegate to the Administration Officer to appoint Plymouth City 
Council for the monitoring of, reporting and information sharing 
(Service Level Agreement) at a cost of £3,000 per annum allocated 
to budget 6229 SE CCTV Annual Maintenance;   

 
 

Page 1242Page 19



1243 

4. To note there is likely to be additional cost relating to suitability of 
columns, electricity, permissions, additional improvements etc. the 
costs are to be allocated to budget 6229 SE CCTV Annual 
Maintenance working within budget;  

 

5. To comply with all CCTV regulations;  
 

6. To delegate to the Town Clerk on behalf of Saltash Town Council to 
sign the Service Level Agreement between Saltash Town Council 
and Plymouth City Council;  

 

7. To delegate to the Town Clerk to sign the application to join the 
Airwave Sharers List and complete a TEA2 sub-licence to be 
submitted by 1 September 2025 at no cost to the Town Council.  

 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Stoyel and 
RESOLVED to approve the above recommendation subject to the 
Administration Officer further investigating the associated costs of an IP 
connection ensuring best value is achieved with a report to be received 
at a future meeting of the Services Committee.  
 
 

147/24/25 TO RECEIVE A RECOMMENDATION FROM THE TOWN VISION 
SUB COMMITTEE  AND RECEIVE AND REVIEW THE POLICY AND 
FINANCE COMMITTEE'S BUSINESS PLAN DELIVERABLES FOR 
QUARTER FOUR AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND 
ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
The Chairman proposed that agenda item 7 be considered under 
agenda item 8 – minute number 148/24/25. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1243Page 20



1244 

148/24/25 TO RECEIVE AND REVIEW THE POLICY AND FINANCE 
COMMITTEE'S BUSINESS PLAN DELIVERABLES FOR QUARTER 
FOUR AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND EXPENDITURE. 
 
Town Vision Sub Committee held on 23/01/2025  
  
RECOMMENDATION:  
  
To receive the Town Council Business Plan Deliverables for quarter 
three and consider any actions and associated expenditure.   
  
2.  To  RECOMMEND to the Policy and Finance Committee to:  
  

a. Add additional wording under Strategic Priority 5 ‘Actions’ – The 
Town Vision recognises that Saltash Town Council embeds 
climate change decision making across all Committee and 
Sub Committees;  

 
b. Request the Town Clerk increases the score for Strategic Priority 

5 ‘Q3’ from 1 to 3;  
 

c. To enhance the promotion of the Town Council Match Funding 
Play Park Policy, supporting the advancement of the ‘Actions’ 
outlined in Strategic Priority 6;  
 

d.  Request the Town Clerk increases the score for Strategic 
Priority 6 ‘Q3’ from 1 to 3.  

  
It was proposed by Councillor Gillies, seconded by Councillor B 
Samuels and RESOLVED to approve the above recommendations from 
the Town Vision Sub Committee and delegate to the Town Clerk to 
score the Policy and Finance Committee Business Plan Deliverables for 
quarter four. 
 
 

149/24/25 TO NOTE THAT ALL ACCOUNTS AND BANK ACCOUNTS ARE 
RECONCILED UP TO JANUARY 2025. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

150/24/25 TO NOTE THAT PETTY CASH IS RECONCILED UP TO FEBRUARY 
2025. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

151/24/25 TO RECEIVE AND NOTE A REPORT ON VAT. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 

Page 1244Page 21



1245 

152/24/25 TO RECEIVE AND NOTE A REPORT ON INVESTMENTS AND 
CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

153/24/25 TO NOTE THAT AN AUDIT ON RECENT SUPPLIER PAYMENTS 
WAS CONDUCTED BY THE CHAIRMAN OF POLICY & FINANCE IN 
LINE WITH THE COUNCILS FINANCIAL REGULATIONS. THERE 
ARE NO DISCREPANCIES TO REPORT. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

154/24/25 TO RECEIVE THE CURRENT STC COMMITTEE BUDGET 
STATEMENTS AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

155/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT FROM THE FINANCE OFFICER AND 
CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
The Finance Officer briefed Members on the report and the 
recommendation for investing the first instalment of the Precept for 
2025/26 which is due to be received in April. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor B Samuels, seconded by Councillor 
Stoyel and RESOLVED to: 
 
1.  Note the report; 

 
2. Delegate to the Finance Officer to transfer £289,708 to the Barclays 

Active Saver account for short-term future cashflow for April to June 
to be drawn down when required; 

 
3. Delegate to the Finance Officer to invest £500,000 in the Nationwide 

95 Day Notice Deposit account which currently attracts interest of 
3.95%. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1245Page 22



1246 

156/24/25 TO RATIFY THE TOWN COUNCIL FLEET INSURANCE RENEWAL 
AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
The Finance Officer briefed Members on the Town Council Fleet 
Insurance Renewal, noting the decrease in the premium due to the 
revaluing of vehicles and the increased excess which is an industry 
wide increase.. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor P Samuels, seconded by Councillor 
Miller and RESOLVED to ratify the appointment of James Hallam 
Council Guard – fleet insurance for the year 2025-26 at a cost of 
£2,456.80 including applicable taxes and administration fee, allocated 
to budget code 6205 PF Insurance. 
 
 

157/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT ON INSURANCE CLAIMS AND CONSIDER 
ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

158/24/25 TO CONSIDER RISK MANAGEMENT REPORTS AS MAY BE 
RECEIVED. 
 
Nothing to report. 
 
 

159/24/25 TO CONSIDER COMMUNITY CHEST APPLICATIONS: 
 
a. CC282 Saltash United Juniors Football Club.  

 
It was proposed by Councillor B Samuels, seconded by Councillor 
Martin and RESOLVED to award £1,000. 
 
Councillor B Samuels declared an interest in the next agenda item 
and left the meeting. 

 
b. CC283 Sue Hooper Charitable Foundation. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Stoyel, seconded by Councillor Peggs 
and RESOLVED to award £1,000. 
 
Councillor B Samuels was invited and rejoined the meeting. 
 
Councillor Bullock declared an interest in the next agenda item and 
left the meeting.  
 
 
 

Page 1246Page 23



1247 

c. CC284 Tamar Trotters Running Club. 
 

It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Gillies 
and RESOLVED to award £355. 
 
Councillor Bullock was invited and rejoined the meeting.  

 
 

160/24/25 TO CONSIDER FESTIVAL FUND APPLICATIONS: 
 
a. FF127 Saltash Regatta. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor P Samuels, seconded by Councillor 
Stoyel and RESOLVED to award £5,000 in the year 2025-26, subject 
to valid insurance certificates provided prior to the event date. 

 
b. FF128 Saltash May Fair. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Dent, seconded by Councillor P 
Samuels and RESOLVED to award £5,000 in the year 2025-26, 
subject to valid insurance certificates provided prior to the event 
date. 

 
 
 

161/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT ON TOWN COUNCIL GRANT FUNDING 
AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS. 
 
Members considered the report from the Christmas Festival Committee, 
noting the exceptional circumstances around the event due to Storm 
Darragh. Saltash Chamber of Commerce requested permission to 
retain the unspent grant portion of £1,300 awarded by the Town 
Council. It was noted that the Grants Policy requires any unspent grant 
is returned to the Town Council. Members discussed the report and 
were unsure what the grant was spent on and the reason for requesting 
that remaining grant funds are used to cover a shortfall. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Stoyel, seconded by Councillor P 
Samuels and RESOLVED to defer the item until the next Policy and 
Finance Committee meeting and request that the Chamber of 
Commerce review their report to clarify how the grant awarded was 
spent and the reason for requesting the remaining grant is retained.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1247Page 24



1248 

162/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT ON TOWN COUNCIL IT EQUIPMENT AND 
CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
The Town Clerk briefed Members on the background to the report and 
the rationale for moving from desktop PC to laptop provision for 
Officers. The Town Council IT consultant has also recommended this 
move. A number of new laptops will also be required for new Town 
Council Members in May. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor P Samuels, seconded by Councillor Dent 
and RESOLVED to: 
 

1. Approve the purchase of IT equipment and accessories for 
Officers and Members from 1 April 2025 at a cost of £10,938 
allocated to budget code 6370 PF EMF Computer Equipment 
Renewal; 
 

2. To note that Financial Regulations Section 5.12 relates to the 
purchase of IT equipment; 
 

3. To appoint WEEE Recycle to collect and dispose of Town 
Council old IT and electrical equipment free of charge, 
depending on the number of items to be disposed of and to 
allocate the courier charge to budget code 6370 PF EMF 
Computer Equipment Renewal; 
 

4. To note that the disposal meets Strategic Priority 5, Climate 
Change. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1248Page 25



1249 

163/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT ON UPDATING STANDING ORDERS AND 
CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
The Chairman invited Councillor Peggs to brief Members on the 
background to her report regarding the training and civility and respect 
pledge of Members of the new Town Council in May. 
 
The Town Clerk informed Members that the Town Council Standing 
Orders already advise Members to undertake Code of Conduct 
(Standing Order 14.6) and Employment Law training (Standing Order 
5.11).  
 
It was proposed by Councillor Peggs, seconded by Councillor P 
Samuels and resolved to RECOMMEND to Full Council to be held on 3 
April 2025: 
 
1. To note that Standing Orders already cover Code of Conduct and 

Employment Law training; 
 

2. To add the following two additions to the relevant section of Standing 
Orders (as attached): 

 
All Town Councillors sign the Civility and Respect Pledge at the point 
of signing their Declaration of Acceptance of Office to show their 
commitment to the pledge; 
 
All Town Councillors should undertake training in Finance for 
Councillors within 6 months of delivery of their Declaration of 
Acceptance of Office, subject to course availability. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1249Page 26



1250 

164/24/25 TO REVIEW TOWN COUNCIL'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE: 
 
(Please click here to view and download the changes to the Town 
Council policies below.) 
 
Employees: 
 
1. Data Protection - Criminal Records Information Policy;  
2. Data Protection Policy (Employees); 
3. Disability Employment Policy;  
4. Equality and Diversity Policy;  
5. Employee Handbook;  
6. Employee Recognition Scheme;  
7. Protocol for Member Officer Relations;  
8. Recruitment & Selection Policy;  
9. Training and Development Policy. 

 
It was RESOLVED to note the Personnel Committee meeting held on 
27 February 2025 reviewed the Town Council Employee Policies and 
Procedures.  Please refer to minute 76/24/25 for further information. 
 
Finance: 
 
1. Annual Business Continuity Plan; 
2. Annual Internal Audit and Business Risk Assessment; 
3. Annual Reserves Policy; 
4. Annual Statement on Internal Control; 
5. Annual Treasury Management Strategy; 
6. Anti Bribery Policy Statement & Anti Fraud & Corruption Strategy; 
7. Finance Schedule & Precept Plan; 
8. Financial Regulations. 
9. Receipting of Income & Banking Procedures; 
10. Risk Management Plan Statement;  
11. Risk Management Strategy; 
12. Scheme of Delegation; 
13. Local Government Pension Scheme. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Peggs and 
resolved to RECOMMEND to Full Council held on 3 April 2025 the 
Finance policy amendments.  No further amendments were made at the 
meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1250Page 27

https://saltashtc.sharepoint.com/:f:/g/EvsGbvtfXk1LspdMpbvnmKsBejnUtHlEZU8gdi4DdBoFMA
https://saltashtc.sharepoint.com/:f:/g/EvsGbvtfXk1LspdMpbvnmKsBejnUtHlEZU8gdi4DdBoFMA


1251 

General: 
 
1. Acquisition or Sale of Land and Property; 
2. Allotments; 
3. Communications Policy & Strategy; 
4. Complaint Handling and Customer Behaviour Policies; 
5. Data Retention and Disposal Policy; 
6. Events and Hire of Town Council Premises; 
7. FOI Model Publication Scheme 2023; 
8. Freedom of Information Policy; 
9. Grants Policy; 
10. Match Funding Policy; 
11. Planning – A Guide for Councillors; 
12. Public Loudspeaker Policy; 
13. Receiving Public Questions, Representations and Evidence at 

Meetings; 
14. Safeguarding Policy; 
15. Social Media Policy; 
16. Standing Orders; 
17. STC Corporate Guidelines; 
18. Corrections and Additions to Saltash War Memorials Policy; 
19. Noticeboard Policy; 
20. Fundraising Strategy. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note that the Admin Department reviewed policy 
6,7,8,10,16,17,18, 19 above and advised there are no amendments to 
be made at this time. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note that the Policy and Finance Committee 
reviewed throughout the year: 
policy 1 above - refer to minute 74/24/25,  
policy 5 above – refer to minute 135/24/25d,  
policy 9 above – refer to minute 134/24/25 
policy 12 above – refer to minute 74/24/25.   
There are no new updates at this time 
 
It was RESOLVED to note that the Services Committee held on 12.9.24 
reviewed policy 2 above – refer to minute 52/24/25.  There are no new 
updates at this time 
 
It was RESOLVED to note that the Planning and Licensing Committee 
held on 18.02.25 reviewed policy 11 above – refer to minute 122/24/25.  
There are no new updates at this time 
 
It was RESOLVED to note that the Personnel Committee held 12.12.24 
reviewed amendments to policy 14 above – refer to minute 63/24/24 
and agreed a further review was required prior to reporting back at a 
future Personnel Committee meeting. 
 
 

Page 1251Page 28



1252 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Bullock 
and resolved to RECOMMEND to Full Council to be held on 3 April 
2025 the amendments to policy 3,4,13,15 above plus additional 
amendments made at the meeting (as attached). 
 
Health and Safety: 
 
1. Health and Safety Manual: 
2. Emergency Plan 
 
It was RESOLVED to note that the Admin Department reviewed policy 
1 above and advised there are no amendments to be made at this time. 
 
It was RESOLVED to delegate to the Administration Officer to create a 
first draft Community Emergency Plan to be received at June’s Policy 
and Finance meeting for Members consideration and input to bring the 
plan to fruition.   
 
Library: 
 
1. Home Library Service 
2. Library Stock Management Policy 
 
It was RESOLVED to note that the Policy and Finance Committee 
reviewed throughout the year: 
policy 1 – refer to minute 135/24/25b 
policy 2 – refer to minute 135/24/25c 
 
Members: 
 
1. Co-option Policy 
2. Code of Conduct 
 
It was RESOLVED to note that the Policy and Finance Committee 
reviewed throughout the year: 
policy 1 – refer to minute 73/24/25 
policy 2 – refer to minute 135/24/25a 

 
Civic: 
 
1. Awarding the Honorary Freedom of Saltash 
2. Civic Awards 
3. Civic Handbook 
4. Election of Mayor and Deputy Mayor 
 
It was RESOLVED to note that the Admin Department reviewed policy 
1 and 4 above and advised there are no amendments to be made at 
this time. 
 

Page 1252Page 29



1253 

It was resolved to RECOMMEND to Full Council to be held on 3 April 
2025 amendments to policy 2 and 3 above plus additional amendments 
made at the meeting (as attached).  
 
 

165/24/25 TO RECEIVE REPORTS FROM WORKING GROUPS AND OUTSIDE 
BODIES: 
 
a. Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group 

 
Nothing to report. 
 

b. Saltash Team for Youth 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 

c. Section 106 Panel 
 
Nothing to report. 

 
 

166/24/25 PUBLIC BODIES (ADMISSION TO MEETINGS) ACT 1960: 
 
To resolve that pursuant to Section 1(2) of the Public Bodies 
(Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 the public and press leave the 
meeting because of the confidential nature of the business to be 
transacted. 
 
 

167/24/25 TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE MAIN PART OF 
THE AGENDA. 
 
None. 
 
 

168/24/25 PUBLIC BODIES (ADMISSION TO MEETINGS) ACT 1960: 
 
To resolve that the public and press be re-admitted to the meeting. 
 

169/24/25 TO CONFIRM ANY PRESS AND SOCIAL MEDIA RELEASES 
ASSOCIATED WITH ANY AGREED ACTIONS AND EXPENDITURE 
OF THE MEETING. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Bullock, seconded by Councillor B 
Samuels and RESOLVED to issue the following Press and Social 
Media Releases: 
 
1. Community Chest Grant Awards; 

 
2. Festival Fund Awards. 

Page 1253Page 30



1254 

 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Tuesday 10 June 2025 at 6.30 pm 
 
Rising at: 8.47 pm 

 
 

Signed:  

 Chairman 
 

Dated: 
 
 

Page 1254Page 31



1 
DRAFT 03/2025 

 

 

 
 

  

Policy Group: General 

Standing Orders  
RESPONSIBLE COMMITTEE: P&F 

This is a policy/procedure document of Saltash 

Town Council to be followed by both Council 

Members and Employees. 

Page 1255

Minute Item 163/24/25

Page 32



 

2 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Current Document Status 

Version 2024/25 Approved by ATM 

Date 02.05.2024 
Responsible 

Officer 
AJT 

Minute no. 64/24/25c(15) Next review date 
Annual or as 

required 

 

Version History 

Date Version 
Author/ 

editor 

Committee/ 

date 
Minute no. Notes 

05.2022 2022 AJT 
FTC 

05.05.2022 
54/22/23b(xxi) Readopted 

06.2022 06/2022 SB/AJT 
FTC 

09.06.2022 
89/22/23a 

Section 17 p28 

Section 19 p30 

07.2022 07/2022 AJT 
FTC  

04.08.2022 
151/22/23a(c) 

Section 2 f,g,I,l  

Section 2m  

Section 2e,i 

2l deleted (2i 

applies) 

05.2023 2023 AJT 
ATM 

04.05.2023 
65/23/24c(xvi) 

Readopted. 

Contract amount 

updated. 

08.2023 2023 AJT 
P&F 

12.09.2023 
73/23/24c 

Revised 27a(ii) 

Rec to FTC 

09.2023 2023 AJT 
FTC 

05.10.2023 
195/23/24a Approved 

02.2024 
2024-25 

DRAFT 
SB 

P&F 

27.02.2024 
156/23/24c(17) 

Reviewed for 

recommendation to 

FTC 03.2024 

Page 1256Page 33



 

3 
DRAFT 03/2025 

03.2024 2024 SB FTC  

07.03.2024 

367/23/24 Recommendation 

from P&F. 

Approved. 

05.2024 2024 SB ATM 

02.05.2024 

64/24/25c(15) Readopted 

08.2024 2024 WE FTC 

01.08.2024 

143/24/25a Revised FR 

adopted and 

added as 

replacement 

appendix. 

03.2025 2025 

DRAFT 

AJT P&F 

11.03.2025 

 Amendments from 

agenda item 23.  

Section 14 

 

Document Retention Period 

Until superseded 

 

 

  

Page 1257Page 34



 

4 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Introduction 

 

How to use these standing orders: 

 

Standing orders are the written rules of the Town Council.  They are used to confirm 

the Town Council’s internal organisational, administrative and procurement 

procedures and procedural matters for meetings.  They are not the same as the 

policies of the Town Council but they refer to them.  A local council must have 

standing orders for the procurement of contracts. 

 

Meetings of Full Council, Councillors and the Proper Officer and Responsible 

Finance Officer are subject to many statutory requirements.  Therefore, the Town 

Council should have standing orders to confirm those statutory requirements.  The 

Town Council has standing orders to control the number, place, quorum, notice and 

other procedures for committee and sub-committee meetings because these are 

subject to fewer statutory requirements. 

 

Standing orders that are in bold type contain legal and statutory requirements. It is 

recommended that Saltash Town Council adopt them without changing them or their 

meaning. Standing orders not in bold are there to help the Town Council operate 

effectively but do not contain statutory requirements so they have been designed to 

suit the town council’s needs. 

 

The standing orders do not include the Town Council’s Financial Regulations but 

they are attached as Appendix 5.  Financial regulations are standing orders to 

regulate and control the financial affairs and accounting procedures of a local 

council.  The financial regulations, as opposed to the standing orders of a town 

council, include most of the requirements relevant to the Responsible Finance 

Officer. 

 

Standing orders, financial regulations and town council policies are issued to all 

Councillors and these standing orders should be used in conjunction with the 

council’s financial regulations, code of conduct and all policies and procedures duly 

adopted by the Town Council.  

Page 1258Page 35



 

5 
DRAFT 03/2025 

 

Contents 
1. Rules of debate at meetings ............................................................................ 7 

2. Disorderly conduct at meetings ....................................................................... 9 

3. Meetings generally .......................................................................................... 9 

4. Filming and recording meetings ..................................................................... 13 

5.
 

Committees and Sub-Committees............................................................................ 14 

6. Ordinary Meetings (scheduled calendar meetings called by the  Proper 
Officer) ..................................................................................................................... 16 

7. Extraordinary meetings of the Town Council and Committees   and Sub-
Committees .............................................................................................................. 20 

8. Previous resolutions ...................................................................................... 21 

9. Voting on appointments ................................................................................. 21 

10. Motions for a meeting that require written notice to be given to the Proper 
Officer 21 

11. Motions at a meeting that do not require written notice ................................. 22 

12. Management of information (see also standing order 22) ............................. 23 

13. Draft Minutes ................................................................................................. 23 

14. Code of Conduct, and dispensations and training ......................................... 24 

15. Code of Conduct Complaints ......................................................................... 28 

16. Proper Officer ................................................................................................ 29 

17. Responsible Financial Officer ........................................................................ 31 

18. Accounts and Accounting Statement ............................................................. 31 

19. Financial controls and procurement ............................................................... 32 

20. Handling staff matters .................................................................................... 34 

21. Responsibilities to provide information .......................................................... 35 

22. Responsibilities under Data Protection Legislation ........................................ 35 

23. Relations with the press/media ...................................................................... 36 

24. Execution and sealing of legal deeds ............................................................ 36 

25. Communicating with Unitary Authority Councillors ........................................ 36 

26. Restrictions on Councillor Activities ............................................................... 37 

27. Standing Orders Generally ............................................................................ 37 

Page 1259Page 36



 

6 
DRAFT 03/2025 

28. Appendix ....................................................................................................... 38 

1. A Guide to Awarding Dispensations ..................................................................... 39 

2. Code of Conduct for Members ............................................................................. 43 

3. Complaints and Customer Behaviour ................................................................... 57 

 Code of Practice for Handling Complaints ................................................. 58 

 Unreasonable Customer Behaviour and Persistent Complaints Policy ...... 62 

 Zero Tolerance Policy ................................................................................ 79 

4. Receiving public questions, representations and evidence at meetings ........ 80 

5. Finance Regulations ............................................................................................. 85 

6. Scheme of delegation ........................................................................................... 87 

7. Committee Structure ............................................................................................ 94 

8. Terms of Reference Committees and Subcommittees .................................. 96 

 

 

  

Page 1260Page 37



 

7 
DRAFT 03/2025 

1. Rules of debate at meetings  

1.1. Motions on the agenda shall be considered in the order that they appear 

unless the order is changed at the discretion of the Chairman of the meeting. 

1.2. A motion (including an amendment) shall not be progressed unless it has 

been moved and seconded.   

1.3. A motion on the agenda that is not moved by its proposer may be treated by 

the Chairman of the meeting as withdrawn.  

1.4. If a motion (including an amendment) has been seconded, it may be 

withdrawn by the proposer only with the consent of the seconder and the 

meeting.  

1.5. An amendment is a proposal to remove or add words to a motion. It shall not 

negate the motion.   

1.6. If an amendment to the original motion is carried, the original motion (as 

amended) becomes the substantive motion upon which further amendment(s) 

may be moved.  

1.7. An amendment shall not be considered unless early verbal notice of it is 

given at the meeting and, if requested by the Chairman of the meeting, is 

expressed in writing to the Chairman.   

1.8. A Councillor may move an amendment to their own motion if agreed by the 

meeting. If a motion has already been seconded, the amendment shall be with 

the consent of the seconder and the meeting.  

1.9. If there is more than one amendment to an original or substantive motion, the 

amendments shall be moved in the order directed by the Chairman.  

1.10. Subject to standing order 1.11 below, only one amendment shall be moved 

and debated at a time, the order of which shall be directed by the Chairman of 

the meeting.  

1.11. One or more amendments may be discussed together if the Chairman of 

the meeting considers this expedient but each amendment shall be voted upon 

separately.  

1.12. A Councillor may not move more than one amendment to an original or 

substantive motion.   

1.13. The mover of an amendment has no right of reply at the end of debate on it.   

Page 1261Page 38



 

8 
DRAFT 03/2025 

1.14. Where a series of amendments to an original motion are carried, the mover 

of the original motion shall have a right of reply either at the end of debate of 

the first amendment or at the very end of debate on the final substantive 

motion immediately before it is put to the vote.  

1.15. Unless permitted by the Chairman of the meeting, a Councillor may speak 

once in the debate on a motion except:  

1.15.1. to speak on an amendment moved by another Councillor; 

1.15.2. to move or speak on another amendment if the motion has been 

amended since they last spoke;  

1.15.3.  to make a point of order;  

1.15.4. to give a personal explanation; or 

1.15.5. in exercise of a right of reply.  

1.16. During the debate of a motion, a Councillor may interrupt only on a point of 

order or a personal explanation and the Councillor who was interrupted shall 

stop speaking. A Councillor raising a point of order shall identify the standing 

order which they consider has been breached or specify the other irregularity 

in the proceedings of the meeting they are concerned by.   

1.17.  A point of order shall be decided by the Chairman of the meeting and their 

decision shall be final.   

1.18. When a motion is under debate, no other motion shall be moved except:   

1.18.1. to amend the motion; 

1.18.2.  to proceed to the next business 

1.18.3. to adjourn the debate;  

1.18.4. to put the motion to a vote;  

1.18.5. to ask a person to be no longer heard or to leave the meeting;  

1.18.6. to refer a motion to a committee or sub-committee for consideration;  

1.18.7. to exclude the public and press;   

1.18.8. to adjourn the meeting; or   

1.18.9. to suspend particular standing order(s) excepting those which reflect 

mandatory statutory or legal requirements.  

1.19. Before an original or substantive motion is put to the vote, the Chairman of 

the meeting shall be satisfied that the motion has been sufficiently debated and 

Page 1262Page 39



 

9 
DRAFT 03/2025 

that the mover of the motion under debate has exercised or waived their right 

of reply.   

1.20. Excluding motions moved under standing order 1.18 above, the 

contributions or speeches by a Councillor shall relate only to the motion under 

discussion and shall not exceed 3 minutes without the consent of the 

Chairman of the meeting.  

2. Disorderly conduct at meetings  

2.1. No person shall obstruct the transaction of business at a meeting or behave 

offensively or improperly. If this standing order is ignored, the Chairman of the 

meeting shall request such person(s) to moderate or improve their conduct.  

2.2. If person(s) disregard the request of the Chairman of the meeting to moderate 

or improve their conduct, any Councillor or the Chairman of the meeting may 

move that the person be no longer heard or excluded from the meeting. The 

motion, if seconded, shall be put to the vote without discussion.  

2.3. If a resolution made under standing order 2.2 above is ignored, the Chairman 

of the meeting may take further reasonable steps to restore order or to 

progress the meeting. This may include temporarily suspending or closing the 

meeting.  

3. Meetings generally  

3.1. Meetings shall not take place in premises which at the time of the 

meeting are used for the supply of alcohol, unless no other premises are 

available free of charge or at a reasonable cost.   

3.2. The minimum three clear days for notice of a meeting does not include 

the day on which notice was issued, the day of the meeting, a Sunday, a 

day of the Christmas break, a day of the Easter break or of a bank holiday 

or a day appointed for public thanksgiving or mourning.  

3.3. The minimum three clear days’ public notice of a meeting does not 

include the day on which the notice was issued or the day of the meeting. 

3.4. Meetings shall be open to the public unless their presence is prejudicial 

to the public interest by reason of the confidential nature of the business 

to be transacted or for other special reasons. The public’s exclusion from 

Page 1263Page 40



 

10 
DRAFT 03/2025 

part or all of a meeting shall be by a resolution which shall give reasons 

for the public’s exclusion.  

3.5. Members of the public have a legal right to attend decision making meetings 

of the Town Council and its Committees, except where they are excluded for 

specific items which need to be discussed in confidence (e.g. staffing matters 

or tenders for contracts).   

3.6. Questions, representations and evidence must be submitted in writing no 

later than 12 noon the day before the meeting either by email to 

enquiries@saltash.gov.uk or sent to The Guildhall, 12 Lower Fore Street, 

Saltash PL12 6JX. Please provide your full name and address and indicate if 

you will be present at the meeting. 

3.7. A period of fifteen minutes will be designated for public participation in 

accordance with standing order 3.5 above unless directed by the Chairman of 

the meeting and with the approval of Members of the Town Council. 

3.8. Subject to standing order 3.6 above, a member of the public shall not speak 

for more than 3 minutes.  

3.9. At the Chairman’s discretion and with the agreement of the Town Council, a 

member of the public may be invited to speak in regard to the item under 

consideration by the Town Council at that point on the agenda where the 

matter is being discussed. 

3.10. A member of the public that speaks at a meeting shall direct their comments 

to the Chairman of the meeting.  Only one person is permitted to speak at a 

time.  If more than one person wants to speak, the Chairman of the meeting 

shall direct the order of speaking. 

3.11. In accordance with standing order 3.5 and 3.6 above, a question shall not 

require a response at the meeting nor start a debate on the question. The 

Chairman of the meeting may direct that a written or oral response be given.  

3.12. For further clarification regarding public questions at a Town Council 

meeting, please refer to the Receiving Public Questions, Representations and 

Evidence at Meetings procedure. 

Page 1264Page 41



 

11 
DRAFT 03/2025 

3.13. A Councillor who speaks at a meeting shall direct their comments to the 

Chairman of the meeting.  

3.14. Only one Councillor is permitted to speak at a time. If more than one 

Councillor wants to speak, the Chairman of the meeting shall direct the order of 

speaking.  

3.15. The press shall be provided with reasonable facilities for the taking of 

their report of all or part of a meeting at which they are entitled to be 

present. 

3.16. Subject to standing orders which indicate otherwise, anything 

authorised or required to be done by, to or before the Chairman of the 

Town Council may in their absence be done by, to or before the Deputy 

Chairman of the Town Council.  

3.17. The Chairman, if present, shall preside at a meeting. If the Chairman is 

absent from a meeting, the Deputy Chairman, if present, shall preside. If 

both the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman are absent from a meeting, a 

Councillor as chosen by the Councillors present at the meeting shall 

preside at the meeting.  

3.18. Subject to a meeting being quorate, all questions at a meeting shall be 

decided by a majority of the Councillors or Councillors with voting rights 

present and voting.  

3.19.  The Chairman of a meeting may give an original vote on any matter 

put to the vote, and in the case of an equality of votes may exercise their 

casting vote whether or not they gave an original vote. See standing orders 

6.8 and 6.9 below for the different rules that apply in the election of the 

Chairman of the council at the annual meeting of the council. 

3.20. Unless standing orders provide otherwise, voting on a question shall 

be by a show of hands. At the request of a Councillor, the voting on any 

question shall be recorded so as to show whether each Councillor 

present and voting gave their vote for or against that question.  Such a 

request shall be made before moving to the vote and will be taken in 

alphabetical order of those present at the meeting and eligible to vote. 

Page 1265Page 42



 

12 
DRAFT 03/2025 

3.21. The minutes of a meeting shall include an accurate record of the following:  

3.21.1. the time and place of the meeting;  

3.21.2. the names of Councillors present and apologies received; 

3.21.3. interests that have been declared by Councillors and non-Councillors 

with voting rights;  

3.21.4. the grant of dispensations (if any) to Councillors with voting rights; 

3.21.5. whether a Councillor or non-Councillor with voting rights left the meeting 

when matters that they held interests in were being considered;  

3.21.6. if there was a public participation session; and  

3.21.7.  the resolutions made.  

3.22. A Councillor or a Non-Councillor with voting rights who has a 

disclosable pecuniary interest or another interest as set out in the Town 

Council’s Code of Conduct in the matter being considered at a meeting is 

subject to statutory limitations or restrictions under the code on their 

right to participate and vote on that matter. 

3.23. No business may be transacted at a Town Council meeting unless at 

least 7 (seven) members of the Town Council are present.   The Terms of 

Reference for each standing Committee and Sub-Committee will define its 

quorum which in no case be less than three (3).  

3.24. If a meeting is or becomes inquorate no business shall be transacted 

and the meeting shall be closed. The business on the agenda for the meeting 

shall be adjourned to another meeting. 

3.25. If a meeting becomes inquorate due to a member declaring an interest and 

leaving the meeting, that item of business can be moved to a future meeting, to 

allow the meeting to become quorate again and the remainder of the business 

on the agenda to continue. 

3.26. A meeting shall not exceed a period of two and a half hours.   

Page 1266Page 43



 

13 
DRAFT 03/2025 

4. Filming and recording meetings  

4.1. Filming and Recording Town Council meetings 

4.1.1. When a meeting of the Town Council, its Committees or Sub- 

Committees is open to the public, any person, if present, may: 

1. film, photograph or make an audio recording of a meeting;  

2. use any other means for enabling persons not present to see or hear 

proceedings at a meeting as it takes place or later;  

3. report or comment on the proceedings in writing during or after a meeting 

or orally report or comment after the meeting.  

4.1.2. Oral reporting, commentary or broadcasting is not permitted during any 

part of a meeting of the Town Council, its Committees and Sub- Committees.  

4.1.3. An individual must be present and able to use their equipment in order to 

film, photograph or audio record a meeting.  There will be no opportunity to 

report on any part of the meeting where the Town Council has resolved to 

exclude the press and public.  

4.2. Disruptive behaviour  

4.2.1. No filming, photographing or audio recording of a meeting should be 

carried out in such a way as to disrupt the proceedings of the meeting.  

4.2.2. If person(s) disregard the request of the Chairman of the meeting to 

moderate or improve their behaviour whilst filming or recording, any 

Councillor or the Chairman of the meeting may move that the person be 

instructed to cease filming, photographing or audio recording. The motion, if 

seconded, shall be put to the vote without discussion.  

4.2.3. If a resolution under standing order 4.2.2 above is ignored, the Chairman 

of the meeting may take further reasonable steps to restore order or to 

progress the meeting.  This may include temporarily suspending or closing 

the meeting.  

Page 1267Page 44



 

14 
DRAFT 03/2025 

4.2.4. Members of the Town Council recording meetings are reminded of their 

obligations under the Town Council’s Code of Conduct in respect of 

confidential matters.  

5. Committees and Sub-Committees  

5.1. Unless the Town Council determines otherwise, a Committee may 

appoint a Sub-Committee whose terms of reference and members shall 

be determined by the Committee.  

5.2. The members of a Committee may include Non-Councillors unless it is a 

Committee which regulates and controls the finances of the Town 

Council.  

5.3. Unless the Town Council determines otherwise, all the members of an 

advisory Committee and a Sub-Committee of the advisory committee may 

be Non-Councillors.  

5.4. The Town Council has established Terms of Reference for the governance of 

its Committees which are attached as an appendix to these Standing Orders.  

They confirm the membership, voting rights, delegated authority and training 

requirements, and may only be varied by resolution of a meeting of the Policy 

and Finance Committee. 

5.5. The Town Council may appoint Committees as may be necessary, and:  

5.5.1. shall determine their terms of reference including the scheme of 

delegation and the role of Chairman and Vice Chairman as ex officio 

members with or without voting rights; 

5.5.2. shall determine the number and time of the ordinary meetings of a 

standing committee up until the date of the next Annual Meeting of Full 

Council;  

5.5.3. shall permit a committee, other than in respect of the ordinary meetings 

of a committee, to determine the number and time of its meetings;  

5.5.4. shall, subject to standing orders 5.2 and 5.3 above, appoint and 

determine the terms of office of members of such a Committee;  

Page 1268Page 45



 

15 
DRAFT 03/2025 

5.5.5. shall permit a committee to appoint its own Chairman at the first meeting 

of the committee; 

5.5.6.   shall determine the place, notice requirements and quorum for a 

meeting of a committee and a sub-committee which shall be no less than 

three;  

5.5.7. shall determine if the public may participate at a meeting of a committee;  

5.5.8. shall determine if the public and press are permitted to attend the 

meetings of a sub-committee and also the advance public notice 

requirements, if any, required for the meetings of a sub-committee; 

5.5.9.   shall determine if the public may participate at a meeting of a 

subcommittee that they are permitted to attend; and 

5.5.10. may dissolve a committee.  

5.6. Members of the Town Council will be summoned to attend the Policy and 

Finance, Services and Planning and Licensing scheduled Committees of the 

Town Council. 

5.7. Six members of the Town Council will be appointed to the Burial Authority 

Committee. 

5.8. The Chairman of the Town Council, Deputy Chairman, and two Members will 

be appointed to the Joint Burial Board Committee. 

5.9. Six members of the Town Council will be appointed to the Personnel 

Committee and all members of the Committee must be willing to commit to 

undertake employment law training every six months as soon as they are 

elected subject to course availability.  

5.10. Members of the Town Council shall have the right to attend all Committees, 

Sub Committees and Working Parties as non-voting members.  They may sit at 

the table at the discretion of the Committee and may speak at the invitation of 

the Chairman.  

Page 1269Page 46



 

16 
DRAFT 03/2025 

5.11. All Members of the Town Council are advised to undertake employment law 

training every twelve months to maintain an awareness of employment law as 

the Corporate Employer. 

5.12. All members of the Planning and Licensing Committee are to undertake 

Planning training within six months of their appointment subject to course 

availability. 

5.13. All Chairman and Vice Chairman are advised as soon as they are elected to 

undertake relevant chairmanship training every twelve months subject to 

course availability. 

5.14. Where the press and public are excluded from any part of a meeting, 

members of the Town Council not appointed to serve on the committee will also 

be excluded from that part of the meeting.  

6. Ordinary Meetings (scheduled calendar meetings called by the 

 Proper Officer) 

6.1. In an election year, the annual meeting of the Council shall be held on or 

within 14 days following the day on which the Councillors elected take 

office. 

6.2. In a year which is not an election year, the annual meeting of the 

Council shall be held on such day in May as the Council decides. 

6.3. If no other time is fixed, the annual meeting of the Council shall take 

place at 7pm. 

6.4. In addition to the annual meeting of the Council, at least three other 

ordinary meetings shall be held in each year on such dates and times as 

the Council decides. 

6.5. The first business conducted at the annual meeting of the Council shall 

be the election of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman (if there is one) of the 

Council. 

6.6. The Chairman of the Council, unless they have resigned or becomes 

disqualified, shall continue in office and preside at the annual meeting 

until their successor is elected at the next annual meeting of the Council.  

Page 1270Page 47



 

17 
DRAFT 03/2025 

6.7. The Vice-Chairman of the Council, if there is one, unless they resign or 

become disqualified, shall hold office until immediately after the election 

of the Chairman of the Council at the next annual meeting of the Council. 

6.8. In an election year, if the current Chairman of the Council has not been 

re-elected as a member of the Council, they shall preside at the annual 

meeting until a successor Chairman of the Council has been elected. The 

current Chairman of the Council shall not have an original vote in respect 

of the election of the new Chairman of the Council but shall give a casting 

vote in the case of an equality of votes. 

6.9. In an election year, if the current Chairman of the Council has been re-

elected as a member of the Council, they shall preside at the annual 

meeting until a new Chairman of the Council has been elected. They may 

exercise an original vote in respect of the election of the new Chairman of 

the Council and shall give a casting vote in the case of an equality of 

votes. 

6.10. Following the election of the Chairman of the Council and Vice-Chairman (if 

there is one) of the Council at the annual meeting, the business shall include: 

6.10.1. In an election year, delivery by the Chairman of the Council and 

Councillors of their acceptance of office forms unless the Council 

resolves for this to be done at a later date. In a year which is not an 

election year, delivery by the Chairman of the Council of their 

acceptance of office form unless the Council resolves for this to be 

done at a later date; 

6.10.2. To elect a Chairman – recorded vote. (The outgoing Chairman to 

present the Chairman’s Chain to the incoming Chairman.) 

6.10.3. To confirm and note that the Chairman of Saltash Town Council has 

signed their Declaration of Acceptance of Office in the presence of the 

Proper Officer. 

6.10.4. Incoming elected Chairman to present the Past Chairman’s Badge to 

the outgoing Chairman. 

Page 1271Page 48



 

18 
DRAFT 03/2025 

6.10.5. To elect a Vice Chairman – recorded vote. (The Chairman to present the 

Vice Chairman’s Chain to the incoming Vice Chairman.) 

6.10.6. Health and safety announcements.  

6.10.7. Members present and apologies received. 

6.10.8. To receive Declarations of Interests as required by the Code of Conduct 

or by relevant legislation and consider written requests for dispensations.  

6.10.9. To consider Written Questions from Members of the Public (aligned to 

the Receiving Public Questions, Representations and Evidence at Meetings 

procedure). 

6.10.10. To receive and approve as a true and correct record the Minutes of 

Full Council, standing order 13.1 and 13.3.   

6.10.11. To receive and note Minutes of Committees and of Sub-Committees of 

the Council, reporting to Full Council, and consider any recommendations 

therein, standing order 13.1 and 13.3.   

6.10.12. To receive annual reports from the Chairman of the Town Council, 

Cornwall Council, Police, Community Enterprises PL12, Safer Saltash, 

Community Area Partnership, Chamber of Commerce, Healthcare Action 

Group, and representatives of outside partners within the area of Saltash.  

6.10.13. To consider Risk Management reports as may be received. 

6.10.14.  To consider Financial Matters.  

6.10.15. To reaffirm the Council has met the eligibility criteria and is able to 

adopt and exercise the general power of competence in the future.   

6.10.16. To readopt the Town Council Business Plan and Appendices for the 

coming year. 

6.10.17. To readopt the Town Council Portfolios (land and assets). 

6.10.18. To approve and sign the Town Council Health and Safety Statement 

for the coming year. 

Page 1272Page 49



 

19 
DRAFT 03/2025 

6.10.19. To note the Town Council insurance policies in respect of all insurable 

risks. 

6.10.20. Following an election, if applicable, to approve the co-option process 

to fill any vacant seats on the Town Council. 

6.10.21. To readopt the Town Council’s existing policies and procedures for the 

coming year. 

6.10.22. To note that the Planning and Licensing, Policy and Finance, and 

Services Committees remain a composition of sixteen Members.  Members 

will be summoned to the scheduled meetings of this Town Council. 

6.10.23. To appoint Members to the Town Council Committees. (List active 

Committees on the agenda.) 

6.10.24. To appoint members to the Town Council Sub-Committees. (List active 

Sub-Committees on the agenda.) 

6.10.25. To review the Town Council Working Groups and appoint Members 

accordingly. (List active Working Groups on the agenda.) 

6.10.26. To review the outside partnerships and appoint Members accordingly.  

(List active outside partnerships on the agenda.) 

6.10.27. To receive and adopt the Town Council Schedule of Meetings 

Calendar for coming year. 

6.10.28. The Proper Officer to consider other matters placed on the agenda. 

6.10.29. The Proper Officer to consider other matters submitted by motion, 

standing order 10. 

6.10.30. To consider Planning and Licensing matters. 

6.10.31. Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960  

6.10.32.  To resolve that pursuant to Section 1(2) of the Public Bodies 

(Admission to meetings) Act 1960 the public and press leave the meeting 

because of the confidential nature of the business to be transacted. 

6.10.33. To consider any items referred from the main part of the agenda.  

Page 1273Page 50



 

20 
DRAFT 03/2025 

6.10.34.  Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960  

6.10.35.  To resolve that the public and press be re-admitted to the meeting  

6.10.36. To confirm Press and Social Media releases associated with any 

agreed actions and expenditure of the meeting. 

6.10.37. Date of next meeting. 

6.10.38. Common Seal. 

6.11. For those Councillors that enter meetings after its commencement and/or 

leave before the cessation, and/or leave for a part of the meeting then that 

detail shall be recorded in the minutes. 

7. Extraordinary meetings of the Town Council and Committees   

and Sub-Committees  

7.1. The Chairman of the Town Council may convene an extraordinary 

meeting of the Town Council at any time.   

7.2. If the Chairman of the Town Council does not or refuses to call an 

extraordinary meeting of the Town Council within seven days of having 

been requested in writing to do so by two Councillors, any two 

Councillors may convene an extraordinary meeting of the Town Council. 

The public notice giving the time, place and agenda for such a meeting 

must be signed by the two Councillors.  

7.3. The Chairman of a committee or a sub-committee may convene an 

extraordinary meeting of the committee or the sub-committee at any time. 

7.4.  If the Chairman of a committee or a sub-committee does not or refuses to 

call an extraordinary meeting within seven days of having been requested by to 

do so by two members of the committee or the sub-committee, any two 

members of the committee or the subcommittee may convene an extraordinary 

meeting of a committee or a sub-committee.   

 

Page 1274Page 51



 

21 
DRAFT 03/2025 

8. Previous resolutions  

8.1. A resolution shall not be reversed within six months except either by a special 

motion, which requires written notice by at least six (6) Councillors to be given 

to the Proper Officer in accordance with standing order 10 below.  

8.2. When a motion moved pursuant to standing order 8.1 above has been 

disposed of, no similar motion may be moved within a further six months.  

9. Voting on appointments  

9.1.1. Where more than two persons have been nominated for a position to be 

filled by the Town Council and none of those persons has received an 

absolute majority of votes in their favour, the name of the person having the 

least number of votes shall be struck off the list and a fresh vote taken. This 

process shall continue until a majority of votes is given in favour of one 

person.  A tie in votes may be settled by the casting vote of the Chairman of 

the meeting. 

10. Motions for a meeting that require written notice to be given 

to the Proper Officer  

10.1. A motion shall relate to the responsibilities of the meeting to which it is 

tabled and, in any event, shall relate to the performance of the Town Council’s 

statutory functions, powers and obligations or an issue which specifically affects 

the Town Council’s area or its residents.  

10.2. No motion may be moved at a meeting unless it is on the agenda and the 

mover has given written notice of its wording to the Proper Officer at least ten 

(10) clear days before the meeting. Clear days do not include the day of the 

notice or the day of the meeting.  

10.3. The Proper Officer may, before including a motion on the agenda received in 

accordance with standing order 10.2 above, correct obvious grammatical or 

typographical errors in the wording of the motion.  

10.4. If the Proper Officer considers the wording of a motion received in 

accordance with standing order 10.2 above is not clear in meaning, the motion 

shall be rejected until the mover of the motion resubmits it in writing to the 

Page 1275Page 52



 

22 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Proper Officer so that it can be understood at least eight (8) clear days before 

the meeting.  

10.5. If the wording or subject of a proposed motion is considered improper, the 

Proper Officer shall consult with the Chairman of the forthcoming meeting or, as 

the case may be, the relevant Committee meeting or the Councillors who have 

convened the meeting, to consider whether the motion shall be included in the 

agenda or rejected. 

10.6. A written notice of motion shall not relate to any matter which may be 

considered under the Town Council’s Code of Conduct, Complaints Procedure 

or employment policies.  

10.7. Subject to standing order 10.5 above, the decision of the Proper Officer as 

to whether or not to include the motion on the agenda shall be final.   

11. Motions at a meeting that do not require written notice   

11.1. The following motions may be moved at a meeting without written notice to 

the Proper Officer:  

11.1.1. to correct an inaccuracy in the draft minutes of a meeting.  

11.1.2. to move to a vote. 

11.1.3. to defer consideration of a motion. 

11.1.4.  to refer a motion to a particular committee or sub-committee. 

11.1.5. to appoint a person to preside at a meeting.  

11.1.6. to change the order of business on the agenda.  

11.1.7. to proceed to the next business on the agenda.   

11.1.8. to require a written report. 

11.1.9. to appoint a committee or sub-committee and their members.  

11.1.10. to extend the time limits for speaking. 

11.1.11. to exclude the press and public from a meeting in respect of 

confidential or sensitive information which is prejudicial to the public interest. 

Page 1276Page 53



 

23 
DRAFT 03/2025 

11.1.12. to not hear further from a Councillor or a member of the public.  

11.1.13. to exclude a Councillor or member of the public for disorderly conduct.  

11.1.14. to temporarily suspend the meeting.  

11.1.15. to suspend a particular standing order (unless it reflects mandatory 

statutory requirements).  

11.1.16. to adjourn the meeting or  

11.1.17. to close a meeting.   

12. Management of information (see also standing order 22) 

12.1. The Town Council shall have in place and keep under review, technical 

and organisational measures to keep secure information (including 

personal data) which it holds in paper and electronic form. Such 

arrangements shall include deciding who has access to personal data 

and encryption of personal data. 

12.2. The Town Council shall have in place, and keep under review, policy 

for the retention and safe destruction of all information (including 

personal data) which it holds in paper and electronic form. The Town 

Council’s retention policy shall confirm the period for which information 

(including personal data) shall be retained or if this is not possible the 

criteria used to determine that period (e.g. the Limitation Act 1980). 

12.3. The agenda, papers that support the agenda and the minutes of the 

meeting shall not disclose or otherwise undermine confidential 

information or personal data without legal justification. 

12.4. Councillors, staff, the Town Council’s contractors and agents shall not 

disclose confidential information or personal data without legal 

justification 

13. Draft Minutes  

13.1. The Draft Minutes of all Committees shall be reported to Full Council to 

consider any Recommendations and matters arising from them.  If a copy has 

Page 1277Page 54



 

24 
DRAFT 03/2025 

been circulated to each member of the Town Council not later than the date of 

issue of the summons to attend the Meeting, the minutes will be taken as read.  

13.2. Draft Minutes of Sub-Committees will be received and considered by the 

relevant Committee. Working Groups may keep notes but shall not be required 

to keep Minutes except by resolution of the Full Council.  

13.3. There shall be no discussion about the draft minutes of a preceding meeting 

except in relation to their accuracy. A motion to correct an inaccuracy in the 

draft minutes shall be moved in accordance with standing order 11.1.1 above.  

13.4. The accuracy of draft minutes, including any amendment(s) made to them, 

shall be confirmed by resolution and shall be signed by the Chairman of the 

meeting and stand as an accurate record of the meeting to which the minutes 

relate.  

13.5. If the Chairman of the meeting does not consider the draft minutes to be an 

accurate record of the meeting to which they relate, they shall sign the minutes 

and include a paragraph in the following terms or to the same effect: 

‘The Chairman of this meeting does not believe that the minutes of the 

meeting of the (  ) held on [date] in respect of (   ) were a correct record but 

their view was not upheld by the meeting and the minutes are confirmed as 

an accurate record of the proceedings.’ 

13.6. Subject to the publication of draft minutes in accordance with standing order 

13.1 and following a resolution which confirms the accuracy of the minutes of a 

meeting, the draft minutes or recordings of the meeting for which approved 

minutes exist shall be destroyed.  

14. Code of Conduct, and dispensations and training 

(See also standing order 3.21). 

General  

14.1. The Town Council has adopted the Cornwall Code of Conduct for City, 

Community, Parish and Town Councils which will apply to Councillors and 

members of the public co-opted to serve on Committees and sub Committees 

of the Town Council in respect of the entire meeting.  

Commented [MT1]: Updated section from P&F 
11.03.2025 

Page 1278Page 55



 

25 
DRAFT 03/2025 

All interests arising from the Code of Conduct adopted by the Town Council 

will be recorded in the minutes giving the existence and nature of the interest. 

14.2. Councillors must have particular regard to their obligation to record and 

leave the room for matters in which they have an interest as defined by the 

Code of Conduct or by relevant legislation.  

14.3. The Town Council shall maintain for public inspection, a Register of 

Members’ interests that is compliant with the Code of Conduct and with 

relevant legislation. 

Councillors and the Code of Conduct 

14.4. All Councillors and members of the public co-opted to serve on Town 

Council Committees and Sub-Committees shall observe the Code of Conduct 

adopted by the Town Council.  

14.5. All Councillors and members of the public co-opted to serve on Town 

Council Committees and Sub-Committees shall maintain a Register of 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and must update their register by notifying the 

Monitoring Officer and the Proper Officer of any changes within 28 days.  

14.6. All Councillors shall undertake training in the Code of Conduct within six 

months of the delivery of their declaration of acceptance of office.  

14.7. Unless granted a dispensation, a Councillor or non-Councillor with voting 

rights who has registered a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in relation to any 

item of business being transacted at a meeting, shall leave the room whenever 

the item is being discussed, including any part of the meeting where the public 

are entitled to speak.  

14.8. Unless granted a dispensation, a Councillor or non-Councillor with voting 

rights who has registered a non-registerable interest in relation to any item of 

business being transacted at a meeting, shall leave the room whenever the 

item is being discussed, including any part of the meeting where the public are 

entitled to speak.  

 

Page 1279Page 56



 

26 
DRAFT 03/2025 

14.9. Where a non-registerable interest arises from membership of an outside 

body as defined in 3.5A of the Town Council’s Code of Conduct, a Councillor 

may remain in the room to address the meeting, provide a short statement and 

answer questions for no more than three minutes before leaving the room at 

the request of the Chairman.  

14.10. Members must record in a register of interests maintained by the Proper 

Officer any gifts or hospitality that they are offered or received in connection 

with official duties as a councillor and the source of the gift or hospitality that 

could be seen by the public as likely to influence their judgement in these 

matters. 

14.11. A Town Councillor may, for the purposes of their duty as a councillor but 

not otherwise, inspect any document which has been considered by a 

Committee or by the Town Council. The Proper Officer or Solicitor to the Town 

Council may decline to allow inspection of any document which is protected by 

other legislation or in the event of legal proceedings would be protected by 

privilege arising from the relationship of solicitor and client. All Minutes kept for 

any Committee shall be open for the inspection of any member of the Town 

Council during office hours.  

Dispensations 

14.12. The Town Council has adopted the Cornwall Association of Local Councils, 

A Guide To Awarding Dispensations 2012, for the issuing of dispensations 

which is in accordance with the Town Council’s Code of Conduct.  It is attached 

to these Standing Orders as an Appendix One.  

14.13.  The Guide shall apply to all meetings of the Town Council, its Committees 

and Sub-Committees.  

14.14. Dispensation requests shall be in writing and submitted to the Proper 

Officer as soon as possible before the meeting, or failing that, at the start of the 

meeting for which the dispensation is required. 

14.15. A decision as to whether to grant a dispensation shall be made by meeting 

of the Town Council, or Committee or Sub Committee for which the 

dispensation is required that decision is final. 

Page 1280Page 57



 

27 
DRAFT 03/2025 

14.16. A dispensation request shall confirm: 

14.16.1. the description and the nature of the disclosable pecuniary interest of 

other interest to which the request for the dispensation relates; 

14.16.2. whether the dispensation is required to participate at a meeting in a 

discussion only or a discussion and a vote; 

14.16.3. the date of the meeting or the period (not exceeding four years) for 

which the dispensation is sought; and 

14.16.4. an explanation as to why the dispensation is sought. 

14.17. No dispensation will be awarded for any meeting where there are no 

minutes of the proceedings.  

14.18. A dispensation may be granted in accordance with Standing Order 

14.1 above if having regard to all relevant circumstances the following 

applies: 

14.18.1. without the dispensation the number of person prohibited from 

participating in the particular business would be so great a proportion 

of the meeting transacting the business as to impede the transaction of 

the business or 

14.18.2. granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in 

the Town Council’s area or 

14.18.3. it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation 

Civility and Respect Pledge 

14.19. At the time of signing the Declaration of Acceptance of Office Town 

Councillors will be asked to sign the Civility and Respect Pledge to show their 

commitment to the pledge.. 

Training 

14.20. All Town Councillors should undertake training Finance for Councillors 

within 6 months of delivery of their Declaration of Acceptance of Office, subject 

to course availability. Commented [DJ2]: Amendment recommended by P&F 
Committee held on 11.03.25 

Page 1281Page 58



 

28 
DRAFT 03/2025 

15. Code of Conduct Complaints 

15.1. Notification by Cornwall Council Standards Committee of any complaint shall 

remain confidential to the Proper Officer of the Town Council until such time as 

the matter has been concluded, when the outcome of the complaint shall be 

reported to a meeting of full Town Council. 

15.2. Where the notification relates to a complaint made by the Proper Officer, the 

Proper Officer shall notify the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Town 

Council of that fact, who, upon receipt of such notification, shall nominate a 

person to assume the duties of the Proper Officer in relation to the complaint 

and set out in this standing order, and who shall continue to act in respect of 

that matter as such until the complaint is resolved. 

15.3. Where a notification relates to a complaint made by an employee (not being 

the Proper Officer) the Proper Officer shall ensure that the employee in 

question does not deal with any aspect of the complaint.  

15.4. The Town Council may:  

15.4.1. provide information or evidence where such disclosure is necessary to 

progress an investigation of the complaint or is required by law; 

15.4.2. seek information relevant to the complaint from the person or body with 

statutory responsibility for investigation of the matter.  

15.5. References to a notification shall be taken to refer to a communication of 

any kind which relates to a breach or an alleged breach of the Code of Conduct 

by a Councillor.  

15.6. Upon notification by the Monitoring Officer of Cornwall Council that a 

Councillor or Non-Councillor with voting rights has breached the Town 

Council’s Code of Conduct, the Town Council shall consider any 

recommendations and what, if any, action to take against them. Such 

action excludes disqualification or suspension from Office and shall be 

limited to those sanctions recommended by the Monitoring Officer as part 

of the Decision Notice. 

Page 1282Page 59



 

29 
DRAFT 03/2025 

16. Proper Officer 

16.1. The Proper Officer shall be either (i) the Town Clerk or (ii) other staff 

member(s) nominated by the Town Council to undertake the work of the Proper 

Officer when the Proper Officer is absent.  

16.2. The Proper Officer shall put in place arrangements to:  

16.2.1. at least three clear days before a meeting of the Town Council, 

committee or a sub-committee: 

 serve on Councillors a summons, by email, confirming the time, 

place and the agenda provided any such email contains the 

electronic signature and title of the Proper Officer; 

 provide, in a conspicuous place, public notice of the time, place 

and agenda (provided that the public notice with agenda of an 

extraordinary meeting of the Town Council convened by 

Councillors is signed by them); 

See standing order 3.2 above for the meaning of clear days for a meeting of a 

Full Council and standing order 3.3 for the meaning of clear days for a meeting 

of a Committee; 

16.2.2. Subject to standing order 10 above, include on the agenda all motions 

in the order received unless a Councillor has given written notice at least five 

days before the meeting confirming their withdrawal of it; 

16.2.3. convene a meeting of full Town Council for the election of a new 

Chairman of the Town Council, occasioned by a casual vacancy in their 

office; 

16.2.4. facilitate inspection of the minute book by local government 

electors; 

16.2.5. receive and retain copies of byelaws made by other local 

authorities.  

16.2.6. retain acceptance of office forms from Councillors; 

16.2.7. retain a copy of every Councillor’s register of interests;  

Page 1283Page 60



 

30 
DRAFT 03/2025 

16.2.8. prepare and make available all agendas and minutes in line with the 

provisions of these Standing Orders; 

16.2.9. assist with responding to requests made under the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000 and Data Protection Act 2018, in accordance with and 

subject to the Town Council’s policies and procedures relating to the same; 

 

 

16.2.10. liaise, as appropriate, with the Council’s Data Protection Officer; 

16.2.11. receive and send general correspondence and notices on behalf of the 

Town Council except where there is a resolution to the contrary;  

16.2.12. assist in the organisation of, storage of, access to, security of and 

destruction of information held by the Council in paper and electronic form 

subject to the requirements of data protection and freedom of information 

legislation and other legitimate requirements (e.g. the Limitation Act 1980); 

16.2.13. arrange for legal deeds to be executed; (See also standing order 24 

below);  

16.2.14. arrange or manage the prompt authorisation, approval, and instruction 

regarding any payments to be made by the Town Council in accordance with 

the Town Council’s financial regulations; 

16.2.15. refer a planning and or a licensing application received by the Town 

Council to the Chairman of the Town Council or the Chairman of the 

Planning and Licensing Committee within two working days of receipt to 

facilitate an extraordinary meeting if the nature of a planning and or licensing 

application requires consideration before the next ordinary meeting of the 

Town Council or Planning and Licensing Committee; 

16.2.16. manage access to information about the Town Council via the 

publication scheme; and  

16.2.17. retain custody of the seal of the Town Council which shall not be used 

without a resolution to that effect. (See also standing order 24 below).  

Page 1284Page 61



 

31 
DRAFT 03/2025 

17. Responsible Financial Officer   

17.1. The Council shall appoint a Responsible Financial Officer for the proper 

administration of its financial affairs in accordance with Section 151 of the 

Local Government Act 1972. 

18. Accounts and Accounting Statement  

18.1. “Proper practices” in standing orders refer to the most recent version 

of “Governance and Accountability for Local Councils – a Practitioners’ 

Guide”. 

18.2. All payments by the Council shall be authorised, approved and paid in 

accordance with the law, proper practices and the Council’s financial 

regulations.  

18.3. The Responsible Financial Officer shall supply to each Councillor as soon as 

practicable after 30 June, 30 September and 31 December in each year a 

statement to summarise: 

18.3.1. the Council’s receipts and payments (or income and expenditure) for 

each quarter;  

18.3.2. the Council’s aggregate receipts and payments (or income and 

expenditure) for the year to date; 

18.3.3. the balances held at the end of the quarter being reported and which 

includes a comparison with the budget for the financial year and highlights 

any actual or potential overspends. 

18.4. As soon as possible after the financial year end at 31 March, the 

Responsible Financial Officer shall provide: 

18.4.1. each Councillor with a statement summarising the Council’s receipts 

and payments (or income and expenditure) for the last quarter and the year 

to date for information; and  

18.4.2. to the Council the accounting statements for the year in the form of 

Section 2 of the annual governance and accountability return, as required by 

proper practices, for consideration and approval. 

Page 1285Page 62



 

32 
DRAFT 03/2025 

The year-end accounting statements shall be prepared in accordance with 

proper practices and apply the form of accounts determined by the Council 

(receipts and payments, or income and expenditure) for the year to 31 

March. A completed draft annual governance and accountability return shall 

be presented to all Councillors at least 14 days prior to anticipated approval 

by the Council. The annual governance and accountability return of the 

Council, which is subject to external audit, including the annual governance 

statement, shall be presented to the Council for consideration and formal 

approval before 30th June. 

19. Financial controls and procurement 

19.1. The Council shall consider and approve financial regulations drawn up by 

the Responsible Financial Officer, which shall include detailed arrangements in 

respect of the following: 

19.1.1. the keeping of accounting records and systems of internal controls; 

19.1.2. the assessment and management of financial risks faced by the 

Council; 

19.1.3. the work of the independent internal auditor in accordance with proper 

practices and the receipt of regular reports from the internal auditor, which 

shall be required at least annually; 

19.1.4. the inspection and copying by Councillors and local electors of the 

Council’s accounts and/or orders of payments; and 

19.1.5.  whether contracts with an estimated value below £30,000 due to 

special circumstances are exempt from a tendering process or procurement 

exercise.  

19.2. Financial regulations shall be reviewed regularly and at least annually for 

fitness of purpose. 

19.3. A public contract regulated by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 

with an estimated value in excess of £30,000 but less than the relevant 

thresholds referred to in standing order 19.6 is subject to the “light 

touch” arrangements under Regulations 109-114 of the Public Contracts 

Page 1286Page 63



 

33 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Regulations 2015 unless it proposes to use an existing list of approved 

suppliers (framework agreement). 

19.4. Subject to additional requirements in the financial regulations of the Council, 

the tender process for contracts for the supply of goods, materials, services or 

the execution of works shall include, as a minimum, the following steps: 

19.4.1. a specification for the goods, materials, services or the execution of 

works shall be drawn up; 

19.4.2. an invitation to tender shall be drawn up to confirm (i) the Council’s 

specification (ii) the time, date and address for the submission of tenders (iii) 

the date of the Council’s written response to the tender and (iv) the 

prohibition on prospective contractors contacting Councillors or staff to 

encourage or support their tender outside the prescribed process; 

19.4.3. the invitation to tender shall be advertised on Contracts Finder, notice 

boards, social media and in any other manner that is appropriate;  

19.4.4. tenders are to be submitted in writing in a sealed marked envelope or 

by email to tenders@saltash.gov.uk addressed to the Proper Officer;  

19.4.5. tenders shall be opened by the Proper Officer in the presence of at 

least one Councillor after the deadline for submission of tenders has passed;  

19.4.6. tenders are to be reported to and considered by the appropriate 

meeting of the Council or a committee or sub-committee with delegated 

responsibility. 

19.4.7. Details of the successful tender shall be reported and advertised as 

required by law. 

19.5. Neither the Council, nor a committee or a sub-committee with delegated 

responsibility for considering tenders, is bound to accept the lowest value 

tender. 

19.6. Where the value of a contract is likely to exceed the threshold 

specified by the Office of Government Commerce from time to time, the 

Council must consider whether the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or 

the Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016 apply to the contract and, if either 

Page 1287Page 64



 

34 
DRAFT 03/2025 

of those Regulations apply, the Council must comply with procurement 

rules. NALC’s procurement guidance contains further details. 

20. Handling staff matters  

20.1. A matter personal to a member of staff that is being considered by a meeting 

of the Personnel Committee is subject to standing order 12 above.  

20.2. The Council shall engage, and be cognisant of the advice of, its external HR 

consultants. 

20.3. Subject to the Town Council’s policy regarding absences from work, the 

Proper Officer shall notify the Chairman of the Personnel Committee or if they 

are not available, the Vice Chairman of the committee of absence occasioned 

by illness or other reason and that person shall report such absence to 

Personnel Committee at its next meeting if appropriate.  

20.4. The Chairman of the Town Council and Chairman of the Personnel 

Committee shall conduct annual appraisal of the work of Proper Officer.  The 

Proper Officer shall conduct annual appraisal of the work of the Senior 

Management Team. Also, other posts that report directly to the Proper Officer.  

The Senior Management Team shall conduct annual appraisal of the work of 

those members of staff that report to them. 

20.5. Subject to the Town Council’s policy regarding the handling of grievance 

matters, the Proper Officer shall advise the Chairman of the Personnel 

Committee or in their absence, the Vice Chairman of the Personnel Committee, 

in respect of an informal or formal grievance matter, and this matter shall be 

reported back and progressed by resolution of the Personnel Committee.  

20.6. Subject to the Town Council’s policy regarding the handling of grievance 

matters, if an informal or formal grievance matter raised by a member of staff 

and relates to the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Personnel Committee, this 

shall be communicated to another member of the Personnel Committee, which 

shall be reported back and progressed by resolution of the Personnel 

Committee.  

Page 1288Page 65



 

35 
DRAFT 03/2025 

20.7.  Any persons responsible for all or part of the management of staff shall treat 

the written records of all meetings relating to their performance, capabilities, 

grievance or disciplinary matters as confidential and secure.  

20.8. The Town Council shall keep all written records relating to employees 

secure. All paper records shall be secured and locked and electronic records 

shall be password protected and encrypted.  

20.9. Only persons with line management responsibilities shall have access to 

staff records referred to in standing orders 20.7 and 20.8 if so justified. 

20.10. Access and means of access by keys and/or computer passwords to 

records of employment referred to in standing orders 20.7 and 20.8 above shall 

be provided only to the Proper Officer and the Chairman of the Personnel 

Committee on request of the Proper Officer.  

21. Responsibilities to provide information 

(See also standing order 22) 

21.1. In accordance with freedom of information legislation, the Town 

Council shall publish information in accordance with its publication 

scheme and respond to requests for information held by the Council. 

21.2. The Town Council shall publish information in accordance with the 

requirements of the Local Government (Transparency Requirements) 

(England) Regulations 2015. 

22. Responsibilities under Data Protection Legislation 

(See also standing order 12.  This is not an exhaustive list.) 

22.1. The Town Council may appoint a Data Protection Officer. 

22.2. The Town Council shall have policies and procedures in place to 

respond to an individual exercising statutory rights concerning their 

personal data. 

22.3. The Town Council shall have a written policy in place responding to 

and managing a personal data breach. 

Page 1289Page 66



 

36 
DRAFT 03/2025 

22.4. The Town Council shall keep a record of all personal data breaches 

comprising the facts relating to the personal data breach, its effect and 

the remedial action taken. 

22.5. The Town Council shall ensure that information communicated in its 

privacy notice (s) is in an easily accessible and available form and kept 

up-to-date. 

22.6. The Town Council shall maintain a written record of the processing 

activities. 

23. Relations with the press/media  

Requests from the press or other media for an oral or written comment of 

statement from the Town Council, its Councillors or staff shall be handled in 

accordance with the Town Council’s policy in respect of dealing with the press 

and/or other media.  

24. Execution and sealing of legal deeds   

(See also standing order 16.2.13 and 16.2.17 above.) 

24.1. A legal deed shall not be executed on behalf of the Town Council unless 

authorised by a resolution.  

24.2. Subject to standing order 24.1 as above, the Council’s common seal shall 

alone be used for sealing a deed required by law.  It shall be applied by the 

Proper Officer in the presence of a witness.  

25. Communicating with Unitary Authority Councillors  

25.1. An invitation to attend a meeting of the Town Council shall be sent, together 

with the agenda and relevant papers, to the Saltash division Councillors of the 

Cornwall Council with a request that they provide a report. 

25.2. Unless the Town Council determines otherwise, a copy of relevant 

correspondence sent to Cornwall Council shall be sent to the Saltash division 

Councillors representing the area.  

25.3. At the Chairman’s discretion and in addition to 25.1 with the approval of the 

Town Council, a divisional member may be invited to speak during any item on 

the agenda to make a short statement and answer any questions. 

Page 1290Page 67



 

37 
DRAFT 03/2025 

26. Restrictions on Councillor Activities  

26.1. Unless authorised by a resolution, no Councillor shall:  

26.1.1. inspect any land and/or premises which the Town Council has a right or 

duty to inspect; or  

26.1.2. issue orders, instructions or directions, it is unlawful for Members to 

instruct members of staff. All requests for tasks to be undertaken must be 

submitted through the Line Managers; 

26.1.3. issue any order respecting any works which are being carried out by or 

on behalf of the Town Council; 

26.1.4.  incur any expenditure on behalf of the Town Council or issue an 

instruction to incur expenditure. 

27. Standing Orders Generally 

27.1. All or part of a standing order, except one that incorporates mandatory 

statutory or legal requirements, may be suspended by resolution in relation to 

the consideration of an item on the agenda for a meeting. 

27.2. A motion to add to or vary or revoke one or more of the Council’s standing 

orders, except one that incorporates mandatory statutory or legal requirements, 

shall be proposed by a special motion, the written notice by at least five 

Councillors to be given to the Proper Officer in accordance with standing order 

10 above. 

27.3. The Proper Officer shall provide a copy of the Council’s standing orders to a 

Councillor as soon as possible after they have delivered their acceptance of 

office form. 

27.4. The decision of the chairman of a meeting as to the application of standing 

orders at the meeting shall be final. 

 

 

Page 1291Page 68



38 
DRAFT 03/2025 

28. Appendix 

 

1. A Guide to Awarding Dispensations ........................Error! Bookmark not defined. 

2. Code of Conduct for Members ................................Error! Bookmark not defined. 

3. Complaints and Customer Behaviour ......................Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 Code of Practice for Handling Complaints ....Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 Unreasonable Customer Behaviour and Persistent Complaints Policy Error! 
Bookmark not defined. 

 Zero Tolerance Policy ...................................Error! Bookmark not defined. 

4. Receiving public questions, representations and evidence at meetings ......... Error! 
Bookmark not defined. 

5. Finance Regulations ................................................Error! Bookmark not defined. 

6. Scheme of delegation ..............................................Error! Bookmark not defined. 

7. Committee Structure ...............................................Error! Bookmark not defined. 

8. Terms of Reference Committees and Subcommittees .......... Error! Bookmark not 
defined. 

 

 

  

Page 1292Page 69



 

 
39 

DRAFT 03/2025 

1. A Guide to Awarding Dispensations 

 

  CORNWALL ASSOCIATION OF LOCAL 

COUNCILS   

  

UNIT 1/1A, 1 RIVERSIDE HOUSE, HERON WAY, NEWHAM, TRURO, 

CORNWALL, TR1 2XN   
Serving the parish and town councils of Cornwall   

  

A GUIDE TO AWARDING DISPENSATIONS 2012   

  

Introduction  

Parish Councils are now responsible for determining requests for a 

dispensation by a parish councillor under Section 33 of Localism Act 2011. 

This is because they are a  

“relevant authority” under section 27(6) (d) of the Act.  

 

This guide explains:-  

a. the purpose and effect of dispensations  

b. the procedure for requesting dispensations  

c. the criteria which are applied in determining dispensation requests  

d. the terms of dispensations  

  

a. Purpose and effect of Dispensations  

In certain circumstances Councillors may be granted a dispensation which 

enables them to take part in Council business where this would otherwise 

be prohibited because they have a Disclosable or Non Registerable 

Pecuniary Interest.  Provided Councillors act within the terms of their 

dispensation there is deemed to be no breach of the Code of Conduct or the 

law.  

  

Page 1293Page 70



 

 
40 

DRAFT 03/2025 

Section 31(4) of the Localism Act 2011 states that dispensations may allow 

the Councillor:  

  

a. to participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the 

meeting(s); and/or  

b. to participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the 

meeting(s).  

  

 If a dispensation is granted, the Councillor may remain in the room where the 

meeting considering the business is being held and if the dispensation 

allows may also vote.  

  

Please note: If a parish councillor participates in a meeting where they 

have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and they do not have a 

dispensation, they may be committing a criminal offence under s34 

Localism Act 2011.  

  

b. Process for making requests  

Any Councillor who wishes to apply for a dispensation must fully complete a  

Dispensation Request form and submit it to the Proper Officer of the council 

(i.e.. the Clerk) as soon as possible before the meeting at which the 

dispensation is required.    

  

Applications may also be made at the parish council meeting itself (if parish 

councils have a standing item on the agenda to deal with dispensation 

requests) and the nature of the interest has only become apparent to a 

councillor at the meeting itself.  

  

c. Consideration by the Parish Council  

The Parish Council can either delegate to the parish clerk the authority to 

grant dispensations or reserve such decisions for the full parish council.    

  

Page 1294Page 71



 

 
41 

DRAFT 03/2025 

In either case, the decision must be based on one or more of the following 

criteria:   

  

a. so many members of the decision-making body have Non Disclosable or 

Non Registerable Pecuniary Interests that it would impede the 

transaction of the business (i.e. the meeting would be inquorate); or  

b. the authority considers that the dispensation is in the interests of 

persons living in the authority’s area; or  

c. it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.  

The parish clerk or parish council should formally notify the Councillor and 

the Monitoring Officer of its decision and reasons in writing at the earliest 

opportunity and in any event within 5 working days of the decision.  A copy 

of any dispensation should be held with the Member’s Register of Interests.  

  

d. Delegation to the Clerk   

If the parish council decides to delegate this role to the parish clerk then it 

will need to make a formal resolution to this effect, on the lines of:  

  

“RESOLVE that the Council delegates the power to grant dispensations to 

the Clerk. The power rests with the relevant authority under section 33(1) of 

the Localism Act 2011 and the basis is set out under section 33(2).  

  

e. Criteria for Determination of Requests  

In reaching a decision on a request for a dispensation the parish council or 

the parish clerk (as appropriate) will take into account:  

a. the nature of the Councillor’s prejudicial interest  

b. the need to maintain public confidence in the conduct of the 

Council’s business  

c. the possible outcome of the proposed vote  

d. the need for efficient and effective conduct of the Council’s 

business  

e. any other relevant circumstances  

  

Page 1295Page 72



 

 
42 

DRAFT 03/2025 

f. Terms of Dispensations  

 Dispensations may be granted:  

  

− for one or more meetings of the Council; or  

− for a named period not exceeding 4 years (normally the annual meeting 

after the next elections)  

  

g. Disclosure of Decision  

Any Councillor who has been granted a dispensation must declare the 

nature and existence of the dispensation before the commencement of any 

business to which it relates.  

  

A copy of the dispensation will be kept with the Register of Councillors’ 

Interests.   

 CALC © 2012 v2  

Page 1296Page 73



43 
DRAFT 03/2025 

 

2. Code of Conduct for Members 

  

Page 1297Page 74



 

 
44 

DRAFT 03/2025 

Cornwall Council 

Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members of 

Local Councils 

General principles of public life 

The Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to adopt a Code of Conduct for 

Members that is consistent with the following principles: 

Selflessness – Members should serve only the public interest and should never 

improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person. 

Honesty and integrity – Members should not place themselves in situations where 

their honesty and integrity may be questioned.  The public nature of a Member’s role 

means the distinction between acting in your official capacity and your private life 

may become blurred and a Member’s honesty and integrity may therefore be 

questioned. 

As a result, a Member must ensure that, as far as possible, there is clear separation 

between what they do in their private life and in their capacity as a Member.  This is 

especially the case when a Member’s activity in their private life relates to the 

functions of the Council and/or their corporate responsibilities as a Member such that 

a reasonable member of the public may perceive that the conduct comes within the 

scope of this Code of Conduct. 

Objectivity – Members should make decisions on merit, including when making 

appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards or 

benefits. 

Accountability – Members should be accountable to the public for their actions and 

the manner in which they carry out their responsibilities and should co-operate fully 

and honestly with any scrutiny appropriate to their particular office. 

Openness – Members should be as open as possible about their actions and those 

of their authority and should be prepared to give reasons for those actions. 

 

Page 1298Page 75



 

 
45 

DRAFT 03/2025 

Leadership – Members should promote and support these principles by leadership 

and, by example, and should act in a way that secures or preserves public 

confidence. 

Cornwall Council also expects its Members to observe the following principles: 

Duty to uphold the law – Members should uphold the law and, on all occasions, act 

in accordance with the trust that the public is entitled to place in them. 

Personal judgement – Members may take account of the views of others, including 

their political groups, but should reach their own conclusions on the issues before 

them and act in accordance with those conclusions. 

Respect for others – Members should promote equality by not discriminating 

unlawfully against any person, and by treating people with respect, regardless of 

their race, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability. They should respect 

the impartiality and integrity of the authority’s statutory officers and its other 

employees. 

Stewardship – Members should do whatever they are able to do to ensure that their 

authorities use their resources prudently, and in accordance with the law. 

Whilst these overriding principles are not formally part of the Code of Conduct, they 

underpin the purpose and provisions of the Code of Conduct and are principles in 

accordance with which Members should conduct themselves. 

Page 1299Page 76



 

 
46 

DRAFT 03/2025 

Introduction and Interpretation 

1. This Code of Conduct has been adopted by Cornwall Council to support its 

duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members of the 

Council as required by the Localism Act 2011.  The Standards Committee 

assumes ownership of the Code on behalf of the Council and also monitors 

the operation of the Code in conjunction with the Monitoring Officer. 

2. In this Code: 

“disclosable pecuniary interest” means an interest described in Part 5A of 

this Code and which is an interest of a Member or an interest of (i) that 

Member’s spouse or civil partner; (ii) a person with whom that Member is 

living as husband or wife; or (iii) a person with whom that Member is living as 

if they were civil partners, and that Member is aware that that other person 

has the interest as found on page 11 of this Code 

“dispensation” means a dispensation granted by the Standards Committee of 

the Council or other appropriate person or body which relieves a Member 

from one or more of the restrictions set out in sub-paragraphs 3(5)(i), 3(5)(ii) 

and 3(5)(iii) of Part 3 of this Code to the extent specified in the dispensation 

“interest” means any disclosable pecuniary interest or any disclosable non-

registerable interest where the context permits 

“meeting” means any meeting of the Council, the Cabinet and any of the 

Council’s or the Cabinet’s committees, sub-committees, joint committees, joint 

sub-committees, area committees or working groups 

“Member” includes an Elected Member and a Co-opted Member 

“non-registerable interest” mean an interest as defined in Part 5B of this 

Code as found on page 13 of this Code 

“register” means the register of disclosable pecuniary interests maintained by 

the Monitoring Officer of the Council 

“sensitive interest” means an interest that a Member has (whether or not a 

disclosable pecuniary interest) in relation to which the Member and the 

Page 1300Page 77



 

 
47 

DRAFT 03/2025 

Monitoring Officer consider that disclosure of the details of that interest could 

lead to the Member, or a person connected with the Member, being subject to 

violence or intimidation 

“trade union” means a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union 

and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 

3. This Code is arranged as follows: 

Part 1 Application of the Code of Conduct 

Part 2 General obligations 

Part 3 Registering and declaring interests 

Part 4 Sensitive interests 

Part 5A Pecuniary interests 

Part 5B Non-registerable interests. 

Part 1 – Application of the Code of Conduct 

1.1 This Code applies to you as a Member of the Council. 

1.2. This Code should be read together with the preceding general principles of 

public life. 

1.3. It is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code. 

1.4 Subject to paragraphs 1.5 and 1.6 of this Code, you must comply with this 

Code whenever you: 

(a) conduct the business of the Council, which in this Code includes the 

business of the office to which you have been elected or appointed; or 

(b) act, hold yourself out as acting or conduct yourself in such a way that a 

third party could reasonably conclude that you are acting as a 

representative of the Council or use knowledge you could only have 

obtained in your role as a representative of the Council 

and references to your official capacity are construed accordingly. 

1.5 Where you act as a representative of the Council: 

(a) on another authority which has a Code of Conduct, you must, when 

acting for that other authority, comply with that other authority’s Code 

Page 1301Page 78



 

 
48 

DRAFT 03/2025 

of Conduct; or 

(b) on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, comply 

with this Code of Conduct, except and insofar as it conflicts with any 

lawful obligations to which that other body may be subject. 

1.6 Where you are also a member of an authority other than the Council you must 

make sure that you comply with the relevant Code of Conduct depending on 

which role you are acting in.  Your conduct may be subject to more than one 

Code of Conduct depending on the circumstances.  Advice can be sought 

from the Monitoring Officer or one of his team. 

Part 2 – General obligations 

2.1 You must treat others with respect. 

2.2 You must not treat others in a way that amounts to or which may reasonably 

be construed as unlawfully discriminating against them. 

2.3 You must not bully or harass any person. 

2.4 You must not intimidate or attempt to intimidate others. 

2.5 You must not conduct yourself in a manner which is contrary to the Council’s 

duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members. 

2.6 You must not accept any gifts or hospitality that could be seen by the public as likely 

to influence your judgement and you are responsible for declaring all gifts and 

hospitality received over the value of £50 from a single source in one year, either in 

the form of a single gift or as a cumulative total.  You also must register any gifts or 

gifts or hospitality over £50 within 28 days of receiving either the gift or hospitality.   

2.7 You must not do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the 

impartiality of those who work for or on behalf of the Council. 

2.8 You must not disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 

information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be 

aware, is of a confidential nature, except where – 

(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

(ii) you are required by law to do so; 

(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 

professional advice provided that the third party agrees in writing not to 

disclose the information to any other person before the information is 

provided to them; or 

Page 1302Page 79



 

 
49 

DRAFT 03/2025 

(iv) the disclosure is – 

(a) reasonable and in the public interest; and 

(b) made in good faith; and 

(c) in compliance with the reasonable requirements of the authority, 

which requirements must be demonstrable by reference to an 

adopted policy, procedure or similar document of the Council or 

evidenced by advice provided by the Monitoring Officer or his 

nominee. 

2.9 You must not prevent or attempt to prevent another person from gaining 

access to information to which that person is entitled by law. 

2.10 You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be 

regarded as bringing your office or the Council into disrepute. 

2.11 You must not use or attempt to use your position as a Member of the Council 

improperly to confer on or to secure for yourself or any other person an 

advantage or disadvantage. 

2.12 You must when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the 

Council: 

(i) have the prior formal permission of the Council; 

(ii)  act in accordance with the reasonable requirements of the Council;  

(iii) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political 

purposes (including party political purposes); and 

(iv) have regard to any statutory or other requirements relating to local 

authority publicity. 

2.13 You must not authorise the use of the Council’s resources by yourself or any 

other person other than by your participation in a formal decision made at a 

meeting and in accordance with the Council’s standing orders or other 

procedural rules. 

2.14 You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory 

requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed by the 

Council. 

2.15 When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any relevant 

advice provided to you by the Council’s Proper Officer, RFO or Monitoring 

Officer. 

Page 1303Page 80



 

 
50 

DRAFT 03/2025 

2.16  You must comply with the requirements of the Monitoring Officer in assisting 

with any assessment or investigation relating to an alleged breach of the Code 

of Conduct and comply with any sanction that is imposed upon you for 

breaching the Code of Conduct. 

2.17   You must complete Code of Conduct training within 6 months of taking office 

and then must attend refresher training every 2 years if practicable or as 

required by the Monitoring Officer.  This training can be held virtually. 

 

Part 3 – Registering and declaring interests and withdrawal from meetings 

3.1 The provisions of this Part of this Code are subject to the provisions of Part 4 

of this Code relating to sensitive interests. 

3.2 Within 28 days of becoming a Member you must notify the Council’s 

Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest that you have and 

your membership of any trade union(s) at the time of giving the notification. 

3.3 Where you become a Member as a result of re-election or your co-option 

being renewed you need only comply with paragraph 3.2 of this Code to the 

extent that your disclosable pecuniary interests and your trade union 

membership(s) are not already entered on the register at the time the 

notification is given. 

3.4 You are not required to notify non-registerable interests to the Monitoring 

Officer for inclusion in the register. 

3.5 If you are present at a meeting and you are aware that you have a non-

registerable interest, a disclosable pecuniary interest or an interest by virtue of 

any trade union membership in any matter being considered or to be 

considered at the meeting you must disclose that interest to the meeting if that 

interest is not already entered in the register and, unless you have the benefit 

of a current and relevant dispensation in relation to that matter, you must: 

(i) not participate, or participate further, in any discussions of the matter at 

the meeting; 

(ii) not participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the 

meeting; and 

(iii) remove yourself from the meeting while any discussion or vote takes 

Page 1304Page 81



 

 
51 

DRAFT 03/2025 

place on the matter, to the extent that you are required to absent 

yourself in accordance with the Council’s standing orders or other 

relevant procedural rules. 

3.5A   Where a Member has a non-registerable interest in a matter to which 

paragraph 3.5 relates that does not benefit from a valid dispensation and that 

interest arises only from the Member’s participation in or membership of a 

body whose objects or purposes are charitable, philanthropic or otherwise for 

the benefit of the community or a section of the community the Member may 

with the permission of the Chairman of the meeting or until such time as the 

Chairman directs the Member to stop, address the meeting to provide such 

information as they reasonably consider might inform the debate and decision 

to be made before complying with paragraphs 3.5(i), (ii) and (iii). 

3.6 If a disclosable pecuniary interest or any membership of a trade union to 

which paragraph 3.5 relates is not entered in the register and has not already 

been notified to the Monitoring Officer at the time of the disclosure you must 

notify the Monitoring Officer of that interest within 28 days of the disclosure 

being made at the meeting. 

3.7 Where you are able to discharge a function of the Council acting alone and 

you are aware that you have a non-registerable interest, a disclosable 

pecuniary interest or an interest by virtue of any trade union membership(s) in 

a matter being dealt with, or to be dealt with, by you in the course of 

discharging that function you must : 

(i) not take any steps, or any further steps, in relation to the matter 

(except for the purpose of enabling the matter to be dealt with 

otherwise than by you); and 

(ii) if the interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or membership of a 

trade union, notify the Monitoring Officer of that interest within 28 days 

of becoming aware of the interest if the interest is not entered in the 

register and has not already been notified to the Monitoring Officer. 

3.8 Within 28 days of becoming aware of any new disclosable pecuniary interest 

or trade union membership, or change to any disclosable pecuniary interest or 

trade union membership already registered or notified to the Monitoring 

Officer, you must notify that new interest or the change in the interest to the 

Page 1305Page 82



 

 
52 

DRAFT 03/2025 

Monitoring Officer. 

 

3.9 All notifications of disclosable pecuniary interests and trade union 

membership to the Monitoring Officer, excepting those made verbally at 

meetings, must be made in writing. 

3.10 You must notify the proper officer of your Council in writing of the detail of all 

disclosable pecuniary interests that are notified or confirmed to the Monitoring 

Officer. 

Part 4 – Sensitive interests 

4.1 Members must notify the Monitoring Officer of the details of sensitive interests 

but the details of such interests shall not be included in any published version 

of the register. 

4.2 The requirement in paragraph 3(5) of Part 3 of this Code to disclose interests 

to meetings shall in relation to sensitive interests be limited to declaring the 

existence of an interest and the detail of the interest need not be declared. 

  

Page 1306Page 83



 

 
53 

DRAFT 03/2025 

Part 5A – Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

In this Part of the Code the expressions in the middle column have the meanings 

attributed to them in the right hand column 

(a)(i) “body in which the 

relevant person 

has a beneficial 

interest” 

means a firm in which the relevant person is a 

partner or a body corporate of which the 

relevant person is a director or in the securities 

of which the relevant person has a beneficial 

interest 

(a)(ii) “director” includes a member of the committee of 

management of an industrial and provident 

society 

(a)(iii) “land” includes an easement, servitude, interest, or 

right over land which does not carry with it a 

right for the relevant person (alone or jointly 

with another) to occupy the land or to receive 

income 

(a)(iv) “relevant authority” means the authority of which you are a 

member 

(a)(v) “relevant person” means you, your spouse or civil partner, a 

person with whom you are living with as 

husband and wife or a person with whom you 

are living with as if you are civil partners 

(a)(vi) “securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, 

loan stock, bonds, units of a collective 

investment scheme within the meaning of the 

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and 

other securities of any description, other than 

money deposited with a building society 

 

 

Page 1307Page 84



 

 
54 

DRAFT 03/2025 

The following table sets out the disclosable pecuniary interests that have been 

prescribed by the Secretary of State for the purposes of the Code of Conduct and 

the Localism Act, 2011. 

Interest Description 

(b)(i) Employment, 

office, trade, 

profession or 

vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or 

vocation carried on for profit or gain 

(b)(ii) Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial 

benefit (other than from the relevant authority) 

made or provided within the relevant period in 

respect of any expenses incurred by you in 

carrying out your duties as a member, or 

towards the election expenses of you.  This 

includes any payment or financial benefit from 

a trade union(as defined above) 

(b)(iii) Contracts Any contract which is made between the 

relevant person (or a body which in which the 

relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 

the relevant authority under which goods and 

services are to be provided or works are to be 

executed and which has not been fully 

discharged 

(b)(iv) Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within 

the area of the relevant authority 

(b)(v) Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 

occupy land in the area of the relevant authority 

for a month or longer 

(b)(vi) Corporate 

tenancies 

Any tenancy where, to your knowledge, the 

landlord is the relevant authority and the tenant 

Page 1308Page 85



 

 
55 

DRAFT 03/2025 

is a body in which the relevant person has a 

beneficial interest 

(b)(vii) Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of any body 

where that body, to your knowledge, has a 

place of business or land in the area of the 

relevant authority and either the total nominal 

value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 

hundredth of the total of the issued share 

capital of that body, or if the share capital of 

that body is of more than one class the total 

nominal value of the shares in any one class in 

which the relevant person has a beneficial 

interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 

issued share capital of that class 

 

Part 5B – Non-registerable interests 

You have a non-registerable interest where a decision in relation to a matter being 

determined or to be determined: 

(i) might reasonably be regarded as affecting the financial position or wellbeing 

of you; a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close 

association; or anybody or group which you are a member of more than it 

might affect the majority of council tax payers, rate payers or inhabitants in 

your electoral division or area; and 

(ii) the interest is such that a reasonable person with knowledge of all the 

relevant facts would consider your interest so significant that it is likely to 

prejudice your judgement of the public interest; 

save that business relating to the following functions will not give rise to non-

registerable interests: 

(iii) school meals or school transport and travelling expenses, where you are a 

parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or are a parent governor of 

a school, unless it relates particularly to the school which the child attends;  

Page 1309Page 86



 

 
56 

DRAFT 03/2025 

(iv) statutory sick pay under, where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the 

receipt of, such pay;  

(v) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members;  

(vi) any ceremonial honour given to Members; and  

(vii) setting of the council tax 

and for the avoidance of doubt the above exceptions to the definition of non-

registerable interests do not negate the requirements arising from having a 

disclosable pecuniary interest.

Page 1310Page 87



57 
DRAFT 03/2025 

 

3. Complaints and Customer Behaviour 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1311Page 88



 

 
58 

DRAFT 03/2025 

 Code of Practice for Handling Complaints 
 

1. Introduction 

Saltash Town Council is committed to providing a quality service for the benefit of 

the people who live or work in its area or are visitors to the locality.  If you are 

dissatisfied with the standard of service you have received from this Town Council, 

or are unhappy about an action or lack of action by this Town Council, this 

Complaints Procedure sets out how you may complain to the Town Council and how 

we will try to resolve your complaint. 

2. Scope 

This complaints procedure applies to complaints from Saltash Town Councillors, 

Cornwall Councillors, residents and the general public about the Town Council 

administration and procedures and may include complaints about how the Town 

Council employees have dealt with your concerns.   

 

This procedure does NOT apply to: 

2.1. Complaints by one Town Council employee against another Town Council 

employee, or between a Town Council employee and the Town Council as 

the Corporate Employer.  These matters are dealt with by the Town Clerk 

and or the HR advisers.  

2.2. Complaints against Councillors are covered by the Code of Conduct for 

Members.  Town Councillors signed up to the Code of Conduct on taking 

office which adheres to the principles of public life.  It is beyond the Town 

Council’s legal powers to investigate complaints against any of its Members. 

Further information on the process of dealing with complaints against Councillors 

may be obtained from the Monitoring Officer at Cornwall Council: 

 

Mr S Mansell 

Cornwall Council 

Treyew Road 

TRURO 

Cornwall 

simon.mansell@cornwall.gov.uk  

Page 1312Page 89



 

 
59 

DRAFT 03/2025 

3. Complaints Procedure 

(see section 4 for contact addresses and numbers) 

 

3.1. Town Council Procedures and or administration 

If your complaint is about the Town Council procedures and or administration, 

please submit your complaint in person, by phone, or by writing to or emailing 

the Town Clerk.   

 

Wherever possible, the Town Clerk will try to resolve your complaint 

immediately. If this is not possible, the Town Clerk will normally try to 

acknowledge your complaint within 10 working days subject to annual leave. 

 

Depending on the type of complaint received the Town Clerk may delegate your 

complaint to a member of the Town Council Management Team to try to resolve 

the matter immediately, in line with the Code of Practice for Handling 

Complaints.   

 

If you do not wish to report your complaint to the Town Clerk, you can make 

your complaint directly to the Chairman of the Town Council who, with a 

Member of the Town Council (as appropriate to the complaint), will try to resolve 

your complaint within 10 working days.  

  

If this is not possible, the Chairman of the Town Council together with the 

appointed Member will report it to the Town Council or appropriate Town 

Council Committee, subject to the complaint acting in accordance with the legal 

powers of the Town Council – Town Clerk to advice accordingly.  

 

The Town Clerk or the Chairman of the Town Council with a member of the 

Town Council (as appropriate to the complaint) will investigate the complaint, 

obtaining further information as necessary from you and or from Town Council 

employees, Councillors of the Town Council or any other relevant person(s). 

 

Page 1313Page 90



 

 
60 

DRAFT 03/2025 

The Town Clerk or the Chairman of the Town Council will notify you within 20 

working days of the outcome of your complaint and of what actions (if any) the 

Town Council proposes to take as a result of your complaint.  In exceptional 

cases, the 20 working days timescale may have to be extended.  If it is, you will 

be kept informed. 

 

If you are dissatisfied with the response to your complaint, you may ask for your 

complaint to be referred to the Town Council.  You will be notified in writing of 

the final decision of the review of your original complaint. 

 

3.2  Town Council Employees 

This section of the policy applies to everyone except a Town Council employee. 

 

If you have a complaint about a Town Council employee, please submit your 

complaint in person, by phone, or by writing to or emailing the Town Clerk.   

 

Wherever possible, the Town Clerk will try to resolve your complaint 

immediately.  The Town Clerk may contact the HR advisers for guidance. 

 

Due to the nature of the complaint under employment law and GDPR, the Town 

Clerk will notify you, where possible, of the outcome of your complaint. 

 

3.3  The Town Clerk/Responsible Finance Officer (RFO) 

This section of the policy applies to everyone except a Town Council employee. 

 

If you have a complaint about the Town Clerk/RFO, please submit your 

complaint in person, by phone, or by writing to or emailing the Chairman of the 

Town Council.   

 

Wherever possible, the Chairman of the Town Council will try to resolve your 

complaint immediately.  The Chairman of the Town Council will seek advice 

from the HR advisers for guidance. 

 

Page 1314Page 91



 

 
61 

DRAFT 03/2025 

Due to the nature of the complaint under employment law and GDPR, the 

Chairman will notify you, where possible, of the outcome of your complaint. 

 

3.4. Timeframe 

All complaints might take longer due to a number of reasons i.e. annual leave, 

sickness absence, work commitments etc therefore the targets including 

‘immediately’ are targets subject to availability at the time of receiving your 

complaint.   

 

Complaints that relate to Health and Safety matters will be escalated. 

4. Contact Details 

 

Town Clerk 

Saltash Town Council 

The Guildhall 

12 Lower Fore Street 

Saltash 

PL12 6JX 

 

Telephone: 01752 844846 option 5 

 

Email: sinead.burrows@saltash.gov.uk 

 

 

Chairman of the Town Council 

 

Same address and contact number as above. 

 

Email the mayorssecretary@saltash.gov.uk to request the Chairman’s direct email 

address or visit www.saltash.gov.uk/mayoral.php

Page 1315Page 92



62 
DRAFT 03/2025 

 Unreasonable Customer Behaviour and Persistent 
Complaints Policy 

 

1. Purpose of the policy  

The aim of this policy is to help customers and staff to understand how Saltash Town 

Council manages unreasonably persistent and unreasonable behaviour by 

customers. It gives clear guidance as to the definition of unreasonable behaviour and 

explains what actions staff should take when presented with such behaviour or 

unreasonable requests. This Policy has been based on guidance issued by the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman and the Information Commissioner’s 

Office (ICO) and relates to unreasonably persistent written and verbal 

communication with the Town Council. This policy is not a replacement for the Zero 

Tolerance Policy. 

2. Summary  

Dealing with correspondence from customers, a complaint or information requests is 

usually a straightforward process. However, in a minority of cases, people pursue 

correspondence in a way that can impede the investigation of their complaint or can 

have significant resource implications for the Town Council. This policy has been 

formulated to deal with the small number of customers who make it necessary for 

special arrangements to be made. It should be noted that there are differences 

between Freedom of Information (FOI) and non-FOI related cases although the 

general principles below apply to both instances.  

FOI references also apply to Environmental Information Regulation (EIR) requests 

which may relate to the environment, land or property. These will be dealt with under 

the guidance issued by the ICO.  

Requests for personal information may fall under the UK General Data Protection 

Regulation (UK GDPR). These will be dealt with under guidance issued by the ICO. 

We aim to deal with any correspondence or complaints in a way that is open, fair and 

transparent. Complaints and requests for information will be dealt with impartially 

and proportionately.  We have developed this policy so that people who complain 

Page 1316Page 93



 

 
63 

DRAFT 03/2025 

and the staff who manage those complaints understand what to do if people start to 

behave unreasonably.  

IT SHOULD BE NOTED – This policy only deals with the conduct of the customer, 

not the substance of the complaint or concerns raised. The adopted procedures 

relating to the processing of complaints should be followed regardless of whether 

this policy is engaged, unless it is considered there are reasons for not doing so. If 

this is the case the customer should be advised of this at the earliest opportunity and 

if appropriate provided with an alternative route where possible to remedy their 

complaint to remedy their complaint where possible.  

3. Background  

We do not normally limit the contact people have with us. Whether they are 

complaining, making a request for service, an information request or seeking help 

and guidance, we are committed to dealing with all requests fairly and impartially and 

to providing a high quality of service. We are keen to resolve any dispute and/or 

complaint as early as possible.  

Occasionally, the behaviour of some customers can make it very difficult for us to 

deal with their concerns. In a small number of cases the actions of some customers 

become unacceptable because they involve abuse of processes, or violence and 

aggression to staff or other people, including Town Councillors. When this happens, 

we have a responsibility to our staff and Councillors to take appropriate steps to limit 

the customers contact with the Town Council. On other occasions we have to 

consider whether a customer’s actions are having an impact on our ability to do our 

work and to provide a service to others. Such actions can occur while either the 

complaint is being investigated, or once we have completed the investigation. 

We understand that people sometimes feel frustrated about matters, but we will not 

tolerate behaviour which we deem to be unacceptable, threatening, abusive or 

unreasonably persistent towards staff or Councillors or imposes such a burden on 

the Town Council that is an unreasonable drain on our resources.  

4. Scope  

We define unreasonably persistent and unreasonable customers (referred to as 

Vexatious or Manifestly Unreasonable under FOI/EIR) and Manifestly Unfounded 

Page 1317Page 94



 

 
64 

DRAFT 03/2025 

under UK GDPR, as those customers, who because of the frequency or nature of 

their contacts with us hinder our consideration of their or other people’s issues or 

complaints.  

These are generally covered under two key areas: 

 customers who feel that the Town Council has not dealt with their issue, 

complaint or information request properly and are not prepared to leave it 

there; and  

 customers who may have a justified dispute, complaint, information request or 

grievance, but these are either being pursued in inappropriate ways, or 

customers may be intent on pursuing the issue which appears to have no 

substance, or which may have already been investigated and determined. 

Their contacts with the Town Council may be amicable but still place very 

heavy demands on employee time, or they may be very emotionally charged 

and distressing for all involved.  

Sometimes a situation between the Town Council and a customer can escalate and 

the behaviour moves from being unreasonable and unreasonably persistent to 

behaviour which is totally unacceptable.  

Any decision resulting from the implication of the policy normally applies to the 

nature of the dispute, complaint or subject matter and not to the customer 

themselves. However, it is very likely that the customer’s previous behaviour will 

have some bearing on how to proceed with unrelated future correspondence or 

contact with the Town Council, particularly where there has been an element of 

extreme behaviour or verbal abuse. 

5. Unreasonable Complainant Conduct 

We will not tolerate racist, sexist, homophobic or other discriminatory language, or 

offensive, threatening, aggressive or violent behaviour towards our staff or 

Councillors.  

If you use such language or behaviour, we will ask you to stop doing so in order to 

protect the wellbeing of our staff or Councillors. In exceptional circumstances we 

Page 1318Page 95



 

 
65 

DRAFT 03/2025 

may immediately restrict your access to our services without prior warning. We will 

then write to you and explain the action we have taken. 

If your use of language is because of a medical condition, we will discuss with you 

any reasonable adjustments we need to make to how we work with you. However, 

some language and behaviour is always unacceptable and we will always draw your 

attention to this and take appropriate action.  

Where your behaviour is so extreme that it threatens the immediate safety and 

welfare of our staff we may report the matter to the police or consider taking legal 

action. In such cases, we may not give you prior warning. 

6. Examples of unreasonable behaviour/actions? 

The following is a list of some actions and behaviours which may be deemed as 

unreasonable, unreasonably persistent, (or vexatious/manifestly unreasonable under 

FOI/EIR). This list is by no means exhaustive and is designed to give an indication of 

the type of behaviour that is considered to be unreasonably persistent. For further 

advice, please contact the Town Clerk. 

 Refusing to specify the grounds of a dispute and/or complaint, despite offers 

of assistance from Town Council employees;  

 Refusing to co-operate with the complaints investigation process (Complaint 

Handling Procedure) while still wishing their complaint to be resolved;  

 Refusing to accept that certain issues are not within the scope of the Town 

Council’s complaints procedure despite having been provided with information 

about the scope of the Complaint Handling Procedure; 

 Insisting on the dispute and/or complaint being dealt with in ways which are 

incompatible with the Town Council’s adopted complaints procedure 

(Complaint Handling Procedure) or with good practice;  

 Making unjustified complaints about employees who are trying to deal with the 

issues, and seeking to have them replaced or harbouring personal grudges;  

 Changing the basis of the complaint as the investigation proceeds;  

 Denying or changing statements made at an earlier stage;  

Page 1319Page 96



 

 
66 

DRAFT 03/2025 

 Introducing trivial or irrelevant new information at a later stage;  

 Raising numerous, detailed and unimportant questions and insisting they are 

all fully answered;  

 Covertly recording meetings and conversations without the prior knowledge 

and consent of other persons involved;  

 Submitting falsified documents from themselves or others;  

 Adopting a ‘scattergun’ approach: pursuing parallel disputes and/or 

complaint(s) on the same issue with a variety of officers, Members,  

departments or services;  

 Making unnecessarily excessive demands on the time and resources of 

employees whilst a dispute and/or complaint is being looked into. Making 

excessive telephone calls or sending emails to numerous Town Council 

officers or Members, writing lengthy complex letters every few days and 

expecting an immediate response;  

 Submitting repeat complaints or information requests (after the 

complaints/FOI process has been completed) essentially about the same 

issue(s), with minor additions/variations which the customer insists make 

these a ‘new’ dispute and/or complaint;  

 Being abusive or using aggressive language;  

 Rejecting attempts by the Town Council to assist and advise and showing no 

willingness to engage with Town Council officers;  

 Explicitly stating that it is their intention to cause disruption to the Town 

Council;  

 Refusing to accept the decision; repeatedly arguing points with no new 

evidence;  

 Using other family members, associates or membership of a group or body to 

attempt to re-open a complaint already pursued by a complainant or to try to 

further requests or complaints already pursued  ; or  

Page 1320Page 97



 

 
67 

DRAFT 03/2025 

 Frequently using public questions at a meeting of the Town Council or a 

Committee to pursue a complaint or information request(s): 

 Combinations of some or all of the above or other actions that are judged to 

be unreasonable.  

The following sections set out the procedures in relation to non-FOI and FOI cases  

For non-FOI related cases (sections 7 – 10)  

The following sections cover non-FOI related issues such as complaints or wider 

Town Council contact/disputes. 

7. What actions can be taken to stop or limit the behaviour?  

The actions we take will depend upon the nature and extent of the behaviour(s). Any 

action taken should be appropriate and proportionate to the nature and frequency of 

the customer’s contacts with the Town Council. If their persistence adversely affects 

the Town Council’s ability to do its work, is disproportionately resource intensive 

and/or adversely affects the Town Council’s ability to provide a service to another, 

the Town Council may need to address their behaviour.  

When an officer reports a customer demonstrating unreasonable behaviour, the 

Town Clerk, in conjunction with the Chairman and Vice- Chairman of the Policy and 

Finance Committee and taking advice from the Monitoring Officer, will review the 

case within seven working days. A letter may be sent to the customer explaining that 

their conduct is becoming a concern. The letter will request that the behaviour 

exhibited is moderated and will suggest, where appropriate, who the customer 

should contact within the Town Council over their concerns. The letter will also 

advise what further actions may be taken if the request is ignored and a copy of this 

policy included. The customer will be asked to acknowledge the letter within seven 

working days. 

Where the customer acknowledges the initial warning letter, the Town Clerk or their 

nominated representative will monitor the situation to ensure the behaviour has been 

moderated. 

If the customer does not acknowledge the letter within seven working days there are 

two further stages which must be followed for a customer to be made unreasonably 

Page 1321Page 98



 

 
68 

DRAFT 03/2025 

persistent or their unreasonable behaviour recognised as such. The Town Council 

may choose to appoint an external body to act on their behalf to provide this service. 

Stage One (Formal prior warning)  

If customer ignores the initial letter and is deemed to be unreasonably persistent or 

demonstrating unreasonable behaviour, the Town Clerk or their nominated 

representative will issue a formal prior warning letter, including the following points:  

 An explanation of why the customer’s behaviour is deemed unacceptable;  

 An offer of a meeting, if deemed appropriate by the Town Council, with an 

officer from the Town Council or their nominated representative to try and 

resolve the dispute / complaint / issue and explain to the customer why their 

behaviour is unacceptable;  

 Advising of a single point of contact for any further correspondence;  

 A statement of future intent to apply restrictive action to the customer’s 

contact should their behaviour continue;  

 Referencing and including a copy of the Unreasonable Customer Behaviour 

and Persistent Complaints policy.  

Any arrangements for limiting a customer’s contact must take account of the 

customer’s individual circumstances however, such actions may include blocking a 

customer’s email address denying the customer the ability to email the Town 

Council, officers and Members and/or refusing to take telephone calls from the 

customer. 

Should such action be necessary the customer’s name will be added to the Town 

Councils register as having been sent a formal prior warning letter and a report will 

be submitted to the next available meeting of the Policy and Finance Committee or 

the next Full Town Council meeting if earlier and the Town Clerk feels the matter is 

of sufficient urgency. In either case the report will be received in confidential part two 

of the meeting. 

  

Page 1322Page 99



 

 
69 

DRAFT 03/2025 

Stage Two (Full implementation of the policy)  

 Full implementation of the policy will be undertaken by the Town Clerk, or 

their nominated representative, in liaison with the Policy and Finance 

Committee;  

 Before the policy can be fully implemented, the Town Clerk, or their 

nominated representative, must be satisfied that the customer is behaving in 

an unreasonable or persistent manner (as per the policy), that the complaint / 

issue / dispute has been dealt with properly and in accordance with the 

Complaint Handling Procedure and stage 1, a formal prior warning letter has 

been sent to the customer as outlined above;  

 Once satisfied, the Town Clerk, or their nominated representative will take a 

report (factual and unbiased) to the Policy and Finance Committee detailing a 

history of the dispute / complaint, the reasons why the customer’s behaviour 

is felt to be unreasonable or persistently unreasonable, a log of contact with 

the customer (to include dates, times and nature of contact) and any other 

related information which is of relevance. The role of the Policy and Finance 

Committee is to consider if the customers contact with the Town Council is 

unreasonably persistent, it will not examine the complaint overall.  

 Once completed, the report and recommendations from the Policy and 

Finance Committee will be passed to the Town Clerk who will check the report 

prior to it being submitted to the next available meeting of the Town Council 

for consideration;  

 If the Town Council takes the decision to make the customer unreasonably 

persistent and apply restricted access, the Town Clerk or their nominated 

representative will write to the customer with a copy of the Unreasonable 

Customer Behaviour and Persistent Complaints Policy explaining: 

o why the decision has been taken; 

o what it means for their contacts with the Town Council; 

o how long any restrictions will last; and  

o what the customer can do to have the decision reviewed. 

Page 1323Page 100



 

 
70 

DRAFT 03/2025 

 Should a customer who has been declared unreasonably persistent raise new 

issues or complaints, these will be reviewed on their own merits and 

consideration given to any restrictions on the customer which have previously 

been applied before the new issues are processed.  

 The customer will be added to the Town Council’s register as being declared 

by the Town Council as a persistent complainant, also ensuring relevant 

officers/Councillors are made aware.  

8. What happens if a customer continues to contact the Town Council?  

The Town Council will appoint a named officer or representative to deal with and 

review any future correspondence or contact from the customer. When reviewing 

any future correspondence, the officer should consider whether this relates to an 

existing issue or whether it is a new concern.  

Where a customer continues to contact us about an existing issue to which this 

policy has been applied but provides no further new evidence to support their 

complaint, no further action will be taken on the issue. A letter will be sent to the 

complainant advising of this and then no further correspondence will be entered into.  

If a customer raises a new complaint or provides further new evidence to support 

their existing complaint, the Town Clerk or their nominated representative will make 

a decision as to how this will be dealt with and whether any existing restrictions (as 

per this policy) are still appropriate;  

If a customer’s behaviour becomes abusive or threatening, we may take the decision 

to inform the police.  

Customers should not seek to circumvent this policy by asking someone else who is 

connected to them, such as a family member, someone of close association, 

advocate, or simply to submit the same or identical complaints on their behalf. 

Should we consider that someone is acting in place of or with a declared 

unreasonably persistent complainant, the customer who has submitted the duplicate 

complaint will be treated in the same manner.  

Should a customer seek to circumvent this policy by contacting their local MP or 

Town Councillor whilst we will engage with the MP or Town Councillor, we will ask 

Page 1324Page 101



 

 
71 

DRAFT 03/2025 

that they assist us in maintaining the customer’s status, subject to their own 

investigations into the matter.  

Further, should a customer to whom the Policy has been applied, continue to email, 

write in or telephone, officers and Members have the right to not reply or respond to 

this communication without this being considered as a breach of the Code of 

Conduct for Members.  

9. How does the Town Council review the decision?  

Where restrictions (in line with this policy) have been applied to a customer, they will 

normally be in place for twelve months but will be subject to a review at six months 

by the Town Clerk or their nominated representative, reporting to the next available 

Policy and Finance Committee meeting The customer will be advised of the review 

and outcome in writing.  

At the end of the designated period of restrictions (normally twelve months), the 

Town Clerk or their nominated representative will review the case, reporting to the 

Policy and Finance Committee. 

Where the review finds no grounds for continuing restrictions these should be lifted 

and relationships restored to normal.  

Where it is recommended that restrictions are to continue beyond twelve months, 

the report should be evidence based and with good grounds for the extension. The 

report will be submitted to the next available meeting of the Town Council to approve 

and reappoint representatives to act for the Town Council in this case. 

The Town Clerk (or their nominated representative) will write to the customer to 

advise them of the outcome of the review by the Policy and Finance Committee. 

Where any restrictions are to continue, the customer will be notified of this alongside 

an explanation of why and when the next review is scheduled to take place (normally 

six months).  

10. Confidentiality, legal requirements and non-compliance  

 All personal data provided to the Town Council will be processed in 

accordance with UK GDPR and the Data Protection Act 2018;  

Page 1325Page 102



 

 
72 

DRAFT 03/2025 

For FOI/EIR related cases (sections 12-18)  

The following sections cover FOI cases where it is deemed that a request is 

Vexatious under Section 14(1) of the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) or 

Manifestly Unreasonable under regulation 12(4) b of the Environmental Information 

Regulations (EIRs).  

Section 14(1) of the FOIA: The Town Council does not have to deal with requests 

that are vexatious under this section. This applies only to the request and not the 

requestor so there should be a careful assessment before a request is classified as 

vexatious. The Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) may be able to provide 

guidance and has set out indicators that may identify vexatious requests: 

 Abusive or aggressive language is used; 

 The requests are placing an undue burden on the Town Council; 

 The requests form part of a personal grudge; 

 The requests are unreasonably persistent; 

 The requestor is intransigent; 

 The requests are frequent and/or overlapping on the same issue; 

 The requests are designed to cause annoyance; 

 The requests require a disproportionate effort to fulfil; 

 The requestor is using the information request route to pursue other 

complaints or grievances against the Town Council. 

The application of s.14 (1) should be considered where it is believed that the request 

is disproportionate or unjustified. 

11. What actions can be taken to stop or limit the behaviour?  

Where it becomes apparent that the nature of a request or string of requests is 

potentially making a request vexatious or manifestly unreasonable, consideration 

should be given to warning the requestor that if they are to submit any further 

requests on the same issue, it is likely that these requests will be deemed as 

vexatious under FOI or manifestly unreasonable under EIR. There should be an 

Page 1326Page 103



 

 
73 

DRAFT 03/2025 

attempt to work with the requester whilst taking account of the facts of the matter and 

any relevant history.  

12. What happens if a customer continues to contact the Town Council?  

If a further request is received on the same or similar subject matter under FOI/EIR 

then a decision will be taken by the Town Clerk in conjunction with the responsible 

officer that the request is vexatious/manifestly unreasonable and the requestor will 

be informed of the decision, along with the reasons for the decision being taken. 

Only the request itself can be considered vexatious and not the individual who 

submitted it. Therefore, any further requests from the same requestor should be 

treated and assessed independently. 

Where necessary, further advice should be sought from CALC or the Monitoring 

Officer, Cornwall Council. 

Where the time (or cost) of dealing with the request is the main issue, consideration 

will be given to applying Section 12 of the FOIA or Regulation 12(4) (d) under the 

EIR where the time/cost of dealing with a request is unreasonable and consideration 

given to asking the requestor to narrow down or reduce the scope of the request to 

bring it within an appropriate time frame (18 hours under the FOIA).  

Where appropriate, consideration should be given as to whether the wider 

Unreasonable Customer Behaviour Policy should also be invoked in addition to 

making a request vexatious/manifestly unreasonable.  

The requestor will then be added to the Town Council’s register of customers who 

have been made vexatious as defined by this Policy, also ensuring relevant 

officers/Members are made aware.  

Customers should not seek to circumvent this policy by asking someone else who is 

connected to them, such as a family member, someone of close association, MP, 

Local Member or advocate, or simply to submit the same or identical complaints on 

their behalf. Should we consider that someone is acting in place of or with a declared 

unreasonably persistent complainant, the customer who has submitted the duplicate 

complaint will be treated in the same manner.  

 

Page 1327Page 104



 

 
74 

DRAFT 03/2025 

13. What can a customer do to challenge the Town Council’s decision?  

If a requestor is unhappy with the decision to make their request 

vexatious/manifestly unreasonable, they have the right to ask the Town Council to 

carry out an Internal Review. The case will then be considered by an independent 

senior officer who will review the case and notify the requestor of the decision. If 

following the Internal Review, the requestor is still unhappy, they have the right to 

contact the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) who will then decide on the 

evidence supplied, whether to investigate the case.  

14. How does the Town Council review the decision?  

Where a request has been made vexatious or manifestly unreasonable, no further 

requests to similar matters raised will be considered within a 12-month timeframe. 

Any new request will be reviewed within this timeframe and a decision will be taken 

as to whether this is a new request (and dealt with as a fresh request) or falls within 

the subject matter made vexatious/manifestly unreasonable. 

15. Dealing with requests that are manifestly unfounded or excessive 

A request for personal information made as a Subject Access Request (SAR) under 

UK GDPR can be refused if it is considered manifestly unfounded or excessive. 

The ICO guidance says that a request may be manifestly unfounded if: 

 the individual clearly has no intention to exercise their right of access. For 

example an individual makes a request, but then offers to withdraw it in return 

for some form of benefit from the organisation; or 

 the request is malicious in intent and is being used to harass an organisation 

with no real purposes other than to cause disruption.  

For example: 

 the individual has explicitly stated, in the request itself or in other 

communications, that they intend to cause disruption; 

 the request makes unsubstantiated accusations against you or specific 

employees; 

Page 1328Page 105



 

 
75 

DRAFT 03/2025 

 the individual is targeting a particular employee against whom they have 

some personal grudge; or 

 the individual systematically sends different requests to you as part of a 

campaign, e.g. once a week, with the intention of causing disruption. 

NOTE: You must consider a request in the context in which it is made, and you are 

responsible for demonstrating that it is manifestly unfounded. 

In addition, you should not presume that a request is manifestly unfounded because 

the individual has previously submitted requests which have been manifestly 

unfounded or excessive or if it includes aggressive or abusive language. 

The inclusion of the word “manifestly” means there must be an obvious or clear 

quality to it being unfounded. You should consider the specific situation and whether 

the individual genuinely wants to exercise their rights. If this is the case, it is unlikely 

that the request will be manifestly unfounded. 

16. What does excessive mean? 

A request may be excessive if: 

 it repeats the substance of previous requests and a reasonable interval 

has not elapsed; or 

 it overlaps with other requests. 

However, it depends on the particular circumstances. It will not necessarily be 

excessive just because the individual: 

 requested a large amount of information, even if you might find the request 

burdensome. Instead you should consider asking them for more 

information to help you locate what they want to receive, please see 'Can 

we clarify the request?’ 

 wanted to receive a further copy of information they have requested 

previously. In this situation a controller can charge a reasonable fee for the 

administrative costs of providing this information again and it is unlikely 

that this would be an excessive request; 

Page 1329Page 106



 

 
76 

DRAFT 03/2025 

 made an overlapping request relating to a completely separate set of 

information; or 

 previously submitted requests which have been manifestly unfounded or 

excessive. 

When deciding whether a reasonable interval has elapsed you should consider: 

 the nature of the data – this could include whether it is particularly 

sensitive; 

 the purposes of the processing – these could include whether the 

processing is likely to cause detriment (harm) to the requester if disclosed; 

and 

 how often the data is altered – if information is unlikely to have changed 

between requests, you may decide you do not need to respond to the 

same request twice. However, if you have deleted information since the 

last request you should inform the individual of this.  

17. Refusal to comply with a request 

Where the Town Council is refusing to comply with a request, you must inform the 

individual without undue delay and within one month of receipt of the request of:  

 the reasons you are not taking action; 

 their right to make a complaint to the ICO or another supervisory authority; 

and 

 their ability to seek to enforce this right through a judicial remedy. 

You should also provide this information if you request a reasonable fee or need 

additional information to identify the individual 

18. Record Keeping 

The Town Clerk will keep adequate records of the details of the case and action 

taken. The register will also include cases where an initial warning letter has been 

sent.  

Records will be kept of: 

Page 1330Page 107



 

 
77 

DRAFT 03/2025 

 The name and address of each member of the public who has been identified 

as unreasonably persistent, vexatious or abusive and any other person who 

aids the complainant; 

 When the restrictions came into force and end 

 What the restrictions are 

 When the person was advised and copies of correspondence 

 Copies of all correspondence with appointed external representatives  

 Dates of and copies of all reports to Town Council Committees. 

Adequate records should also be kept to show: 

 When a decision is taken not to apply the policy when an officer has asked for 

this to be done, or 

 When a  decision is taken to make an exception to the policy once it has been 

applied, or 

 When a decision taken not to put a further complaint from this customer 

through the complaints procedure for any reason, and 

 When a decision is taken not to respond to further correspondence, make 

sure any further letters or emails from the customer are checked to pick up 

any significant new information. 

 

 

Page 1331Page 108



78 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Summary of procedure 

 

Non-information related 
requests 

Officer reports evidence based 
unreasonable/unreasonably persistent 
behaviour to Town Clerk or nominated 
representative

Town Clerk or nominated representative 
investigates within seven working days, 
reviewing case against the Unreasonable 
Persistent Complaints Policy and taking 
advice form Monitoring Officer

Where unreasonable behaviour is 
identified Town Clerk with Chair of P&F to 
agree to issue inital warning letter

If letter acknowledged monitor situation 

Initial warning letter ignored:

Stage One - Formal Prior Warning letter 
issued and report to next P&F or FTC. 
Customer added to register as having 
received FPW. Full report to P&F or FTC

Continued unreasonable behaviour : 

Stage Two full implementation of policy 

After six months:

Case review and report to P&F. Customer 
advised of outcome in writing.

After 12 months:

Case review and report to P&F. Restrictions 
will either be lifted or continued with a further 
review in six months.  Customer advised of 
outcome in writing.

Information request 
cases 

(FOI/EIR/UKGDPR)

FOI Officer reports evidence based 
vexatious/manifestly unreasonable 
requests to Town Clerk or nominated 
representative

Town Clerk or nominated 
representative investigates, 
reviewing case against the 
Unreasonable Persistent Complaints 
Policy and ICO guidance

Where request found 
vexatious/manifestly unreasonable: 
advise requester in writing 

Report to next P&F

If further requests report to Town 
Clerk or nominated representative 
who may consider invoking the 
Unreasonable Persistent Complaints 
policy

Page 1332Page 109



 

 
79 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

 Zero Tolerance Policy 
 

Saltash Town Council has introduced a zero tolerance initiative to address the issue 

of violence, aggression and unacceptable behaviour directed towards Town Council 

employees/councillors.  Violence and aggression is inappropriate towards any Saltash 

Town Council employee/councillor is unacceptable . 

1. Violence and aggression at work 

a. Violence and aggression at work is defined as any incident in which a person 

is abused, threatened or assaulted in circumstances relating to their work. 

 

b. Physical assault is defined as the intentional application of force from one 

person to another, without lawful justification, resulting in physical injury, 

personal discomfort or damage to property. 

 

c. Non-physical assault is defined as the use of inappropriate words (including, 

but not exclusively, verbal/written/social media) or behaviour causing alarm, 

distress and/or constituting harassment. 

 

d. Persistent unacceptable behaviour is defined as referring to behaviour both 

within one contact and/or a number of separate contacts over an undefined 

period (this includes telephone contact). 

2. Zero tolerance 

Saltash Town Council will not accept or tolerate any violence or aggression towards 

its employees/councillors and any such act/behaviour towards its employees and any 

such act/behaviour will result in appropriate action or sanctions. 

3. Guidance 

For certain individuals that use the Town Council services, individual risk assessments 

may need to be undertaken where necessary. 

 

 

Page 1333Page 110



 

 
80 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

4. Receiving public questions, representations and evidence at 

meetings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1334Page 111



 

 
81 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

Receiving public questions, representations and evidence at meetings 

Members of the public have a legal right to attend decision making meetings of the 

Town Council and its Committees, except where they are excluded for specific items 

which need to be discussed in confidence (e.g. staffing matters or tenders for 

contracts).  A period of fifteen minutes will be designated for public participation at a 

meeting and this session is recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  

Submission of Questions, Representations and Evidence 

Questions, representations and evidence must be submitted in writing no later 

than 12 noon the day before the meeting either by email to 

enquiries@saltash.gov.uk or sent to The Guildhall, 12 Lower Fore Street, Saltash 

PL12 6JX. Please provide your full name and address and indicate if you will be 

present at the meeting. 

No person may submit more than one question to a meeting and no more than one 

question may be asked on behalf of an organisation. 

Any questions submitted after the deadline will be referred to the next meeting. 

Anonymous questions will not be answered. 

Order of Questions 

Questions will be taken in the order in which notice was received but the Chairman 

of the meeting may group together similar questions. Where the enquirer is unable to 

be present their question will be read out by the Town Clerk. 

All questions shall be put to the Chairman and no member of the public may speak 

for longer than three minutes. You can only ask your question as submitted; you 

cannot change the question or give further information.  Supplementary questions, 

may be allowed at the discretion of the Chairman but must relate to your original 

question or the reply.  Only one person is permitted to speak at a time. If more than 

one person wants to speak, the Chairman shall direct in which order this will be. 

A public question shall not start a debate at the meeting. 

  

Page 1335Page 112



 

 
82 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

Scope of Questions 

 

Questions must relate to a matter to which the Council has powers or duties or which 

affect the town of Saltash.  

Questions will not be allowed on matters which have previously been determined. 

 

The Town Clerk as the Proper Officer will reject a question if: 

 It is beyond the legal powers of the Town Council.  

o The Town Clerk will inform the Chairman of the Town Council or 

relevant Committee of the reasons(s) why. 

o The Town Clerk will inform the person that submitted a public question 

of the reason(s) for rejection. 

o  

The Chairman of the meeting will reject a question if it: 

 Is not about a matter for which the Town Council has a responsibility or which 

affects the town of Saltash. 

 Is defamatory, frivolous or offensive. 

 Requires the disclosure of confidential information. 

 Is the same, or substantially the same question as one asked in the previous 

six months. 

Response to Questions 

Questions may be answered by the Chairman, Deputy Chairman, Town Councillors 

or the Town Clerk and will be dealt with in one of the following ways: 

 A verbal response may be made at the meeting. 

 The Town Clerk will be asked to respond in writing. 

 The Town Council may decide to place the item on an agenda for a future 

meeting (or refer it to a Committee) for further consideration. 

 Where the enquirer was not present at the meeting a copy of the response will 

be provided if made at the meeting. 

  

Page 1336Page 113



 

 
83 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

Procedure in respect of planning applications  

Members of the public wishing to speak about a planning application should register 

by email no later than 12 noon the day before the meeting where the application 

will be considered.  

The Chairman will introduce the application and invite speakers in the following 

order: 

 The applicant or their agent 

 Objector  

 Supporter 

 Ward Members 

 

Following this, Members of the Committee may debate and will then vote on the 

application. 

Where more than one objector/supporter has registered to speak, the first received 

will be permitted to speak. Where there are number of interested parties in an 

application, they are advised to coordinate their response and nominate a speaker.  

Time Limits 

Each public speaker has a time limit of three minutes to make their representation. 

At the discretion of the Chairman and with the approval of Members, a further two 

minutes may be permitted where new information is available. 

Protocol 

Members of the public should not interrupt other speakers or the Committee debate. 

Where Members of the Committee ask questions of a public speaker this does not 

entitle them to participate in the debate. 

All speakers must respect the Chairman and respond to instructions accordingly. 

Speakers should restrict their comments to material planning considerations only 

Please note that offensive or threatening behaviour will not be tolerated. If a 

member of the public interrupts the proceedings of any meeting the Town 

Page 1337Page 114



 

 
84 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

Council reserves the right to curtail the contribution of that person and 

exclude a disorderly person or clear the public gallery. 

What to expect on the night 

A handout available on the public gallery chairs to include the below information, that 

explains the process on the night: 

‘Welcome to Saltash Town Council and thank you for submitting a public question, 

the following is guidance when asked to speak in the meeting. 

All questions shall be put to the Chairman and no member of the public may speak 

for longer than three minutes. 

Please only ask your question when directed by the Chairman. You can only ask 

your question as submitted; you cannot change the question or give further 

information.  

Supplementary questions may be allowed at the discretion of the Chairman but must 

relate to your original question or the reply. 

Any evidence or representation submitted along with the question will have been 

published in the report pack and as such, you can assume members will have read 

it. 

Only one person is permitted to speak at a time. If more than one person wants to 

speak, the Chairman shall direct in which order this will be. 

We appreciate your co-operation’. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1338Page 115



 

 
85 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

5. Finance Regulations 

Page 1339Page 116



86 
DRAFT 03/2025 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Page 1340Page 117



 

 
87 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

 

6. Scheme of delegation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1341Page 118



 

 
88 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

 

Scheme of Delegation 

1. This scheme of delegation supersedes any extant permanent delegated 

authorities except where specified and voids any such delegated authorities not 

referred to. No future permanent delegated authority shall be valid unless 

referred to in this scheme. 

2. None of the authorities or limitations below should be taken as preventing the 

exercise of duties or authority clearly laid out in the Town Clerk’s job description 

(for example as Line Manager 

3. Temporary delegations of authority to accomplish a particular task do not fall 

within the purview of this scheme: existing such temporary delegations stand, 

and further such temporary delegations may be agreed without amending this 

scheme. 

4. This scheme shall lapse after the 1st full meeting of the Town Council following 

each set of Town Council Elections commencing in May 2025, unless re-

approved by the Town Council with or without amendments. 

5. Any reference to the Town Clerk in these documents will apply to the Assistant 

Town Clerk if and only if: 

 

5.1. The Town Clerk is not reasonably contactable due to leave, illness etc.  

  AND 

5.2. The matter is of sufficient urgency that it cannot be reasonably delayed 

until the return of the Town Clerk. 

Section A Financial  

The Town Clerk shall have sole delegated authority and in their absence the 

Assistant Town Clerk shall have sole delegated authority to: 

 

1. Maintain and defray a petty cash float to a limit of £390 for the purpose of 

defraying operational and other expenses, in line with Financial Regulation 

6.19a. 

2. Incur expenditure on behalf of the Town Council which is necessary to carry out 

any repair replacement or other work which is of such extreme urgency that it 

Page 1342Page 119



 

 
89 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

must be done at once, whether or not there is any budgetary provision for the 

expenditure, subject to a limit of £1,000, in line with Financial Regulation 4.6. 

The Town Clerk shall report the action to the appropriate Committee Chairman 

and Committee as soon as practicable thereafter. Where expenditure required 

cannot be met from savings made elsewhere within that Committee's approved 

budget, it shall be subject to the provisions of a budget head approved by the 

Policy and Finance Committee or the Town Council. 

3. Carry out the dispersal of Section 106 Money held by the Town Council, when 

authorised according to procedures already agreed by the Town Council. 

 

The Town Clerk or in their absence the Assistant Town Clerk shall have delegated 

authority to authorise members of staff to disperse other monies with the authority of 

Full Council, or otherwise under the following restrictions: 

 

4. If within budget up to £10,000 with the approval of the appropriate Committee 

Chairman, or in their absence that of the Committee Vice Chairman and 

Chairman of the Town Council or in their absence that of the Deputy Chairman. 

Approval may be verbally or by email initially, with a later signature. 
 

However, in the case of the P and F (Office) budget, no such approval will be 

necessary. 

 

5. If within budget, up to £20,000 only where that item has been resolved by the 

relevant Committee or Sub-Committee and with the approval of the appropriate 

Committee Chairman or in their absence that of the Committee Vice Chairman 

and Chairman of the Town Council or in their absence that of the Deputy 

Chairman. 

6. Monies over £20,000 or not within budget only where that item has been 

resolved by the relevant Committee or Sub-Committee with an agreed spend or 

maximum spend. 

 

Items spent under d. or e. will be reported back to the following meeting of the 

relevant Committee or Sub-Committee. 

Page 1343Page 120



 

 
90 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

 

7. The Town Clerk or in their absence the Assistant Town Clerk shall have 

delegated authority to authorise members of staff with the agreement of the 

Chairman of P and F, or in their absence that of the Vice Chairman of P and F, 

the Chairman or the Deputy Chairman of the Town Council, to use the Town 

Credit Card, where the expenditures in question are otherwise acceptable 

under Town Council regulations and where necessary for the efficient running 

of the Town Council and for best value. However, in no case may this be used 

for individual expenses to be reclaimed, or in excess of the credit limit agreed 

by Full Council. 

8. The Service Delivery Manager shall have delegated authority for the 

procurement of the Town Council’s Service Delivery Department if within 

budget, up to £1,000, reporting back at the Services Committee bi-monthly 

meetings. 

9. Line Managers shall have delegated authority for the procurement of their 

department if within budget, up to £1,000 reporting back at the relevant 

committee meeting.  

10. Line Managers shall have delegated authority to authorise staff training for 

team members up to the value of £200, reporting back to the Personnel 

Committee. 

11. Finance Officer shall have delegated authority to transfer monies between the 

Instant Access Accounts to Barclays Current Account for day-to-day 

operations. This will be reported to Full Council within the monthly bank 

account receipts and payments reports. 

Section B Personnel 

1. All matters detailed in adopted personnel policies of the Town Council shall be 

taken as being encompassed with this scheme of delegation. For example, but 

not limited to: 

1.1. The Town Clerk’s authority to appoint staff where carried out in line 

 with policy. 

1.2. Resolution of grievance and disciplinary matters. 

1.3. The authorisation of discretionary leave. 

Page 1344Page 121



 

 
91 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

1.4. Appraisal and exit interviews etc.  

1.5. The following functions shall be delegated to the Personnel Committee: 

 

1.5.1. The line management of the Town Clerk by the Chairman, or 

  Vice Chairman dealing with routine issue. 

1.5.2. The confirmation of progression along pay scales, and  

  successful completion of probationary periods and   

  recommendation not to progress staff or to approve completion 

  of probation shall be recommended to Full Council. 

Section C Other 

1. The Town Clerk shall have sole delegated authority to: 

1.1. exercise overall responsibility for Health and Safety; 

1.2. have fly-posters removed from STC land, or from Cornwall Council land 

having checked that they do not have authority to be there;  

1.3. waive charges for Guildhall room hire; 

1.4. approve or reject links for display on the STC website, and items for 

display on the STC noticeboards; 

1.5. Approve the use of the town’s modern logo, in accordance with the 

principles outlined in the relevant policy. 

2. The Town Clerk or in their absence the Assistant Town Clerk shall have 

delegated authority in consultation with the Chairman of the Town Council, or in 

their absence the Deputy Chairman, to: 

2.1. Make any temporary arrangements necessary for the good running of the 

Town Council not falling under the Town Clerk’s day-to-day exercise of 

duties, where they incur no expenditure, or the expenditure falls under the 

other delegated powers. These shall be reported back to the appropriate 

committee or Full Council as soon as possible where they may 

recommend that they be made permanent or halted if appropriate, or else 

‘noted’. 

2.2. Commence the election or co-option procedure for vacancies in the Town 

Council in accordance with legislation and Town Council procedures. 

Page 1345Page 122



 

 
92 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

3. The Town Clerk or in their absence the Assistant Town Clerk shall have 

delegated authority in consultation with the Chairman of the Town Council, or in 

their absence the Deputy Chairman, and the Chairman of P and F, or in their 

absence the Vice Chairman, to 

 

3.1. Decline bookings for the Guildhall where they consider them 

inappropriate, or where they are for purposes that might be perceived as 

prejudicing the neutrality of the Town Council on future developments. 

 

4. The Town Clerk or in their absence the Assistant Town Clerk shall have 

delegated authority with the agreement with the Chairman of the Town Council 

or appropriate Committee Chairman, or in their respective absence the Deputy 

Chairman or Committee Vice Chairman to: 

4.1. Send out Press Releases. In all cases the Chairman of the Town Council, 

or in their absence the Deputy Chairman, must either directly approve the 

release, or be sent a copy of the release at least 24 hours before it goes 

out in order to give them chance to object if necessary. No Press Release 

may be sent out under this authority if the Chairman of the Town Council 

or Deputy Chairman does object: in that instance they must be authorised 

by Full Council. 

 

Note:  Power C/4a shall also apply to the Chairman/Vice of the Neighbourhood 

 Plan Steering Group, and any other Sub-Committee or Working Group of the 

 Town Council granted this power by Full Council. However other delegated 

 powers to Committees do not automatically apply. 

  

Page 1346Page 123



 

 
93 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

Appendix 1: Health Pandemic/Lockdown Scheme of Delegation  

 

Saltash Town Council delegates authority to the Town Clerk informed by 

consultation with Members of the Town Council, to take any actions necessary with 

associated expenditure up to £5,000 to protect the interest of the community and 

ensure Town Council business continuity during the period of the a health 

pandemic/lockdown where it is deemed inappropriate to meet. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1347Page 124



 

 
94 

DRAFT 03/2025 
 

7. Committee Structure

Page 1348Page 125



95 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Full Town Council 

The Corporate Body

Burial 
Authority 

Joint Burial 
Board 

Policy and 
Finance

Station 

Property

Planning and 
LicensingServices

Property 
Maintenance Library

Personnel

Devolution Town 
Vision

P
age 1349

P
age 126



96 
DRAFT 03/2025 

8. Terms of Reference Committees and Subcommittees 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1350Page 127



 

97 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Introduction  

Saltash Town Council has appointed a number of Committees to undertake work for 

and on behalf of the Town Council.  The specific responsibilities of each Committee 

are confirmed by Terms of Reference. 

This policy sets out the Terms of Reference of each Committee of the Town Council 

and confirms the following:  

 Membership and number of seats 

 Role of the Chairman of the Town Council and Deputy Chairman of the Town 

Council 

 Frequency of meetings 

 Remit of the Committee and reporting structure 

 Delegated Authority 

 

In the absence of any policy, a Committee of the Town Council will abide by the 

criteria established for Full Town Council as prescribed by the Town Council’s 

Standing Orders. 

These terms of reference apply to Committees and Sub Committees.  

Saltash Town Council has the General Power of Competence as a power of first 

resort.  Where the Town Council becomes ineligible, it will refer to the Powers 

quoted in these Terms of Reference for the conduct of its business. 

  

Page 1351Page 128



 

98 
DRAFT 03/2025 

General  

General Terms of Reference Applicable to all Committees, Sub Committees 

and Joint Burial Board: 

The Terms of Reference of all Committees, Sub Committees and Joint Burial Board 

are subject to the following principles: 

1. That powers be exercised in accordance with any policy adopted or directions 

given by the Town Council. 

2. That powers be subject to the Town Council’s Standing Orders and Financial 

Regulations.   

3. That any unresolved differences between Committees shall be referred to Full 

Town Council for determination. 

4. That any proposal which involves any change in the existing policies already 

approved by the Town Council shall be submitted to the Town Council for approval. 

5. Day to day management of Town Council matters rests with the Town Clerk. 

6. Urgent/emergency matters may be dealt with as they arise by the Town Clerk in 

consultation with the Chairman of Committee (or in his/her absence the Vice 

Chairman) and Chairman of the Town Council and reported to the next appropriate 

Committee or full Town Council meeting, whichever is first. 

7. Committees and Sub Committees will bring to the attention of Town Council any 

matters being pursued by other local authority/statutory/voluntary or other bodies 

which have a beneficial or detrimental effect on the area of Saltash. 

8. Guest speakers should normally be limited to one per meeting with the permission 

of the Town Council and shall not exceed 10 minutes unless directed by the 

Chairman of the meeting in accordance with Standing Orders. 

9. Public participation: 

a. There will be, during each Committee meeting, a quarter of an hour public 

session with members of the public being able to speak and ask questions 

concerning the business of the Committee in accordance with the Standing 

Orders. 

Page 1352Page 129



 

99 
DRAFT 03/2025 

b. The period of time designated for public participation at a meeting in 

accordance with standing order 3.7shall not exceed 15 minutes unless directed 

by the Chairman of the meeting. 

c. Subject to Standing Order 3.8 above, a member of the public shall not speak 

for more than 3 minutes. 

10. Committees will receive and approve their own minutes. 

11. Committees will monitor/respond with critical appraisals to minutes, reports, 

documentation which from time to time are received from Cornwall Council or 

other bodies which have been brought to the Town Council’s attention by the 

Town Clerk/individual Town Councillors or member of the public which may 

have an adverse or beneficial effect on the area of Saltash. 

12. From time to time a Committee may appoint up to two (2) members of the public 

to serve on a Town Council Committee or Sub Committee as non-voting 

members. Appointed members will be required to abide by the Town Council’s 

Code of Conduct. 

13. All members of the Personnel and Planning and Licensing Committee will attend 

training relevant to the work of the Committee as identified and provided by the 

Town Council.   

Delegation of Authority to Sub Committees: 

Where a function within the Terms of Reference of a Committee has been further 

delegated to a Sub Committee that Sub Committee will report its findings and any 

recommendations back to the appropriate Committee or direct to the Town Council, 

as per the remit. 

  

Page 1353Page 130



 

100 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Burial Authority Committee 

Composition: Six members 

Chairmanship: Chairman and Vice Chairman to be elected from the 

members of the Committee at the first meeting in each 

Council Year.  

Quorum: Four members 

Meetings: As required 

Timing: Biannual 

Venue: Guildhall  

Reports to: Full Town Council 

Remit: Management and operation of Churchtown Cemetery 

and to work within the individual delegated authority 

budget. 

 

Terms of Reference and Matters Delegated to the Committee: 

1. The provision and management of a burial and cremated remains service. 

2. The improvement, maintenance and management of the grounds in 

Churchtown Cemetery. 

3. To consider such matters as may be delegated by the Town Council from time 

to time. 

4. Reviewing the level of fees and charges of the Committee’s functions and 

making appropriate recommendations to the P and F Committee. 

5. To consider and submit to the P and F Committee annual estimates of income 

and expenditure on continuing services and capital expenditure for the 

forthcoming year and five year forecast. 

6. Authorization of expenditure within the Committee budget, provided that the 

payment is made from a budget that is within the limits of the scheme of 

Page 1354Page 131



 

101 
DRAFT 03/2025 

delegation or previously approved by the Town Council. The Committee cannot 

commit or spend from future budgets not confirmed or from future years. 

7. The virement of funds within the Committee total budget must be authorized by 

the P and F Committee. 

8. All aspects of Health and Safety that fall within the remit of the Committee. 

9. Making recommendations to the Town Council on all matters not within existing 

policy. 

10. Preparation and review of a plan for future requirements within the scope of the 

Committee regardless of feasibility. 

Matters not delegated to the Committee: 

Any matter falling within the remit of the Committee which involves the introduction of 

a new policy or changes to existing policy, future direction and strategy. 

Terms of Reference last updated: 03.2024 

  

Page 1355Page 132



 

102 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Planning and Licensing Committee 

 

Composition: Sixteen members 
 

Chairmanship:  Chairman and Vice Chairman to be elected from the 

members of the Committee at the first meeting in each 

Council Year. 

Training: All members of the Committee are to undertake 

Planning training within 6 months of their appointment 

subject to course availability 
 

Quorum: Seven members 
 

Meetings: Every Third Tuesday of the month 
 

Timing: 6:30 p.m. 
 

Venue: Guildhall  
 

Reporting WP: Saltash Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Reports to: Town Council 
 

Remit: To consider and make responses on behalf of Saltash 

Town Council for all Planning and Licensing related 

matters. 

 

Terms of Reference and Matters Delegated to the Committee: 

1. Full delegated authority to make responses on behalf of Saltash Town Council 

to all applications for licensing or development in and outside the Saltash Town 

Council area (including Listed Building, Conservation Area consents, consent 

for advertisement displays etc.) received from Cornwall Council. 

2. To consider any request for pre-application discussions with any developer and 

make a response on behalf of the Town Council in accordance with the Town 

and Parish Town Councils in Cornwall Guiding Principles for Pre-Application 

discussions. 

3. To review the Town Council planning policy and procedure and make 

recommendations to Town Council to ensure that the Town Council is able to 

meet any additional requirements of the planning process. 

Page 1356Page 133



 

103 
DRAFT 03/2025 

4. To respond to consultation documents regarding tree preservation and other 

matters regarding general land development. 

5. To consider all appeals against planning refusal by Cornwall Council within 

Saltash Town Council area and to submit comments to the Planning 

Inspectorate. 

6. To consider any proposals for new and reviews of the Core Strategy and any 

other consultation documents of a planning nature and to make resolutions to 

the Town Council. 

7. During Planning Committee meetings members of the public who have 

registered to do so may speak at the discretion of the Chairman and with the 

approval of members of the Planning Committee. 

8. The period of time designated for public participation at a meeting in 

accordance with standing order 3.4 shall not exceed 15 minutes unless directed 

by the Chairman of the meeting. 

9.  Consultation with other relevant bodies with similar interests, including other 

Local Town Councils and Cornwall Council.  

 

Matters not Delegated to the Committee: 

Any matter falling within the remit of the Committee which involves the introduction of 

a new policy or changes to existing policy, future direction and strategy including 

neighbourhood planning. 

Terms of Reference last updated: 03.2024 

  

Page 1357Page 134



 

104 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Policy and Finance Committee 

 

Composition: Sixteen members 
 

Chairmanship:  Chairman and Vice Chairman to be elected from the 

members of the Committee at the first meeting in each 

Council Year. 

Quorum: Seven members 
 

Meetings: Bi-Monthly 
 

Timing: 6:30 p.m. 
 

Venue: Guildhall  
 

Reports to: Full Town Council 
 

Remit: Policy Administration and Finances of the Town Council 

and to work within the individual delegated authority 

budget. 

Staffing resources (budget only) 

 

Terms of Reference and Matters Delegated to the Committee: 

1. To consider such matters as may be delegated by the Town Council from time 

to time. 

2. To review, from time to time, policy objectives within the Committee’s Terms of 

Reference for consideration by the Town Council. 

3. To prepare annual estimates and update a 5-year forecast of income and 

expenditure of the Town Council on continuing services and of payments on 

capital account for the next financial year and to make a recommendation to the 

Town Council as to the precept in time for its annual budget meeting each year. 

4. To regulate and control the finance of the Town Council and to have charge of 

the financial and accounting arrangements of the Town Council. 

5. To consider matters arising from the report of the internal and external auditors 

and where considered necessary make changes to the Town Council’s system 

of controls. 

6. To receive and approve schedules of payments. 

Page 1358Page 135



 

105 
DRAFT 03/2025 

7. To agree virements between approved budget headings. 

8. To make recommendations to the Town Council on the use of financial 

reserves.  

9. To make recommendations to the Town Council on capital expenditure not 

already provided for in Town Council’s estimates of expenditure for the current 

financial year.  

10. To consider grants to local organisations in accordance with the Town Council’s 

adopted grants policy. 

11. To undertake annually the risk assessment in relation to the Town Council’s 

insurance cover. 

12. To insure against such risks as the Committee deems necessary to cover. 

13. To make resolutions to the Town Council regarding the promotion and 

expenditure on tourism. 

14. To make resolutions to the Town Council regarding the Crime and Disorder Act 

1998, following consultation with the appropriate bodies. 

15. To make resolutions to the Town Council regarding town twinning. 

16. To make resolutions to the Town Council regarding the prosecution or defence 

of any legal proceedings. 

17. To make resolutions to the Town Council for the use of powers to acquire by 

agreement, to appropriate, to dispose of land. 

18. To make resolutions to the Town Council for the use of its powers to promote a 

lottery. 

19. To make resolutions to the Town Council for the use of its powers to accept 

gifts, including land. 

20. To make resolutions to the Town Council regarding the future provision of civic 

regalia.  

21. To agree the use by any other organisation of the Town Seals or Modern Logo. 

Page 1359Page 136



 

106 
DRAFT 03/2025 

22. To review the Standing Orders and Financial Regulations on a regular basis 

and make recommendations to the Town Council. 

23. To make recommendations to the Town Council regarding the review of 

existing policy matters. 

24. The delegated power to keep all procedures under active review. 

25. The delegated power to maintain the Town Council’s eligibility for General 

Power of Competence. 

26. The delegated power to exercise the Town Council’s powers to direct as to the 

custody of parish property and documents. 

27. Authorisation of expenditure within the Committee’s budget, provided that the 

payment is made from a budget that is within the limits previously approved by 

the Town Council. The Committee cannot commit or spend from future budgets 

not confirmed or from future years. The virement of funds within the P and F 

Committee’s total budget must be authorised by the Town Council. 

28. The negotiation of tenders which do not fall within the Terms of Reference of 

any other Committee and the acceptance of tenders and supervision of 

contracted projects (provided expenditure is within the budgetary provision) 

with the practical implementation of the contract devolved to the appropriate 

Committee.  

29. All aspects of Health and Safety that fall within the remit of the Committee. 

30. Making recommendations to the Town Council on all matters not within existing 

policy. 

31. Preparation and review of a plan for future requirements within the scope of the 

Committee regardless of feasibility. 

32. Monitoring the physical environment within the Town Council’s area and 

carrying out improvements within budgetary provision. To recommend to the 

Town Council any matters outside this budgetary provision. 

33. The consideration of recommendations of sub- Committees, working groups 

etc. under the control of the P and F Committee. 

Page 1360Page 137



 

107 
DRAFT 03/2025 

34. Consultation with other relevant bodies with similar interests, including other 

Town Council Committees and Sub Committees, and consideration of their 

recommendations.  

35. Matters not already delegated to the Town Clerk which relate to the Town 

Council newsletter, websites, webcam, publicity and press and social media 

releases. 

36. To consider such other matters of a general nature not clearly falling within the 

Terms of Reference of any other Committee referred either by the Town 

Council or the Town Clerk. 

37. To draft, negotiate with the lessee/licensee terms and conditions of 

leases/licenses for all Town Council property and land and submit resolution to 

Town Council. 

38. To consider the renewal of leasing/licensing agreements and make proper 

resolution to Town Council if it is not felt appropriate to continue such an 

agreement. 

39. To maintain the register of all Town Council property and ensure and maintain 

its registered title at the Land Registry. 

 

Matters not Delegated to the Committee: 

1. The consideration of new and reviews of consultation and policy documents of 

other bodies and any other consultation documents. 

2. Any matter falling within the remit of the Committee which involves the 

introduction of a new policy or changes to existing policy, future direction and 

strategy. 

Terms of Reference last updated: 03.2024 

Services Committee 

Composition: Sixteen members 

Page 1361Page 138



 

108 
DRAFT 03/2025 

 

 

 

Terms of Reference and Matters Delegated to the Committee: 

1. To consider such matters as may be delegated by the Town Council from time 

to time. 

Chairmanship: Chairman and Vice Chairman to be elected from the 

members of the Committee at the first meeting in 

each Council Year. 

Quorum: Seven members 

Meetings: Bi-monthly 

Timing: 6:30 p.m. 

Venue: Guildhall  

Reports to: Full Town Council 

Remit: The provision, maintenance, management, marketing 

and service function of all Town Council property, 

buildings, land and structures and to work within the 

individual delegated authority budget: 

 Property 

 Allotments 

 Open Spaces 

 Cemetery 

 Waterfront 

 Structures 

 Footpaths 

 Grounds Maintenance 

 Public Toilets 

 Christmas Lights 

 Staffing resources (budget only) 

Page 1362Page 139



 

109 
DRAFT 03/2025 

2. To consider and submit to the P and F Committee for the annual budget 

estimates of income and expenditure on continuing services and capital 

expenditure for the forthcoming year and 5-year forecast plan. 

3. Authorization of expenditure within the Committee’s budget, provided that the 

payment is made from a budget that is within the limits previously approved by 

the Town Council. The Committee cannot commit or spend from future budgets 

not confirmed or from future years. The virement of funds within the 

Committees total budget must be authorised by the P and F Committee. 

4. Acceptance of tenders and supervision of contracted projects – provided 

expenditure is within the budgetary provision and is for areas within the scope 

of the Committee. 

5. All aspects of Health and Safety that fall within the remit of the Committee. 

6. Making recommendations to the Town Council on all matters not within existing 

policy. 

7. Monitoring the physical environment and property within the Town Council’s 

area and carrying out improvements within budgetary provision. To recommend 

to the Town Council any matters outside this budgetary provision. 

8. Preparation and review of a plan for future requirements within the scope of the 

Committee regardless of feasibility. 

9. The consideration of recommendations of Sub Committees, working groups 

etc. under the control of the Committee. 

10. Consultation with other relevant bodies with similar interests, including other 

Town Council Committees and Sub Committees, and consideration of their 

recommendations. 

11. The implementation of agency agreements for the delegation of services from 

Cornwall Council which fall within the remit of the Committee and have been 

negotiated and agreed by Full Town Council. 

12. To consider such matters as may be delegated by the Town Council from time 

to time. 

Page 1363Page 140



 

110 
DRAFT 03/2025 

13. To consider the securing and security of all Town Council property and land 

and make resolutions to the Town Council.  

14. To maintain the exterior and structural fabric of all Town Council 

buildings/structures. 

15. To review the level of fees and charges of the Committee’s functions and 

making appropriate recommendations to the P and F Committee. 

16. To consider and submit to the P and F Committee annual estimates of income 

and expenditure on continuing services and capital expenditure for the 

forthcoming year and five-year forecast. 

17. Authorization of expenditure within the Committee’s budget, provided that the 

payment is made from a budget that is within the limits previously approved by 

the Town Council. The Committee cannot commit or spend from future budgets 

not confirmed or from future years. The virement of funds within the 

Committee’s total budget must be authorised by the P and F Committee. 

18. Acceptance of tenders and supervision of contracted projects – provided 

expenditure is within the budgetary provision and is for areas within the scope 

of the Committee. 

19. Preparation and review of a plan for future requirements within the scope of the 

Committee regardless of feasibility. 

20. Consultation with other relevant bodies with similar interests, including other 

Local Town Councils and Cornwall Council. 

 

 

 

Matters not Delegated to the Committee: 

Any matter falling within the remit of the Committee which involves the introduction of 

a new policy or changes to existing policy, future direction and strategy. 

Terms of Reference last updated: 03.2024 

Page 1364Page 141



 

111 
DRAFT 03/2025 

 

  

Page 1365Page 142



 

112 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Devolution Sub Committee 

Composition: Eight members 

Chairmanship: Chairman and Vice Chairman to be elected from the members 

of the Sub Committee at the first meeting in each Council 

Year. 

Quorum: Four 

Meetings: As required 

Timing: 6.30pm 

Venue: Guildhall 

Reports to: Full Town Council 

 

Terms of Reference and Matters Delegated to the Committee: 

Finance delegated authority: 

Expenditure up to £20,000 on any separate occasion within the budget  

1. To investigate and potentially progress devolution of assets from Cornwall 

Council to Saltash Town Council working with the Community Link Officer. 

2. To explore funding options for remedial works from Cornwall Council upon the 

transfer of assets. 

Matters not delegated to the Committee: 

Any matter falling within the remit of the Committee which involves the introduction of 

a new policy or changes to existing policy, future direction and strategy. 

Terms of Reference last updated: 03.2024 

 

  

Page 1366Page 143



 

113 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Library Sub Committee 

Composition: Eight members 

Chairmanship: Chairman and Vice Chairman to be elected from 

the members of the Sub Committee at the first 

meeting in each Council Year. 

Quorum: Four 

Meetings: As required 

Timing: TBA 

Venue: Guildhall  

Reports to: Services Committee 

Remit: Library premises and delivery of service as listed 

below. 

Staffing resources (budget only) 

 

Terms of Reference and Matters Delegated to the Committee: 

Finance delegated authority: 

Expenditure up to £20,000 on any separate occasion within the budget.  

 

1. To oversee the management and maintenance of the library premises working 

within budget. 

2. To oversee the transformation programme of the library premises and services. 

3. To act as liaison with Cornwall Council library service. 

4. To monitor performance of the library service provided by the Town Council.  

5. To undertake public consultations where required making appropriate 

recommendations to services.  

6. To receive and consider tenders for works to the library premises making 

appropriate recommendations to Full Town Council. 

Page 1367Page 144



 

114 
DRAFT 03/2025 

7. To work with the appointed Building Surveyor to Project Manage and carry out 

Construction (Design and Management) Regulations (CDM) works on behalf of 

the Town Council making appropriate recommendations to Full Town Council. 

8. To approve applications to the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) for works to 

the library premises making appropriate recommendations to Full Town 

Council. 

Matters not delegated to the Committee: 

Any matter falling within the remit of the Committee which involves the introduction of 

a new policy or changes to existing policy, future direction and strategy. 

 

Terms of Reference last updated: 03.2024 

  

Page 1368Page 145



 

115 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Property Maintenance Sub Committee 

Composition: Eight members 
 Chairman and Vice Chairman to be 

elected from the members of the Sub 

Committee at the first meeting in each 

Council Year. 

Quorum: Four 
Meetings:  As required 
Timing: 6:30pm 
Venue: Guildhall 
Reports to: Services Committee 
Remit: To oversee the repair, maintenance and 

security programmes for all Town 

Council assets. 
 

Terms of Reference and Matters Delegated to the Committee: 

Finance delegated authority: 

Expenditure up to £20,000 on any separate occasion within the budget  

 

1. To oversee the repair and maintenance programmes for the following Town 

Council property: 

 The Guildhall 

 Library 

 Saltash Heritage building 

 Isambard House 

 Longstone depot 

 The Maurice Huggins Room 

 Pontoon and Cabin 

 Public toilets 

 Outdoor land and fences 

2. To ensure Town Council accommodation requirements are met. 

3. To oversee procurement of property maintenance delivery. 

Page 1369Page 146



 

116 
DRAFT 03/2025 

4. To review the Town Council five-year repair and maintenance plan together 

with the Services Committee budget statements. 

 

Matters not delegated to the Sub Committee: 

 

Any matter falling within the remit of the Sub Committee which involves the 

introduction of a new policy or changes to existing policy, future direction and 

strategy. 

Terms of Reference last updated: 03.2024 

  

Page 1370Page 147



 

117 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Station Property Sub Committee 

Composition: Eight members 

Chairmanship: Chairman and Vice Chairman to be elected from 

the members of the Sub Committee at the first 

meeting in each Council Year. 

Quorum: Four 

Meetings: As required 

Timing: TBA 

Venue: Guildhall  

Reports to: Services Committee 

Remit: To oversee the station building development project 

as laid out in the terms of reference. 

 

Terms of Reference and Matters Delegated to the Committee: 

Finance delegated authority: 

Expenditure up to £20,000 on any separate occasion within the budget  

1. To oversee the station building development project. 

2. To identify and apply for appropriate grant and funding opportunities. 

3. To act as liaison with Network Rail and GWR and other agencies. 

4. To manage the appointment of tenants to the building.  

5. To encourage and develop uses and a programme of activities at Isambard 

House. 

Matters not delegated to the Committee: 

Any matter falling within the remit of the Committee which involves the introduction of 

a new policy or changes to existing policy, future direction and strategy. 

Terms of Reference last updated: 03.2024  

Page 1371Page 148



 

118 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Town Vision Sub Committee 

Composition: The Committee membership comprises of a maximum of eight 

Saltash Town Council Councillors together with the Town Clerk 

and Administration Officer.  

Executive input for the Committee is provided by the Town Clerk 

and administrative support is provided by the relevant Officers of 

the Town Council. 

Chairmanship: Chairman and Vice Chairman to be elected from the members of 

the Sub Committee at the first meeting in each Council Year. 

Quorum: Four 

Meetings: The committee meets for a minimum of four times each financial 

year (April to March). 

Timing: 6.30 p.m. 

Venue: Guildhall 

Reports to: The Committee reports directly to Full Town Council making 

strategic recommendations as required.  

Financial 

Matters 

The Committee has delegated authority for expenditure up to 

£20,000. Any requests over this delegated authority of 

expenditure would require a recommendation to the Policy and 

Finance Committee for consideration. 

Remit: The purpose of the Town Vision Sub Committee is to support the 

Town Clerk in leading the business planning process for Saltash 

Town Council and to oversee its effective implementation. 

  

  

Page 1372Page 149



 

119 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Terms of Reference and Matters Delegated to the Committee: 

The Town Vision Sub Committees intended Outcomes over the next three 

years are: 

1. A shared purpose through an agreed, overarching and unified business plan for 

Saltash Town Council. 

2. Increased engagement, understanding and support from Saltash residents on 

Saltash Town Council’s purpose, strategic priorities and activities. 

3. Increased success in securing investment to further the strategic priorities of 

Saltash Town Council. 

4. Effective governance and management for Saltash Town Council, clarifying 

roles and responsibilities, particularly the non-executive roles of the Town Clerk 

and staff team. 

5. A more collaborative, efficient and agile working culture avoiding fragmentation 

and duplication. 

6. Delegated authority to undertake an overarching monitoring role of the 

Business Plan on behalf of the Town Council reporting back as required. 

The primary and initial output of the Town Vision Sub Committee will be: 

1. The production of a three year business plan for the period April 2024 to March 

2027, encompassing: 

 Vision, Mission and Values 

 Strategic priorities and outcomes 

 Activity Plan 

 Communications Strategy 

 Governance, Management and Operations 

 Fundraising strategy 

 Budget forecasts 

  

Page 1373Page 150



 

120 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Matters not delegated to the Committee: 

Any matter falling within the remit of the Committee which involves the introduction of 

a new policy or changes to existing policy, future direction and strategy. Terms of 

reference last updated: 03.2024 

  

Page 1374Page 151



 

121 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Joint Burial Board Committee 

Composition: Membership as established by separate constitution:   

The Chairman of the Town Council, Deputy Chairman of 

the Town Council and two elected Members. 

The Incumbent or Priest in charge of the Parish St 

Stephen-by-Saltash. 

Two Churchwardens of the Parish of St Stephen-by-

Saltash. 

Undertakers regularly using the Churchyard are entitled 

to appoint a representative to represent their views but 

not entitled to vote. 

The Town Clerk will be Secretary to the Board.  

Chairmanship: The Incumbent or Priest in charge of the Parish of St 

Stephen-by-Saltash will be the ex-officio Chairman 

(entitled to vote but without a casting vote). 

The Chairman of the Town Council will be Deputy 

Chairman. 

Non-members: Any member of the Town Council is able to attend and 

may participate at the discretion of the Chairman but may 

be asked to leave if the press and public are excluded. 

Quorum: Any 3 members for non-financial matters, 3 STC 

members for financial matters. 

Meetings: Quarterly 

Timing: 6:00 p.m. 

Venue: Guildhall  

Reports to: Full Town Council 

Page 1375Page 152



 

122 
DRAFT 03/2025 

 

 

 

Terms of Reference and Matters Delegated to the Committee: 

1. The improvement, maintenance and management of the open section of 

cemetery grounds in St Stephen’s Cemetery. 

2. To consider such matters as may be delegated by the Town Council from time 

to time. 

3. Reviewing the level of fees and charges of the Committee’s functions and 

making appropriate recommendations to the P and F Committee. 

4. To consider and submit to the P and F Committee annual estimates of income 

and expenditure on continuing services and capital expenditure for the 

forthcoming year and 5-year forecast. 

5. Authorisation of expenditure within the Committee’s budget, provided that the 

payment is made from a budget that is within the limits of the scheme of 

delegation or previously approved by the Town Council. The committee cannot 

commit or spend from future budgets not confirmed or from future years.  

6. The virement of funds within the Committee’s total budget must be authorised 

by the P and F Committee. 

7. All aspects of Health and Safety that fall within the remit of the Committee. 

8. Making recommendations to the Town Council on all matters not within existing 

policy. 

9. Preparation and review of a plan for future requirements within the scope of the 

Committee regardless of feasibility. 

Matters not delegated to the Committee: 

Any matter falling within the remit of the Committee which involves the introduction of 

a new policy or changes to existing policy, future direction and strategy. 

Terms of Reference last updated: 03.2024 

Remit: Maintenance and operation of St Stephen’s Cemetery 

and to work within the individual delegated authority 

budget. 

Page 1376Page 153



 

123 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Personnel Committee 

Town Councillors appointed to the Personnel Committee must be willing to commit to 

undertake employment law training as soon as they are elected to the Committee.  

The Town Council recognizes that a stable membership of the Committee is 

desirable and as such membership of the Committee should be seen as a long-term 

commitment. 

Members of the Personnel Committee are advised to refrain from taking notes when 

in part two confidential session and to refer to the P and C reports. 

Composition: Six members  

There are no ex-officio members of the Personnel 

Committee. 

Note: A member will not be eligible for nomination to 

the Committee if they have been the subject of an 

upheld grievance or finding of a breach of the Code of 

Conduct by or relating to a member of staff during the 

previous 12 months.  

Quorum: Four members 

Meetings: Quarterly 

Time: 6:30 p.m. 

Venue: Guildhall  

Public attendance: The meeting is open to members of the public and 

press up until the Public Bodies (Admission to 

Meetings) Act 1960. 

Training: All members of this Committee will undertake 

employment law training every 6 months provided by 

the Town Council subject to course availability. 

Reports to: Full Town Council 

Page 1377Page 154



 

124 
DRAFT 03/2025 

Remit:  Staff recruitment, grievance, appraisal, sickness, 

annual leave, maternity and paternity records, training, 

employment policies, health and safety and welfare 

matters and to work within the individual delegated 

authority budget. 

 

Terms of Reference and Matters Delegated to the Committee: 

1. To consider such matters as delegated by Town Council or any Committee of 

the Town Council. 

2. The overall performance and welfare of the staff, delegating the day to day line 

management to the Town Clerk. 

3. To receive reports from the Town Clerk in respect of attendance, short- and 

long-term sickness, return to work interviews, annual leave, maternity leave, 

paternity leave, adoption leave, compassionate leave, and flexible leave 

requirements and with delegated powers to resolve any associated matters. 

4. To review and recommend all employment policies to Town Council in 

consultation with members of staff. 

5. To maintain the staffing levels necessary to efficiently discharge the work 

required by the Town Council and to review the workloads periodically and 

report any recommendations for change to the relevant Committee and or Full 

Town Council. 

6. To oversee the recruitment process of all staff and where required, assist, when 

required, the Town Clerk in the recruitment of new staff.  

7. To undertake the recruitment of the Town Clerk with any associated 

expenditure and making the appointment. 

8. To review job descriptions, person specifications, staff establishment (including 

promotion, re-grading, redundancies and fixed term contracts) and to approve 

contracts of employment. 

Page 1378Page 155



 

125 
DRAFT 03/2025 

9. To maintain confidentiality over all staffing matters as required under the 2018 

General Data Protection Regulations and the 2018 Data Protection Act as well 

as the Code of Conduct. 

10. To deal with all matters relating to staff conduct. 

11. Staff Appraisals: 

11.1. To ensure that annual appraisals for all staff are carried out, agree and 

monitor any associated actions and outcomes. 

11.2. The annual appraisal of the Town Clerk will be undertaken by the 

Chairman of the Town Council and Chairman of the Personnel Committee. 

11.3. To oversee staff and member development including identify training 

opportunities and ensure that all training needs are met. 

12. To consider and implement any changes which are required to comply with 

legislation and Terms and Conditions of Service as laid down by the National 

Joint Town Council (Green Book) and recommended by the National 

Association of Local Town Councils and Society of Local Town Council Town 

Clerks. 

13. To receive and consider any complaints made under the Town Council’s 

Grievance and Disciplinary Procedure referred by the Town Clerk. 

14. Where appropriate, appoint a panel to hear complaints made under the Town 

Council’s Grievance and Disciplinary Procedure and full delegated 

responsibility to take whatever action necessary. If felt necessary, it has the 

delegated approval (including financial) to seek outside professional assistance 

in order to conclude a disciplinary or grievance matter.   

15. To prepare and submit to the P and F Committee budget proposals in respect 

of salaries and training - for all staff. 

16. Authorisation of expenditure within the Committee’s budget, provided that the 

payment is made from a budget that is within the limits previously approved by 

the Town Council. The Committee cannot commit or spend from future budgets 

not confirmed or from future years. The virement of funds within the 

Committee’s total budget must be authorised by the P and F Committee. 

Page 1379Page 156



 

126 
DRAFT 03/2025 

17. All aspects of Health and Safety that fall within the remit of the Committee. 

18. Making resolutions to the Town Council on all matters not within existing policy. 

19. Saltash Town Council recognises the Transfer of Undertakings Protection of 

Employment regulations 2006 known as TUPE. 

20. Saltash Town Council is committed to working with accredited trade unions to 

promote a good working relationship with its staff. 

Matters not Delegated to the Committee: 

Any matter falling within the remit of the Committee which involves the introduction of 

a new policy or changes to existing policy, future direction and strategy. 

Terms of Reference last updated: 03.2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1380Page 157



429 

SALTASH TOWN COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the  Meeting of the Planning and Licensing Committee held at the 
Guildhall on Tuesday 18th March 2025 at 6.30 pm 
 
PRESENT: Councillors: R Bickford, R Bullock, J Dent, S Gillies, M Griffiths, 

S Lennox-Boyd, S Miller, J Peggs and B Stoyel. 
 
ALSO PRESENT: M Thomas (Senior Policy and Data Compliance Officer) and 

F Morris (Planning and General Administrator). 
 
APOLOGIES: J Brady (Vice-Chairman), S Martin, L Mortimore, B Samuels 

(Chairman), P Samuels and D Yates. 
 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 
Councillor Dent in the Chair. 
 
Councillor Dent, former Chairman of Planning and Licensing, informed Members that 
in the absence of the Chairman and Vice Chairman at this evenings meeting a 
Chairman was required to be appointed.  
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Peggs to nominate 
Councillor Dent. 
 
No further nominations were received. 
 
Following a vote it was RESOLVED to appoint Councillor Dent as Chairman for this 
meeting only. 
 
 
130/24/25 HEALTH AND SAFETY ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

 
The Chairman informed those present of the actions required in the 
event of a fire or emergency. 
 
 

131/24/25 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST: 
 
a. To receive any declarations from Members of any registerable (5A of 

the Code of Conduct) and/or non-registerable (5B) interests in 
matters to be considered at this meeting. 
 
None. 

 
b. The Town Clerk to receive written requests for dispensations prior to 

the start of the meeting for consideration. 
 
None. 

Public Document Pack

Page 429Page 158

Agenda Item 6b



430 

132/24/25 PUBLIC QUESTIONS - A 15-MINUTE PERIOD WHEN MEMBERS OF 
THE PUBLIC MAY SPEAK ABOUT A PLANNING APPLICATION. 
 
None. 
 
 

133/24/25 TO RECEIVE AND APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM THE PLANNING 
AND LICENSING COMMITTEE HELD ON 18 FEBRUARY 2025 AS A 
TRUE AND CORRECT RECORD. 
 
Please see a copy of the minutes on the STC website or request to see 
a copy at the Guildhall. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Stoyel and 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Licensing Committee 
held on 18 February 2025 were confirmed as a true and correct record. 
 
 

134/24/25 TO CONSIDER RISK MANAGEMENT REPORTS AS MAY BE 
RECEIVED. 
 
None. 
 
 

135/24/25 PLANNING: 
 
a. To note that Councillor Lennox-Boyd will vote upon the information 

before her at the meeting but in the light of subsequent information 
received at Cornwall Council, Councillor Lennox-Boyd may vote 
differently at that meeting. 

 
b. To note that if Councillor Lennox-Boyd wishes to recommend 

opposite to the Town Council’s view she will contact the Town 
Council by email. Considering time constraints, the Town Council will 
then hold an online poll of Councillors to determine whether to accept 
the Officer’s view or to ask for the application to be called into 
committee. The results of these polls will be read into the record at 
the next Town Council meeting. Members of the public may request, 
via the Clerk, to be copied into any correspondence. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 430Page 159



431 

c. Applications for consideration:  
 

PA25/00477 
Mrs Kathryn Hall – Eales Farm Carkeel Saltash PL12 6PG 
Listed building consent for the construction of a replacement front 
door canopy. 
Ward: Trematon 
Date received: 26/02/25 
Response date: 21/03/25 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and resolved to RECOMMEND APPROVAL. 

 
d. Tree Application: 
 

PA25/01491 
Miss Jodie Bishop – 6 Rye Hill St Stephens Saltash 
Works to Trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) – T1 – 
English Oak, T2 – English Oak – Whole crown reduction of both 
trees by approximately 3 metres (retaining natural shape).  Removal 
of broken hanging branches. 
Ward: Trematon 
Date received: 11/03/25 
Response date: 01/04/25 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and resolved to RECOMMEND APPROVAL subject to the approval 
of the Tree Officer. 

 
 

136/24/25 TO RECEIVE AND NOTE A REPORT REGARDING CORNWALL 
COUNCIL'S LOCAL PLANNING POLICY CALL FOR SITES 
RESPONSES. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note the report and thank the Working Party for 
their work on the responses. 
 
 

137/24/25 PUBLIC BODIES (ADMISSION TO MEETINGS) ACT 1960: 
 
To resolve that Pursuant to Section 1(2) of the Public Bodies 
(Admissions to Meetings) Act 1960 the public and press leave the 
meeting because of the confidential nature of the business to be 
transacted. 
 
 

138/24/25 TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE MAIN PART OF 
THE AGENDA. 
 
None. 
 
 

Page 431Page 160



432 

139/24/25 PUBLIC BODIES (ADMISSION TO MEETINGS) ACT 1960: 
 
To resolve that the public and press be re-admitted to the meeting 
 
 

140/24/25 TO CONFIRM ANY PRESS AND SOCIAL MEDIA RELEASES 
ASSOCIATED WITH ANY AGREED ACTIONS AND EXPENDITURE 
OF THE MEETING. 
 
None. 
 
 

 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Tuesday 15 April 2025 at 6.30 pm 
 
Rising at: 6.40 pm 

 
 

Signed:  

 Chairman 
 

Dated: 
 
 

Page 432Page 161



268 

SALTASH TOWN COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the Extraordinary Meeting of the Personnel Committee held at the 
Guildhall on Thursday 27th March 2025 at 6.30 pm 
 
PRESENT: Councillors: J Dent, J Foster, S Martin (Chairman), S Miller, 

J Peggs (Vice-Chairman) and B Stoyel. 
 
ALSO PRESENT: S Burrows (Town Clerk). 
 
APOLOGIES:  None. 

 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 
93/24/25 HEALTH AND SAFETY ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

 
The Chairman informed those present of the actions required in the 
event of a fire or emergency. 
 
 

94/24/25 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST: 
 
a. To receive any declarations from Members of any registerable (5A of 

the Code of Conduct) and/or non-registerable (5B) interests in 
matters to be considered at this meeting. 
 
None. 

 
b. The Town Clerk to receive written requests for dispensations prior to 

the start of the meeting for consideration. 
 
None. 

 
 

95/24/25 TO RECEIVE AND APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PERSONNEL 
COMMITTEE HELD ON 27 FEBRUARY 2025 AS A TRUE AND 
CORRECT RECORD. 
 
Please see a copy of the minutes on the STC website or request to see 
a copy at the Guildhall. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and RESOLVED that the minutes of the Personnel Meeting held on 27 
February 2025 were confirmed as a true and correct record. 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 268Page 162

Agenda Item 6c



269 

96/24/25 TO NOTE THE RESIGNATION OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AND 
ENGAGEMENT OFFICER. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note the Communication and Engagement 
Officer’s resignation and that the role is currently being advertised.  
 
 

97/24/25 PUBLIC BODIES (ADMISSION TO MEETINGS) ACT 1960 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Dent and 
RESOLVED that pursuant to Section 1(2) of the Public Bodies 
(Admission to meetings) Act 1960 the public and press leave the 
meeting because of the confidential nature of the business to be 
transacted and in accordance with Saltash Town Council Standing 
Orders and Terms of Reference. 
 
The Chairman informed Members that the meeting is now in Part Two. 
 
The Chairman reminded Members that items discussed are of the 
strictest confidence and must not be discussed or shared with others. 
 
The Chairman asked Members to refrain from taking notes in part two 
confidential session, reports have been provided. 
 
All Members are subject to GDPR, Data Protection Regulations and the 
Code of Conduct. 
 
Members noted the Chairman’s statement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 269Page 163



270 

98/24/25 TO RECEIVE A STAFFING REPORT FROM THE TOWN CLERK AND 
CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and resolved to RECOMMEND to Full Council held on 3 April 2025 to: 
 
1. Revert the Responsible Finance Officer (RFO) role to the Town Clerk 

post; 
 

2. Update the Town Clerk job description to encompass the 
responsibilities of the RFO (as attached); 

 
3. Revert the Finance Officer / RFO role to Finance Officer role only; 

 
4. Update the Finance Officer job description to encompass the 

responsibilities of the Finance Officer only (as attached); 
 

5. Update the Town Council Organisation Structure (as attached) to 
reflect the changes that were originally agreed by the Personnel 
Committee under the Private and Confidential session. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and RESOLVED to: 
 
1. Issue Private and Confidential HR letters to the Town Clerk / RFO 

and Finance Officer subject to Full Council approval to the above 
recommendation (P&C letter retained for internal auditor check); 

 
2. Provide the Town Clerk external support to fulfil the responsibilities 

of the Responsible Finance Officer as necessary reporting back to 
the Personnel Committee; 

 
3. Work within budget code 6694 PF EMF Staff Contingency. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note the rest of the Town Clerk’s staffing report. 
 
 

99/24/25 PUBLIC BODIES (ADMISSION TO MEETINGS) ACT 1960 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and RESOLVED that the public and press be re-admitted to the 
meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 270Page 164



271 

 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Thursday 26 June 2025 at 6.30 pm 
 
Rising at: 7.55 pm 

 
 

Signed:  

 Chairman 
 

Dated: 
 
 

Page 271Page 165



Page 1 of 6 

 

 

 

Job Description 
 

 

Position Title 
Town C l e r k   (Proper  Officer) / Responsible 
Finance Officer (RFO) 
 
 

Location Saltash Town Council 

Reporting to The Town Council  

Hours 37 per week 

 

Job Purpose including main duties and responsibilities: 

Job Purpose: 

The Town Clerk to the Town Council is the Proper Officer of the Town Council 
and as such is under a statutory duty to carry out all the functions and in 
particular to serve or issue all notifications required by law of a local authority’s 
Proper Officer. The Town Clerk oversees the operational governance of the 
Town Council, managing staff and taking the  lead  on  matters relating  to  
the  commercial  and  community  initiatives ensuring  that  business  is  
conducted  efficiently  and  that  Town  Council decisions are fully implemented. 

 
The Town Clerk is expected to advise the Town Council on, and assist in the 
formation of, overall policies to be followed in respect of the authority’s activities 
and in particular to produce all the information required to enable the Town 
Council to make informed, effective decisions and to implement constructively 
all decisions. 

 
The Town Clerk is accountable to the Town Council for the effective 
management of all its resources and will report to the Town Council as and 
when required.  The Town Clerk will work with the Responsible Finance Officer 
to ensure all financial records of the Town Council and the careful administration 
of its finances are met and maintained.

Page 272

Minute Item 98/24/25

Page 166



Page 2 of 6 

 

 

Key Responsibilities: 
 
The Town Clerk is responsible directly to the Town Council as a corporate 
body as Proper Officer. 

 

The role has the following responsibilities: 

Strategic Leadership and Management 
 

• To maintain a full awareness of all issues affecting the Town Council and 
to keep abreast of emerging developments nationally and locally which 
could impact on or offer opportunities for the Town Council. 

 
• Ensure that the Town Council makes the best possible use of resources 

through effective planning, considering all financial and other resource 
implications. 

 

•  Negotiate,  manage  and  monitor  contracts,  tenders  and  agreements 
ensuring “best value” at all times. 

 

• Liaise   with   external   contractors,   Town   Council   building   surveyor, 
consultants, stakeholders and professional advisors (e.g. solicitors). 

 
• Responsibility  for  changes  to  policies,  including  Standing  Orders  and 

Financial Regulations, and procedures to ensure that legal requirements are 
adequately discharged and that the administration of the Town Council is 
efficient and effective. 

 

• To advise and provide input on strategic decisions and the implementation 
of those decisions, including directing resources where needed. 

 

• To maintain a full awareness and provide input and support on the Town 
Council’s Neighbourhood Development Plan, Climate Change, Town Vision, 
Planning and Devolution. 

 

•  To act as a representative of the Town Council as required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 273Page 167



Page 3 of 6 

 

 

Responsible Finance Officer responsibilities: 

 

The Responsible Finance Officer is appointed in accordance with the provision 
of the Local Government Act 1972, section 151. 

 

• To effectively manage and monitor the Town Council’s finances and to 

ensure that all the accounts conform with the requirements of the 

Accounts and Audit Regulations. 

 

• To be responsible for maintaining the computerised financial accounts of 

the Town Council and the administration of its finances with the approved 

budget.  To work with the Finance Assistant to ensure day-to-day financial 

records are up to date. 

 

• Liaising with the Town Councils Building Surveyor to produce tender 

documents for contract work, invitation of tenders, acceptance and 

subsequent issue of contract documents and management of contract 

disputes. 

 

• To assist the Town Clerk and other Senior Management team members 

by administering procurement processes and ensuring all contracts 

comply with Standing Orders and all financial administration complies with 

Financial Regulations.  

 

• To supply information to and be present during internal auditor visits.  

 

• To be responsible for reporting on investment funds at Policy and Finance 

Committee meetings. 

 

• To ensure compliance with the Town Council’s Financial Regulations is 

met reporting any concerns to the Town Clerk. 

 

Page 274Page 168



Page 4 of 6 

 

 

Human Resources and Health and Safety 
 

• To advise the Town Council Personnel Committee on staffing matters and 
levels. 

 

• Act as the Senior Manager in respect of the Town Council’s workforce, line 
management of the Deputy Town Clerk, overseeing members of staff via the 
organisation structure of the Town Council, undertaking all necessary 
activities in connection with the management of salaries, conditions of 
employment and work  of other staff,  and  compliance  with  Health  and 
Safety Regulations. 

 

• All line managers’ report direct to the Town Clerk on a regular basis in line 
with the fortnightly management meetings. 

 

• To carry out the initial induction of newly appointed members of  staff 
(contracts) and make sure appropriate training for Councillors is undertaken. 

 

•  Management of grievance and disciplinary matters, in accordance with the 
Council’s grievance and disciplinary rules. 

 

• Co-ordinate   the   development   and   maintenance   of   the   Employee 
Handbook and ensure compliance. Liaising with external HR service 
provider when required. 

 

•  Ensure that Health and Safety plans are in place, working with the Deputy 
Town Clerk who leads on this responsibility. 

 

•  Training  and  information  for  Councillors  and  ensuring  that  the  Town 
Council’s systems for decision making are robust and ethically sound.

Page 275Page 169



Page 5 of 6 

 

 

 

Marketing and Communication 
 

• Ensure the work of the Town Council is promoted via newsletters, annual 
reports, social media, noticeboards and the Town Council website in 
accordance with relevant policies. 

 

• To be responsible in liaison with the Mayor, to manage the reputation of 
the Town Council by way of press releases, social media, website etc 
promoting the Town and decisions of the Town Council to stakeholders 
and the public and actively seizing opportunities to boost the Town Council 
reputation. 

 

• Actively promote the work of the Town Council to members of staff via a 
staff newsletter linked to the Town Council intranet. 

 

• To  develop,  through  effective  public  relations  and  communication  the 
promotion of the Town and Town Council, and to liaise with other public 
bodies as necessary to foster good external relationships. 

 

• Explore and evaluate the use of advertising, publicity and attendance at 
events, if necessary in conjunction with the Community Hub Team Leader 
to promote the Town Council facilities. 

 
 

Administrative Responsibilities 
 

Responsibility for all Town Council services and functions, including: 
 

•  Attendance  at  Town  Council,  Committees,  Sub-Committee,  the  Annual 
Town and Parishioners meetings. 

 

• To be responsible for signing off the summons, agendas and reports, and 
the keeping of minutes and records for meetings of the Town Council and 
its Committees and Sub Committees. 

 

• Execution of agreements, contracts, proceedings and other documents that 
do not require to be under signature of the Mayor, Chairman or Members of 
the Town Council. 

 

•  Provision of advice and support to the Mayor, Chairman of Committees and 
Members of the Town Council. 

 

• The efficient running of the Town Council offices, reviewing, developing 
and monitoring systems, processes and procedures, to ensure the smooth 
running of all administrative and financial functions.

Page 276Page 170



Page 6 of 6 

 

 

 

Other Duties 
 

• Develop constructive working relationships with key stakeholders who live 
and work in Saltash and serve the community. 

 

• Liaison  and  co-operation  with  other  Local  Authorities,  Local  Councils, 
Local Council organisations, and Government Departments to ensure the 
effective implementation of strategic policies. 

 

•  To attend Town Council Civic Events as the Town Clerk for the Town 
Council. 

 

• To attend training courses on the work and role of the Town Clerk as 
required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

This document, whilst outlining the duties which it is anticipated will be 
undertaken by the post holder, indicates mainly the level of responsibility.  It is 
not a comprehensive and exhaustive list, and the duties may be varied at time 
to time by the Town Council. 

 

 
Saltash Town Council has an ongoing commitment to the development of its 
staff.   To facilitate this, staff will be encouraged to update their skills and 
competencies as and when required. 

Page 277Page 171



Page 1 of 3 
 

Job Description 
 

FINANCE OFFICER 

 

Hours: Full Time (37 Hours per week variable but generally 9am to 5pm 

Monday to Friday (subject to your attendance at evening Town 

Council meetings as directed by the Town Clerk).  

 

NJC scale:  24-28 £31,099 to £34,723 

 

Responsible to: Town Clerk / Responsible Finance Officer (RFO). 

 

Purpose of job:  To assist the Town Clerk / RFO in ensuring that the Town Council 

finances are correctly run according to Local Government 

regulations and legislation and in liaison with the Town Clerk / 

RFO advise the Town Council and individual Councillors on 

financial matters in relation to subjects that are relevant to a Town 

Council function. 

 

The Finance Officer will be a member of the Town Council Line 

Management Team and will cover for all duties of the Responsible 

Finance Officer and deputise when the RFO is absent from the 

office. 

Duties: 

 

1. To line manage the Finance Assistant. 

 

2. To clerk meetings of the Town Council as required and in the absence of the 

Town Clerk RFO as directed by the Town Clerk / RFO. 

 

3. Manage and oversee the calculation of salary payments to Town Council 

employees, including calculation of various deductions, pay increases, arrears 

of pay etc and the processing of data for computer input and payment. 

 

4. Preparation and completion of all statutory returns as required including end of 

year return, liaising with the RFO for review prior to submission. 

 

5. The maintenance of associated costing systems and the preparation of payroll 

cost information for management accounting purposes. 

 

6. Manage and oversee the purchase order processing system ensuring correct 

allocation of items to budget codes and best price is obtained. 

 

7. Manage and oversee the registering and clearing invoices for payment and 

processing the payment on to the bank account system. 

 

Page 278Page 172



Page 2 of 3 
 

8. Preparation of monthly accounts schedules for submission to Committees and 

Full Town Council and attend meeting as directed by the Town Clerk / RFO. 

 

9. To prepare budget statements for the Town Council Committees and Sub-

Committees as required.  Including any necessary cash flow, income and 

expenditure statements for Town Council projects. 

 

10. Processing, maintaining and updating S106, CIL Planning and other project 

accounts and report as required. 

 

11. Manage and oversee the raising of invoices for goods/services provided by the 

Town Council. 

 

12. Manage and oversee debtor’s credit control by issuing final reminders and 

contact customers regarding all outstanding debts. 

 

13. Manage and oversee the reconciliation of all bank accounts and operation of 

computerised cashbook system. 

 

14. To manage budgets, ensure correct coding and the production of management 

reports. 

 

15. To ensure the Town Clerk as the Responsible Finance Officer is notified 

immediately regarding any significant financial issues or occurrences as may 

occur time to time. 

 

16. To manage and oversee the asset and inventory registers ensuring all remain 

up to date and compliant.  

 

17. To obtain insurances quotes and monitor as required in line with the 

procurement of assets and other services acquired by the Town Council liaising 

with the Town Clerk / RFO. 

 

18. To monitor staff sickness, training and annual leave registers reporting to Town 

Clerk / RFO prior to the Personnel Committee meetings. 

 

19. Manage and oversee that accurate Human Resources records are applied to 

the Town Council’s BrightHR (annual leave, sickness, rotas) and BrightPay 

(payroll) software and manual files. 

 

20. Manage and administer the Local Government Pension Scheme, 

communicating to staff their entitlements and ensure the Town Council is 

abiding by current legislation. 

 

 

Page 279Page 173



Page 3 of 3 
 

21. Preparation and completion of draft financial policies for the Town Clerk / RFO 

consideration. 

 

22. Preparation and submission of all budgets and supporting reports required for 

the budget setting and precept submission working closely with the Town Clerk 

/ Responsible Finance Officer during that period and attending Town Council 

meetings as required by the Town Clerk / RFO. 

 

23. To manage the Town Council bank accounts and returns to ensure where 

possible that best value is being achieved. 

 

24. To propose new procedures to the Town Clerk / RFO in line with specialist 

financial knowledge. 

 

25. To monitor that all staff carry out financial procedures and regulations reporting 

concerns to the Town Clerk / RFO. 

 

26. To attend training courses or undertake continuous professional development 

as required by the Town Clerk  / RFO. 

 

27. To identify areas where best practice, income generation and cost saving 

initiatives can be implemented liaising with the Town Clerk / RFO. 

 

28. To be responsible for security of premises, including safe custody of premises 

keys, safe keys, and setting of security alarm when necessary. 

 

29. To undertake such duties as may arise from time to time commensurate with 

the position. 
 

 

This document, whilst outlining the duties which it is anticipated will be undertaken by the post holder, 

indicates mainly the level of responsibility.  It is not a comprehensive and exhaustive list, and the 

duties may be varied at time to time by the Town Council. 

 

Saltash Town Council has an ongoing commitment to the development of its staff.  To facilitate this, 

staff will be encouraged to update their skills and competencies as and when required. 

Page 280Page 174



Saltash Town Council Line Management Staff Structure 

Reviewed December 2024 

The Council

Office Manager / 
Assistant to the Town 

Clerk

Administration Officer 

Senior Policy & Data 
Compliance Monitoring Officer

(PT Post)

Planning and General 
Administrator

Receptionist / Mayors Secretary

Finance Officer

Finance Assistant

Service Delivery Manager

Assistant Service Delivery Manager 

Administration Assistant

(PT Post)

Service Delivery General Assistants 

x 5

Casual Caretakers x 3

(Two vacant variable posts)

Cleaner / Caretaker

(PT Post)

Community Hub Team Leader

Community Hub Assistants 
x 5

(PT Posts)

Volunteers

Development Manager 

Town Sergeant

Town Crier

Mace Bearer

Communications & 
Engagement Officer

(PT Post)

 

Town Clerk (Proper Officer) / 

Responsible Finance Officer 

(RFO)  

P
age 281

P
age 175



To review the Town Council’s Provision of IT and Acceptable Use Policy and consider 

any actions. 

 

The Provision of IT and Acceptable Use Policy was inadvertently overlooked during the 

Policy and Finance Committee's review and consideration of amendments to Town Council 

policies.  

The Administration Department has reviewed the policy and proposed amendments with 

supporting comments for Members consideration. 

 

End of report 

Office Manager / Assistant to the Town Clerk 

Page 176

Agenda Item 7



 

  

Policy Group: 
Employees/Members 

Provision of IT 
Equipment & 
Acceptable Use 

RESPONISIBLE COMMITTEE: P&F 

This is a policy/procedure document of Saltash 

Town Council to be followed by both Town 

Councillors and Employees. 

Page 177



2 
Last updated 03/2024 

Current Document Status 

Version 2024/25 Approved by ATM 

Date 02.05.2024 
Responsible 

Officer 
AJT 

Minute no. 64/24/25a(5) Next review date 
Annual or as 

required 

 

Version History 

Date Version 
Author/ 

editor 

Committee/ 

date 

Minute no. 
Notes 

03/2021 1 
AJT P&F 

09.03.2021 
173/20/21d New policy 

05/2022 1/2022 
AJT ATM 

05.05.2022 
54/22/23b(xvi) Readopted 

06/2022 2/2022 

AJT FTC 

04.08.2022 151/22/23a(g) 

Amendments re 

devices provided to 

Councillors 

05/2023 1/2023 
AJT ATM 

04.05.2023 
65/23/24a(vii) Readopted 

02.2024 
2024 

DRAFT 

SB P&F 

27.02.2024 
156/23/24a(7 

Reviewed for 

recommendation to 

FTC 03.2024 

03.2024 2024 SB FTC  

07.03.2024 

367/24/25c Recommendation 

from P&F. 

Approved. 

05.2024 2024 SB ATM 

02.05.2024 

64/24/25a(5) Readopted 

 

Document Retention Period 

Until superseded 

  

Page 178



3 
Last updated 03/2024 

Provision of IT and Acceptable IT Usage Policy 

This policy should be read in conjunction with the following: 

Information and Data Protection Policy 

Management of Transferable Data Policy 

UK GDPR and Freedom of Information Act 2000 

Data Protection Act 2018 

Computer Misuse Act 1990 

Members of staff should also refer to the Employee Handbook 

Equality and Diversity Policy  

 

Context:  

Saltash Town Council provides IT equipment to both staff and Town Councillors to 

enable them to carry out their duties effectively in Town Council buildings and when 

working from home or in the community.  

This policy is in two parts – the provision of IT equipment and the individual’s 

responsibilities when using IT. 

Scope:  

This policy sets out the correct, appropriate and expected use and care of Saltash 

Town Council computing and networking facilities, to ensure safe and reliable 

operation.  

This extends to all IT facilities including software, hardware, staff computers, Town 

Councillors devices, telephones (mobile and internal) provided and maintained by 

Saltash Town Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

Commented [DJ1]: Scope to include care of equipment 

Page 179



4 
Last updated 03/2024 

1. Provision of IT Equipment 

Virus detection is installed and managed centrally by the IT Consultant. Individuals 

must not remove or disable anti-virus software or attempt to remove virus infected 

files. These should be immediately referred to the IT Consultant via the helpdesk. 

1.1. Employees 

All employees are issued with appropriate IT equipment on commencement of 

employment with the Town Council. This may include a laptop, mobile phone, 

use of a computer in a council building, memory devices (e.g. USB) according 

to the requirements of the role.  

A unique email account, user ID and password are also issued. with an 

authentication device if appropriate. Access levels to systems and information 

will be authorised appropriate to the users’ job role. 

Employees that work remotely must download the Duo Mobile App  enable a 

two-factor authentication application (Duo Mobile) on their Town Council / 

personal mobile to access a secure connection when working remotely.  Any 

associated cost is covered by the employer not the employee.   

Saltash Town Council has adopted the use of a Mobile Device Management 

(MDM) System to streamline the usage of Town Council issued mobile devices 

to protect the data of the user and the Town Council.  Employees issued with a 

work phone should ensure it is always switched on during working hours. 

Upon termination of contract all Town Council owned property must be 

returned. The Line Manager will ensure all authorised access is promptly 

removed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commented [DJ2]: No longer issue authentication 
device - employees use personal phones which has 
been added further on in the policy.  

Commented [DJ3]: As stated above - brought in line 
with current practice  

Page 180



5 
Last updated 03/2024 

1.2. Town Councillors 

On joining the Town Council, Town Councillors will be offered a device for 

business use only. The device will run a supported operating system, with the 

capability for joining virtual meetings and accessing Town Council emails and 

information, on long term loan for the length of their tenure as a Town 

Councillor.  

The device will be procured by the Town Council and will be preloaded with 

software which will be licensed and managed by the Town Council IT 

Consultant. The specification of the device will ensure that it remains fit for 

purpose for the four-year term of the Town Council. 

The Town Council will provide all Town Councillors with a unique email 

address, user ID and password with access to selected areas of the IT system. 

On cessation of service as a Town Councillor the tablet/laptop/device must 

immediately be returned to the Town Council and all access rights will be 

rescinded.  

 

1.3. Loss/Damage 

1.3 Responsibility for Loss or Damaged Equipment: 

1.1.1. Employees 

Employees have a responsibility to take reasonable care of any device 

they are allocated, particularly when taking off site. Any loss or damage 

should be immediately reported to their Line Manager. 

1.3.1 Employee Responsibility: 

• Employees are expected to take reasonable care of the equipment 

assigned to them; 

• Any loss or damage to Town Council equipment must be reported 

immediately to the Line Manager; 

Commented [LW4]: I’ve revised the previous 
paragraph by bullet-pointing the first two sentences 
individually and adding an extra section regarding repair 
or replacement costs, including a caveat for STC 
concerning potential costs / charges incurred.  

Commented [LW5R4]: Added bullet point re: recyling 

Page 181



6 
Last updated 03/2024 

• At the end of the device's lifecycle, all data will be securely erased, and 

the device will be recycled; 

• Employees will be responsible for the repair / replacement of Town 

Council equipment if the damage or loss is due to negligence, misuse, 

or failure to follow proper handling and maintenance guidelines. 

• In the event of loss or damage Saltash Town Council reserves the right 

to cover only part or none of the costs for damage or repairs. Please 

refer to Appendix B for the process for reporting loss or damage. 

Councillors 

The Town Council will insure devices loaned to Councillors. It is accepted 

that these devices will be taken off site and Councillors have a 

responsibility to take reasonable care of the device. Any loss or damage 

should be immediately reported to the Assistant Town Clerk. Where a 

device has to be sent for repair it may be possible to provide a loan 

device, but this cannot be guaranteed. 

At the end of life of the devices it will be securely wiped of all data and 

recycled. donated to a suitable organisation for distribution to 

children/young people without access to IT for home study. 

1.3.2 Town Councillor Responsibility: 

• Town Councillors are expected to take reasonable care of the 

equipment assigned to them. 

• Any loss or damage to Saltash Town Council equipment must be 

reported immediately to the Town Clerk or in their absence the Office 

Manager / Assistant to the Town Clerk. 

• At the end of the device's lifecycle, all data will be securely erased, and 

the device will be recycled. 

• Town Councillors will be responsible for repair or replacement costs if 

the damage or loss is due to negligence, misuse, or failure to follow 

proper handling and maintenance guidelines. 

Commented [LW6]: I’ve revised the previous 
paragraph by bullet-pointing the first 3 sentences 
individually and adding an extra section regarding repair 
or replacement costs, including a caveat for STC 
concerning potential costs / charges incurred.  

Commented [LW7R6]: Added bullet point re: recyling 

Page 182



7 
Last updated 03/2024 

• In the event of loss or damage Saltash Town Council reserves the right 

to cover only part or none of the costs for damage or repairs. Please 

refer to Appendix B for the process for reporting loss or damage. 

 

 

1.3 .3 Consequences for Non-Compliance: 

• Employees who fail to report damage, misuse, or loss of equipment in a 

timely manner may be subject to disciplinary action. 

• In cases of repeated negligence or intentional damage, Saltash Town 

Council may seek to recover the costs of repair or replacement. 

 

2. Acceptable IT usage and user responsibilities 

2.1. All authorised users of Saltash Town Council computing facilities and network 

must ensure that: 

 Any breaches or suspected security incidents concerning the Town Council 

network or computing facilities must be reported immediately.1  

 Passwords, PINs or any other unique authentication credentials should not 

be disclosed to anyone under any circumstances. 

 Passwords, PINs or any other unique authentication credentials should not 

be written down anywhere.  

 You should change your password immediately if you believe it may have 

been compromised. 

 Always ‘screen lock’ any device when leaving it unattended. 

 Never attempt to perform any unauthorised changes to STC IT systems. 

 All data held on STC systems may be subject to Freedom of Information or 

Subject Access Requests. For this reason, personal use of STC computing 

and network facilities cannot be deemed to be private.  

 
1 Data breaches – Senior Policy & Data Compliance Monitoring Officer 
Security breaches – IT Consultant + Office Manager / Assistant to the Town Clerk 

Commented [LW8]: included an additional section to 
ensure responsibilities can be effectively managed and 
held accountable. 

Page 183



8 
Last updated 03/2024 

 Do not use or attempt to use another individual’s account. 

 Never exceed the limits of your authorisation or specific business need by 

attempting to access systems or information that you do not need in order to 

carry out your role. A deliberate and intentional attempt to access 

unauthorised resources breaches the Computer Misuse Act 1990. 

 If you believe you have mistakenly been granted access to IT systems, 

information or resources which are not appropriate or authorised by you, this 

should be immediately reported as a possible incident. Under no 

circumstances should you attempt to further access the 

information/resources. 

 Do not facilitate or attempt to facilitate access for anyone who is not 

authorised to access specific information or systems. 

 Never copy, store or transfer data or software owned by STC to any 

unmanaged device without the explicit written consent of the asset owner. 

 Your login ID identifies you as an individual and holds you directly 

accountable for all actions which take place under your credentials. A logged 

in session should not be shared with anyone else. 

2.2. Working off site 

 Equipment and media taken off site must not be left unattended in public 

places and not left in sight in a car. 

 Information must be protected against loss or compromise when working 

remotely. 

 Particular care should be taken with the use of mobile devices such as 

mobile phones, laptops and tables. 

2.3. Internet, Teams and Email Conditions of Use 

 Use of STC internet, Teams and email is intended for business use. Personal 

use is not permitted and all individuals are accountable for their actions on the 

internet, Teams and email systems. 

Page 184



9 
Last updated 03/2024 

 Employees: Emails must not be opened on a non STC device. Any employee 

who opens STC emails or data on a personal device unless they have prior and 

exceptional written permission from their line manager may be subject to 

disciplinary action.  

 Individuals must not: 

 Use the internet, Teams or email for purposes of harassment or abuse. 

 Use profanity, obscenities or derogatory remarks in communications. 

 Access, download, send or receive any data (including images), which STC 

considers offensive in any way, including sexually explicit, discriminatory, 

defamatory or libellous material. 

 Use the internet, Teams or email to make personal gains or conduct a 

personal business. 

 Use the internet or email to gamble. 

 Use the emails systems in a way that could affect its reliability or 

effectiveness, for example distributing chain letters or spam. 

 Place any information on the Internet that relates to STC, alter any 

information about it, or express any opinion about STC, unless they are 

specifically authorised to do this. 

 Send unprotected sensitive or confidential information externally. 

 Forward STC mail to personal (non-STC) email accounts. 

 Make official commitments through the internet, Teams or email on behalf of 

STC unless authorised to do so. 

 Download copyrighted material such as music media (MP3) files, film and 

video files (not an exhaustive list) without appropriate approval. 

 In any way infringe any copyright, database rights, trademarks or other 

intellectual property. 

 Download any software from the internet without prior approval of the IT 

Consultant. 

Page 185



10 
Last updated 03/2024 

2.4. Devices issued to Town Councillors 

Devices issued to Town Councillors are for the sole use of that Town Councillor 

and for business use only. The device must not be shared with other family 

members or loaned to other individuals. 

Personal email accounts must not be used on the device.  

All data on the device may be subject to release under the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000 and UK GDPR. It is the responsibility of the registered 

user of the device to ensure that personal data is only processed, collected or 

retained on the device within the guidance laid out in the Information and Data 

Protection Policy.  

Where requested, the device should immediately be returned to the Town 

Council.  

Please see Appendix A for Town Councillors IT Equipment Collection / 

Return Form 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 186



11 
Last updated 03/2024 

Appendix A 

IT Equipment Collection Form 

Name: Position: 

Device: Model: 

Asset Number: Serial Number: 

Condition:  

• New 

• Very Good 

• Good 

• Satisfactory 
 

Accessories:  

• Wireless mouse 

• Laptop case 

• Charging lead 
 

Details of any concerns with condition: 
 
 
 
 

Signatory: 
 

Date: 
 

Received By: 
 

Signature of Receiver: 
 

Date: 
 

I have read and agree to abide by the Provision of IT and Acceptable Use Policy. 
 
I acknowledge that this device is the property of Saltash Town Council and should be 
returned immediately if I cease to be a Town Councillor. 
 
I understand that any data on this device may be subject to release under the Freedom 
of Information Act 2000 and is subject to UK GDPR. 
 
I acknowledge that I am responsible for repair or replacement costs if the damage or 
loss is due to negligence, misuse, or failure to follow proper handling and maintenance 
guidelines. 
 
Saltash Town Council reserves the discretion to determine whether misuse, loss, or 
damage has occurred and retains the right to cover only a portion or none of the 
costs for repairing or replacing Saltash Town Council property in such cases. 
 
In the event of loss or damage please report to the Office Manager / Assistant to the 
Town Clerk. 
 
 

Page 187



12 
Last updated 03/2024 

 
 

IT Equipment Return Form 

Name: Position: 

Device: Model: 

Asset Number: Serial Number: 

Condition:  

• Excellent 

• Good 

• Fair 

• Poor 

• Damaged 

Accessories:  

• Wireless mouse 

• Laptop case 

• Charging lead 
 

 

If condition is poor / damaged please provide further information: 
 
 
 

Signatory: 
 

Date: 
 

Issued By: 
 

Signature of Issuer: 
 

Date: 
 

 
The Town Council reserves the discretion to determine whether misuse, loss, or 
damage has occurred and retains the right to cover only a portion or none of the 
costs for repairing or replacing Saltash Town Council property in such cases. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 188



13 
Last updated 03/2024 

Appendix B 

IT Equipment Incident Report Form 

If Town Council equipment is lost, damaged or stolen please complete this form and 

return to the Office Manager / Assistant to the Town Clerk. 

 

Information – To be completed by the Employee / Town Councillor 

Name: 
 

Department: 
 

Position: 
 

 

Incident Details 

Date of Incident: 
 

Time of Incident (if known): 
 

Location of Incident:  
 

Type of Equipment (Laptop, Phone, Tablet, etc.): 
 

Asset Tag/Serial Number (if applicable): 
 

Equipment Description (Brand, Model, Accessories, etc.): 
 

Description of Incident: 
(Provide a brief explanation of how the incident occurred, including any relevant 
details such as witnesses, circumstances, or evidence.) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 189



14 
Last updated 03/2024 

Action Taken 

Was the incident reported to the police? [ ] Yes [ ] No 
 
If yes, provide the police report reference number: 
 

Have IT been notified? [ ] Yes [ ] No 
 
 

Any additional steps taken: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Employee / Town Councillor Acknowledgement  

I confirm that the information provided is accurate to the best of my knowledge. 

Signature:  

Date:  

 

For Office Use Only 

Report Received By:  

Date Received:  

Action Taken:  

Further Investigation Required: [ ] Yes [ ] No 

Replacement/Recovery Plan:  

 

 

Page 190



Chairman’s report 

March 2025 

Mayoral Engagements 

Date Location Information 

Sunday 9 March Saltash Baptist Church Mayor’s Civic Service 

Friday 14 March Saltash Opening of new sensory space at 
Pixieland Nursery 

Sunday 23 March Plymouth Lord Mayor’s Civic Service 

 

Chairman’s attendance at meetings 

Date Location Information 

Tuesday 18 March Saltash Meeting with Port View and Saltash 
Health Centre 

Wednesday 19 March Liskeard Library South East Cornwall CAP meeting 

Wednesday 19 March Saltash Guildhall Healthcare Action Group 

Tuesday 25 March Cornwall South East Cornwall CAP Health and 
Wellbeing meeting 

 

 

Deputy Mayor’s engagements 

Date Location Information 

Sunday 9 March Saltash Baptist Church Mayor’s Civic Service 

 

End of Report 

Mayors Secretary  

Page 191

Agenda Item 9



Saltash Town (BS2G, BS2H, BS2C & BS2F) March 2025 March 2024 % Change

Totals 84 76 10.5%

Arson 1 1 0.0%

Burglary - Business and Community 2 0 Increase

Burglary - Residential 2 1 100.0%

Criminal Damage 9 4 125.0%

Miscellaneous Crimes Against Society 1 5 -80.0%

Other Sexual Offences 2 3 -33.3%

Other Theft 5 19 -73.7%

Possession of Drugs 2 2 0.0%

Possession of Weapons 1 2 -50.0%

Public Order Offences 7 4 75.0%

Rape 5 1 400.0%

Robbery 1 2 -50.0%

Shoplifting 5 1 400.0%

Stalking and Harassment 13 10 30.0%

Theft from the Person 2 0 Increase

Trafficking of Drugs 1 3 -66.7%

Vehicle Offences 3 0 Increase

Violence with Injury 9 8 12.5%

Violence without Injury 13 10 30.0%

Increase in RED                          Decrease in GREEN

Page 192

Agenda Item 10



South East Cornwall Community Area Partnership 
 

Information Classification: PUBLIC 

Action Notes 

Meeting: South East Cornwall Community Area Partnership  

Date & time: Tuesday 4 March 2025 (6.00-7.45pm)          

Location: Liskeard Library 

Attendance & apologies: See attendance list attached 

 

Item Notes 

1. Introduction and Welcome 

• The CAP Chair, Cornwall Councillor Jane Pascoe welcomed all present.  
 

2. Declarations of Interest 

• There were no declarations of interest.  
 

3. Action Notes (3 December 2024) 

• The notes of the last meeting were agreed as a correct record.  
 

4. Public Participation 

• There were no members of the public present. 
 

5. Police – update from Sector Inspector Ned Bowie 

• Sector Inspector Ned Bowie was temporarily covering for Sector Inspector 
Martin Whitehouse and was welcomed to the meeting. 

• An update was provided on current issues - please see attached report. 

• Thanks were extended to the Sector Inspector and team for their prompt 
action in addressing the road safety issues at Gilston Road, Saltash and for 
their invaluable engagement work with businesses and the community 
through Safer Saltash.  

• Cllr Gibbons to liaise with the Sector Inspector regarding current issues at 
Downderry beach. 

• Cllr Frank updated on Community Speedwatch.  The Saltash Team was now 
operational following training of its 6 volunteers. ACTION (CT): Agreed 
Community Speedwatch would be an agenda item for the next meeting for 
interested parishes to find out more.  
 

6. Affordable Housing Need and Delivery – Nick Marsden, Affordable Housing 
Delivery Manager, Cornwall Council 

• The CAP was given an overview of the Cornwall Council Affordable Housing 
service and the support available for delivering local needs affordable 
dwellings. 

• Please see attached presentation.  

• Concerns were expressed from Landulph Parish Council regarding the 
implications of s106 agreements being discharged from applications, 
particularly when there was a proven demand for local housing as stated in 

Page 193

Agenda Item 12



South East Cornwall Community Area Partnership 
 

Information Classification: PUBLIC 

the parish housing survey. It was further highlighted that there was an 
intermediary need for those who were just below the threshold for 
affordable housing. This issue was recognised and would be addressed 
through multi-tenures in the new Homechoice Policy to be launched on the 
1st April 2025. 

• A register of interest for self and custom builds was available via the 
Cornwall Council website: 
https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/fees-and-
additional-services/self-and-custom-build-register/ 

• Cllr Gibbons thanked the Affordable Housing team for helping Deviock 
Parish Council form a Community Land Trust to create affordable homes 
that meet local need. A detailed viability study was being undertaken on 
the Coombe Park Project and recognition was given to the Community Led 
Housing – Early Stage Feasibility Fund.  It was hoped this fund would 
continue and confirmation was awaited.  

• Over the last 12 months, 774 affordable homes were delivered across 
Cornwall. An information pack including a detailed breakdown of the 
housing figures for the South East Cornwall CAP is attached. 

• The Affordable Housing team were keen to work together with parishes to 
help develop solutions that address local need. Sally Henthorn was noted 
as the contact officer for the South East Cornwall CAP area – 
sally.henthorn@cornwall.gov.uk   

• Thanks were extended to Nick for his helpful and informative presentation.  
 

7. Transport/infrastructure  
 
Tamar 2050  

• Please see attached update provided by Les Allen, Programme Director. 

• It was understood the first Stakeholder Panel would be held in early April. 
ACTION (ALL): The CAP was asked to let Catherine know of any potential 
stakeholder groups that should be included.  

• Tamar Bridge and Torpoint Ferry Joint Committee had requested progress 
update reports on Tamar 2050 at future meetings.  

• Next meeting of the Tamar Bridge and Torpoint Ferry Joint Committee to 
be held on 7 March 2025.  Supporting papers available to view at:  
Tamar Bridge and Torpoint Ferry Joint Committee - Cornwall Council 

• A decision was still awaited from the Secretary of State on the Toll 
Revision.  
 

Safety improvements between Carkeel and Trerulefoot – update from National 
Highways via Catherine Thomson  

• National Highways, the Police and Cornwall Council had confirmed the A38 
Trerulefoot to Carkeel safety measures package, which were outlined at 
the last South East Cornwall CAP meeting.  

Page 194

https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/fees-and-additional-services/self-and-custom-build-register/
https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/fees-and-additional-services/self-and-custom-build-register/
mailto:sally.henthorn@cornwall.gov.uk
https://democracy.cornwall.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=620&Year=0


South East Cornwall Community Area Partnership 
 

Information Classification: PUBLIC 

• The scheme would comprise 10 average speed camera installations and 
two new spot speed cameras – while two bi-directional speed cameras will 
enforce the new 30mph speed restrictions through Landrake and Tideford. 
https://www.cornish-times.co.uk/news/campaigners-welcome-new-
scheme-to-improve-safety-on-the-a38-770364 

• The CAP welcomed this announcement and the excellent collaborative 
approach to reduce the safety risks along this stretch of road. 

 
Saltash Tunnel works and timetable – update from National Highways via 
Catherine Thomson  

• National Highways had confirmed the timetable of works was delayed until 
September 2025.  This followed representations by the CAP led by Cllr 
Gibbons to avoid the peak summer period.  Thanks were extended to all 
concerned.   

• Access issues at Saltash Station were highlighted due to the large gap 
between the train and platform as covered by BBC Radio Spotlight - Wide 
gap at Cornwall rail station should be fixed - wheelchair user - BBC News  
Network Rail was working with local authorities to source funding to make 
improvements to the platform. 

 
Tamar Bridge & Torpoint Ferry – update from CC Martin Worth 

• Discussed under earlier agenda item. 
 

8. Town and Parish Councils 
 
Lanteglos-by-Fowey – Second homes Council Tax premium 

• Question raised by Cllr Rob Rooney: “I would like to raise a matter which 
was discussed at Lanteglos-by-Fowey Parish Council last night which had 
been brought to our notice by another council in Cornwall.  It concerns the 
second home council tax premium and the way it is distributed. It seems 
areas with few or no second homes do not benefit, which seems unfair. 
Also, it is proposed that any second home premium gathered in should be 
ring-fenced for the purpose of alleviating the housing crisis in Cornwall. 

• The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cllr Harris had replied to Redruth Town 
Council clarifying that the suggestion “Cornwall Council considers a much 
fairer way of proportioning the proceeds figures for the new second home 
council tax premiums” was not within their powers and that “Cornwall 
Council cannot redistribute the precepts from local councils with high 
numbers of second homes to local councils with lower numbers. It would 
be unlawful to do so”.   ACTION (CT): Cllr Harris’ reply to be circulated to 
the CAP. 
 

Torpoint Town Council – “Park venue of the year” 

Page 195

https://www.cornish-times.co.uk/news/campaigners-welcome-new-scheme-to-improve-safety-on-the-a38-770364
https://www.cornish-times.co.uk/news/campaigners-welcome-new-scheme-to-improve-safety-on-the-a38-770364
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/articles/crkn2p5zmd4o
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/articles/crkn2p5zmd4o


South East Cornwall Community Area Partnership 
 

Information Classification: PUBLIC 

• The Chair was pleased to congratulate Torpoint Town Council who had just 
been awarded “Park venue of the year” by the Lawn Tennis Association 
Cornwall for their work at the tennis courts at Thanckes Park – and will 
now go through to the shortlist for a national award. 
 

St Cleer Parish Council – Highways 
• Access road to 9 properties - obstructive parking due to lack of available 

spaces causing access issues. Possible consideration for future Highways 
Scheme was queried.  

• The CAP was advised that the Highways Scheme would be a future agenda 
item once the funding and criteria was confirmed.   

 

20mph roll out 

• St Neot – awaiting outcome of request to extend the boundary and when 
changes would be introduced. 

• Saltash - awaiting outcome of request to extend 20mph from Forder to 
Antony. 

• Post meeting note:  CT has liaised with the programme delivery team. The 
consultation results were currently being collated and reviewed and a 
report would be published by the end of March.  All towns and parishes 
linked into this would then be further informed. 

 
Maker with Rame Parish Council – Cawsand Car Park (post-meeting update) 

• The Parish Council has received confirmation from Cornwall Council that, 
taking into account the various representations, Cawsand Car Park will not 
be removed from the parking order and will stay under council control. 
  

9. Working Group - updates and consider any recommendations  
 
9.1 - Tamar to Moor and South East Cornwall Health & Wellbeing working group 
(update by CC Hilary Frank) 

• Working group to meet with Tryphaena Doyle, Place Director for North & 
East, NHS Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Integrated Care Board on 25 March. 
 

9.2 - Transport & Connectivity working group (update by CC Armand Toms)  

• The group discussed ongoing issues including the safety package and 
Saltash Tunnel works.  

• Cllr Peggs was pleased to update that 2 extra daily trains from Penzance to 
Paddington would be stopping at Saltash.  
 

9.3 - Economic Development working group (update by Cllr Adrian Cole) 

• The group had not formally met since the last CAP meeting, however, a 
meeting was arranged for 13 March to discuss concerns in respect of the 

Page 196



South East Cornwall Community Area Partnership 
 

Information Classification: PUBLIC 

published Growth Strategy with key Cornwall Council officers. The group 
would circulate outcomes and next steps following the meeting. 
 

10. Cornwall Council Residents Survey 

• Cornwall Council had recently published the results of its Residents’ Survey  
Resident Survey 2024 Full Version 

• Please contact CT if you have any queries. 
 

11. Addiction Support 

• Following a request, it was suggested that a market stall networking 
session could be held prior to the next CAP meeting to share support 
information available. ACTION (CT/JP): CLO and Chair to further discuss.  
 

12. Any other business 

• As this was the last meeting prior to the elections, the CAP Chair thanked 
Cornwall Councillors Armand Toms, Martin Worth and Colin Martin who 
were not standing for re-election and for their service to their 
communities. 

• Cllr Toms also wished to record thanks to the CAP Chair and Vice Chair, CLT 
Representative, Community Link Officer and Community Support Assistant 
for all their help and support. 

 

13. Next meeting date 

• Tuesday 1 July 2025 (AGM). 
 

 
  

Page 197

https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/media/ivffovgn/resident-survey-2024-full-version-v1.pdf


South East Cornwall Community Area Partnership 
 

Information Classification: PUBLIC 

South East Cornwall Community Area Partnership 
Attendance List: 4 March 2025  

 

Representatives Record of Attendance  

Cornwall Councillors 

Nick Craker (Liskeard Central) Apologies received 

Sharon Daw (Lynher) Not present 

Kate Ewert (Rame Peninsula & St Germans) Apologies received 

Jim Candy (Looe West, Pelynt, Lansallos & Lanteglos) Present 

Hilary Frank (Saltash Essa) Present 

Sheila Lennox-Boyd (Saltash Tamar) Present 

Colin Martin (Lostwithiel & Lanreath) Not present 

Jane Pascoe (Liskeard South & Dobwalls) Present 

Phil Seeva (St Cleer & Menheniot) Not present 

John Tivnan (Torpoint) Apologies received 

Armand Toms (Looe East & Deviock) Present 

Martin Worth (Saltash Trematon & Landrake) Present 

Town & Parish Councils (Town & Parish Councils are in the process of appointing their single named 
voting representatives to the CAPs; where these have been confirmed by the Clerk, these are shown 
below)  

Antony Parish Council Not present 

Botus Fleming Parish Council: Apologies received from Councillor 
Malcolm Fletcher 

Apologies received 

Deviock Parish Council: Councillor Mark Gibbons (named representative)  Present 

Dobwalls Parish Council: Councillor Tracey Kitto Present 

Duloe Parish Council Not present 

Landrake-with-St Erney Parish Council: Councillor Rosemary Savery Present 

Landulph Parish Council: Councillor Libby Gawith (named representative) 
and Councillor Clare Tagg 

Present 

Lanreath Parish Council: Councillor David Heard (named representative) Present 

Lanteglos-by-Fowey Parish Council: Councillor Rob Rooney (named 
representative) 

Present 

Liskeard Town Council: Councillor Christina Whitty (named 
representative) 

Present 

Looe Town Council: Apologies received from Councillor James Lundy 
(named representative) 

Apologies received 

Maker with Rame Parish Council: Councillor Lin Stewart-Birch (named 
representative) 

Present 

Menheniot Parish Council: Apologies received from Councillor Adrian 
Cole (named representative)  

Apologies received 

Millbrook Parish Council: Apologies received from Councillor Nicky 
Roberts (named representative) 

Apologies received 

Morval Parish Council Not present 

Pelynt Parish Council Not present 

Polperro Community Council Not present 

Quethiock Parish Council: Councillor John Blatchford (named 
representative) 

Present 

Saltash Town Council: Councillor Julia Peggs (named representative) and 
Councillor Steve Miller 

Present  

Sheviock Parish Council: Councillor Paul Stone Present 

St Cleer Parish Council: Councillor Sue Harbord and Katie Marie-
Goodwright (Clerk) 

Present 

Page 198



South East Cornwall Community Area Partnership 
 

Information Classification: PUBLIC 

St Germans Parish Council: Councillor Nigel Witton and Councillor Alan 
Hodge 

Present 

St John Parish Council Not present 

St Keyne & Trewidland Parish Council: Apologies received from Councillor 
Kevin Shovelton (named representative) 

Apologies received 

St Martin-by-Looe Parish Council: Councillor Barbara Reynolds and 
Councillor Roberta Powley 

Present 

St Neot Parish Council: Councillor Thomas Thrussell (named 
representative) 

Present 

St Pinnock Parish Council: Councillor Julian Dingle (named representative) Present 

Torpoint Town Council: Councillor Gary Davis (named representative) Present 

Warleggan Parish Meeting Not present 

 
Representatives of other organisations present at this meeting  

Devon & Cornwall Police: Sector Inspector Ned Bowie 

Cornwall Council: Nick Marsden, Affordable Housing Delivery Manager 

 
Members of the public 

No members of the public were present. 

 
Community Area Partnership officer team 

Catherine Thomson (Community Link Officer, Cornwall Council) Present 

Lisa Grigg (Community Support Assistant, Cornwall Council) Present 

Louise Wood (Cornwall Council Leadership Team Representative/Service 
Director – Planning & Housing, Cornwall Council) 

Present 

 
Apologies for absence received from representatives of other organisations 

Safe38: James Millidge 

 

Page 199



TO RECEIVE A REPORT FROM SALTASH CHAMBER OF COMMERCE AND 

CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 

 

 

 
                                                CHAIRMAN PETER RYLAND 

 

 

 

 

                                                 

CHAMBER REPORT 

 

The next Chamber meeting is not until next Monday so there is no report of the meeting itself 

but the Chairman has been active during the month including involvement in a meeting re. 

the Christmas Lights switch on with the Mayor and Deputy who were also involved when he 

attended a meeting with Corserve re. the transfer of some Cornwall car parks thereto 

including Belle Vue Road West. 

 

At both of these meetings Hilary Frank was in attendance and thanks to her efforts, as a 

Chamber member, we ran the Magic Tenner promotion in Saltash. This was part of a national 

campaign to promote Shop Local and ran for the first two weeks of March. Hilary managed 

to persuade 27 shopkeepers to take part and offers included cakes and tea for 2 at the 

Bookshelf, jacket potato, cake and hot drink at Trackside Café, 2 pairs of earrings from 

Sapphira Jewellers and handcrafted goodies from Lovingly Local. This has proved very 

popular and the Chamber is now giving thought as to how to do similar promotions 

throughout the year to encourage customers to local traders. We are also looking at other 

possibilities of supporting/promoting local businesses. 

 

 

End Of Report 

 

Peter Ryland 

CHAIRMAN 

 

 

 

Page 200

Agenda Item 14



 

 

To receive an update on the future of the health care in Saltash and consider 
any actions and associated expenditure. 

 
Health Action Group - Progress Report to Saltash Town Council 
 
Very brief update this time. I was personally unable to attend the meeting held on 
March 19. I am summarising below the key points from the draft notes of the 
meeting: 
 
• The meeting was mainly focussed on the development of the Care Closer to 

Home strategy of Plymouth Hospitals. More out-patient services and clinics will 
be provided, but not yet in Saltash. The initial base is likely to be Liskeard 
Hospital. 

• There is no NHS capital to support a rebuild of Saltash Health Centre in the 
foreseeable future. 

• The Action Group needs to work further on options for the extended use of the St 
Barnabas site.  

• Provision of blood testing in the town to supplement what the two Practices 
provide has not yet been settled. ICB still working on a solution. 

• Other topics still pending: dentistry, proceeds of sale of Peninsula House 
 
Securing extended use of the St Barnabas site for local patients is our most urgent 
task, in my opinion. 
 
I am sure Councillors who were present at the meeting will add their own comments 
and clarifications. 
 
End of Report 
 
Peter Thistlethwaite 
Port View Surgery PPG 
April 1 2025 

Page 201

Agenda Item 16



Bank Receipts
Saltash Town Council
For the period 1 February 2025 to 28 February 2025

Contact Description Net VAT Gross

Barclays Active Saver Transfer of funds for future expenditure and salaries 140,000.00£     -£                  140,000.00£     

Churchtown Allotments Allotment rent income 11.30£              -£                  11.30£              

Churchtown Allotments Allotment Deposit Income 50.00£              -£                  50.00£              

Churchtown Cemetery Interment Fees 1,589.00£         -£                  1,589.00£         

Cornwall Council Removal services for a large tree 80.00£              16.00£              96.00£              

EE Cash back from phone contracts 5.00£                -£                  5.00£                

Eventbrite Murder Mystery Ticket Sales income (less fees) 263.20£            -£                  263.20£            

HMRC VAT refund received from HMRC for period 01 Oct 2024 - 31 Dec 2024 33,752.58£       -£                  33,752.58£       

Isambard House Various Bookings 1,382.50£         276.50£            1,659.00£         

Isambard House Refreshment Income 66.67£              13.33£              80.00£              

Library Income Replacement Card Fees 1.25£                0.25£                1.50£                

Library Income Photocopying Fees 157.45£            31.49£              188.94£            

Maurice Huggins Room Various Bookings 120.00£            -£                  120.00£            

Murder Mystery Night Ticket Income 245.00£            49.00£              294.00£            

Nationwide Account Transfer of Funds and re-invested in short-term investment 300,000.00£     -£                  300,000.00£     

Public Sector Deposit Bank Interested 2,002.87£         -£                  2,002.87£         

Saltash Community 
Shed

Refund of Community Chest Grant Remaining money 72/74/25 P&F - 
24/09/2024

75.01£              -£                  75.01£              

St Stephen Parish 
Church

Interment Fees 1,400.00£         -£                  1,400.00£         

Grand Total 481,201.83£     386.57£            481,588.40£     

Page 202

Agenda Item 18a



Bank Payments
Saltash Town Council
For the period 1 February 2025 to 28 February 2025

Contact Description Net VAT Gross

All Seasons Window Cleaning Station Window Cleaning - January 2025 35.00£              -£                  35.00£              

Allstar Business Solutions 
Limited

Fuel for Town Council Service Delivery Vehicles 116.07£            23.21£              139.28£            

Anglotech Group Limited 
(Previously Print Copy Scan 
Ltd)

Prints for Photocopiers 20/12/2024 to 28/01/2025 222.82£            44.57£              267.39£            

AQUA ROD (South West) Ltd Completed CCTV survey of drains as requested on 20/01/2025 150.00£            30.00£              180.00£            

Barclays Bank Charges 8.54£                -£                  8.54£                

Barclays Active Saver Transfer of Funds for future investments 140,000.00£     -£                  140,000.00£     

BrightHR Provisions of HR Software - February 2025 78.00£              15.60£              93.60£              

Carlton Plastics (SW) Ltd Repair Materials - Longstone Depot 48.22£              9.64£                57.86£              

CEF Plymouth Central Maintenance Materials - Pontoon 17.50£              3.50£                21.00£              

Chubb Fire Ltd Fire Safety equipment Servicing Fees 404.65£            80.93£              485.58£            

Chubb Fire Ltd Fire Extinguisher Servicing Fees 260.53£            52.10£              312.63£            

Cleansing Service Group Ltd Waterside Cabin - Cleaning and disposal costs 176.40£            -£                  176.40£            

Cornwall Council Insurance for Longstone Garage and Depot  -  February 2025 15.00£              -£                  15.00£              

Cornwall Council Rent for Longstone Garage and Depot  -  February 2025 375.00£            -£                  375.00£            

Cornwall Council Deposit Fund Transfer of Funds for future investments 230,000.00£     -£                  230,000.00£     

Cornwall Pensions Cornwall Pensions Fund Payment - February 2025 12,677.35£       -£                  12,677.35£       

Credit Card Purchases 
(Amazon)

Saline Eye Wash Pods for Service Delivery use 6.39£                1.28£                7.67£                

Credit Card Purchases 
(Amazon)

Batteries for Fire alarms - Guildhall 12.91£              2.58£                15.49£              

Credit Card Purchases 
(Amazon)

Refreshment Cost - Guildhall 13.96£              -£                  13.96£              

Credit Card Purchases 
(Amazon)

Plastic Storage Containers - Station 9.00£                1.80£                10.80£              

Credit Card Purchases 
(Amazon)

4 x poster stands for Library 119.60£            23.92£              143.52£            

Credit Card Purchases 
(Amazon)

Office Cost - Library 120.20£            24.04£              144.24£            

Credit Card Purchases 
(Amazon)

Activities Cost - Library 6.66£                1.33£                7.99£                

Credit Card Purchases 
(Amazon)

Office Cost - Longstone Depot 18.89£              3.77£                22.66£              

Credit Card Purchases 
(Amazon)

Packaging Tape 4.99£                1.00£                5.99£                

Credit Card Purchases 
(Barclaycard)

Card Fees 96.00£              -£                  96.00£              

Credit Card Purchases (St John 
Ambulance)

First Aid Items - P&F 97.15£              19.43£              116.58£            

Credit Card Purchases (Xero 
(UK) Ltd

Subscription - 01/01/2025 to 31/01/2025 33.00£              6.60£                39.60£              

Dainton Group Services Rent for Waterside Cabin and Effluent Tank 300.00£            60.00£              360.00£            

Denmans Electrical maintenance  Equipment Churchtown Cemetery Site 147.38£            29.48£              176.86£            

Denmans Electric Maintenance materials - Guildhall top office 23.08£              4.62£                27.70£              

Denmans Refund for returned goods 13.54-£              2.70-£                16.24-£              

Denmans New Lights In Female First Floor Toilets Guildhall 84.26£              16.86£              101.12£            

Denmans Electrical maintenance Materials - Guildhall 45.51£              9.10£                54.61£              

Denmans Light replacement for Guildhall First Floor Men's toilet 56.18£              11.23£              67.41£              

Different View Photography Full day's photography, editing and kit hire 785.00£            -£                  785.00£            

Page 203

Agenda Item 18b



Contact Description Net VAT Gross

EE Staff mobiles and Pontoon broadband charges 119.46£            23.89£              143.35£            

Efficient Comms Ltd Starlink monthly rental - November 2024 75.00£              15.00£              90.00£              

Efficient Comms Ltd Starlink monthly rental - December 2024 75.00£              15.00£              90.00£              

Efficient Comms Ltd Starlink monthly rental - January 2025 75.00£              15.00£              90.00£              

Efficient Comms Ltd Starlink monthly rental - February 2025 75.00£              15.00£              90.00£              

Efficient Comms Ltd Telephone Call and Service Charges - January 2025 247.18£            49.44£              296.62£            

Efficient Comms Ltd IT Equipment - Guildhall 95.00£              19.00£              114.00£            

EON Electricity Charges - 01/01/2025 - 31/01/2025 564.79£            112.96£            677.75£            

Hays Specialist Recruitment Ltd Admin officer Staffing hours Week Commencing 06/01/2025 714.80£            142.96£            857.76£            

Hays Specialist Recruitment Ltd Admin officer Staffing hours Week Commencing 13/01/2025 181.73£            36.35£              218.08£            

HMRC PAYE payment - February 2025 17,200.30£       -£                  17,200.30£       

HR Support Consultancy HR Services for work carried out during the month of December 2024 723.45£            144.69£            868.14£            

Hudson Accounting Ltd 2024/25 Interim Audit 600.00£            -£                  600.00£            

Imagine office Supplies Ltd New desks for Guildhall staff 1,081.33£         216.26£            1,297.59£         

Jackman SW Limited Service to Guildhall Air conditioning unit 148.50£            29.70£              178.20£            

Jackman SW Limited Annual GAS SAFE Inspection And Service On Guildhall Boilers 117.00£            23.40£              140.40£            

Jackman SW Limited Annual GAS SAFE Inspection And Service On Isambard House Gas Boiler 97.00£              19.40£              116.40£            

Jackman SW Limited Annual GAS SAFE Inspection And Service On Library Hub Boilers 211.50£            42.30£              253.80£            

Laser - Cemetery - 1051640 Electricity Charges - 01/09/2024 to 30/11/2024 85.72£              4.29£                90.01£              

Laser - Christmas Light supply 
Point 1

Electricity Charges - 01/06/2024 to 31/08/2024 81.92£              4.10£                86.02£              

Laser - Christmas Light supply 
Point 2

Electricity Charges - 01/03/2024 to 31/05/2024 102.58£            5.13£                107.71£            

Laser - Christmas Light supply 
Point 6

Electricity Charges - 01/09/2024 to 30/11/2024 87.79£              4.39£                92.18£              

Laser - Christmas Lights Supply 
Point 5

Electricity Charges - 01/06/2024 to 31/08/2024 99.24£              4.96£                104.20£            

Laser - Christmas Lights Supply 
Point 5

Electricity Charges - 01/09/2024 to 30/11/2024 98.96£              4.95£                103.91£            

Laser - Guildhall Gas Gas Charges - 31/10/2024 to 30/11/2024 282.57£            56.51£              339.08£            

Laser - Guildhall Gas Gas Charges - 30/11/2024 to 31/12/2024 434.56£            86.91£              521.47£            

Laser - Library Electric Electricity Charges - 01/06/2024 to 31/08/2024 1,131.72£         226.34£            1,358.06£         

Laser - Library Gas Gas Charges - 31/12/2024 to 31/01/2025 451.84£            90.37£              542.21£            

Laser - Library Gas Gas Charges - 30/09/2024 to 30/11/2024 267.57£            13.38£              280.95£            

Laser - Library Gas Gas Charges - 30/11/2024 to 31/12/2024 229.15£            11.46£              240.61£            

Laser - Longstone Park Depot Electricity Charges - 01/06/2024 to 31/08/2024 309.46£            15.47£              324.93£            

Laser - Longstone Park Depot Electricity Charges - 01/09/2024 to 30/11/2024 401.96£            20.10£              422.06£            

Laser - Station Gas Gas Charges - 30/11/2024 to 31/12/2024 44.45£              2.22£                46.67£              

Laser - Station Gas Gas Charges - 31/10/2024 to 30/11/2024 41.92£              2.10£                44.02£              

Laser - The Maurice Huggins 
Room

Electricity Charges - 01/09/2024 to 30/11/2024 214.13£            10.71£              224.84£            

Laser - Unmetered supply Electricity Charges - 01/12/2024 to 31/12/2024 20.16£              1.01£                21.17£              

Laser - Unmetered supply Electricity Charges - 01/01/2025 to 31/01/2025 20.53£              1.03£                21.56£              

Laser- Belle Vue Toilets Electricity Charges - 01/06/2024 to 31/08/2024 97.38£              4.87£                102.25£            

Laser- Belle Vue Toilets Electricity Charges - 01/09/2024 to 30/11/2024 93.55£              4.68£                98.23£              

Page 204



Contact Description Net VAT Gross

Laser -Guildhall Electric Electricity Charges - 01/06/2024 to 31/08/2024 1,175.33£         235.07£            1,410.40£         

Laser -Guildhall Electric Electricity Charges - 01/09/2024 to 30/11/2024 1,260.72£         252.14£            1,512.86£         

Laser- Haldo Pillar Park light Electricity Charges - 01/06/2024 to 31/08/2024 84.29£              4.21£                88.50£              

Minster Cleaning (South West 
Commercial Cleaning Ltd)

Opening, closing and cleaning of Saltash Town Council toilet blocks for 
January 2025

2,914.25£         582.85£            3,497.10£         

Ocean Safety Ltd Lifejacket Survey Fee 39.93£              7.99£                47.92£              

Opayo (previously Sage) Card Machine Charges 13.00£              2.60£                15.60£              

Poolside café Saltash Refreshments for GWR Meeting at Isambard 54.00£              -£                  54.00£              

Richard Ough's Motor Services MOT Repair works to Service Delivery Work van 836.10£            155.50£            991.60£            

Richard Ough's Motor Services Service On Service Delivery Tipper Van. 216.49£            43.29£              259.78£            

Roadware Ltd Yellow 169 Litre Grit Storage Bin 95.95£              19.19£              115.14£            

Robert Mcneil Emergency tree works - Waterside Slipway And Pillmere Estate 370.00£            -£                  370.00£            

Saltash & District Observer Town Messenger - December 2024 330.00£            -£                  330.00£            

Saltash & District Observer Town Messenger - January 2025 330.00£            -£                  330.00£            

Saltash Floral Art Club Purchase of Gazebo - Community Chest Grant  - 131/24/25 150.00£            -£                  150.00£            

Security Management South 
West Ltd

Annual keyholding charge for out of hours monitoring for the following sites: 
Guildhall, Isambard House, Longstone Depot, Maurice Huggins Room, 
Saltash Library, STC Waterside Office & Churchtown Cemetery.

1,166.41£         233.28£            1,399.69£         

SLCC Enterprises Ltd 13th edition of the Arnold Baker on Local Council Administration book 142.40£            -£                  142.40£            

SOS Consultancy Monthly ICT Support and Maintenance Services 1,373.89£         274.78£            1,648.67£         

SOS Consultancy Dell 15.6" Series Business Laptop and delivery 693.50£            138.70£            832.20£            

SOS Consultancy Dell Dual Monitor Docking Station 165.00£            33.00£              198.00£            

SOS Consultancy Dell 24" HD Monitor 290.00£            58.00£              348.00£            

SOS Consultancy Dell Keyboard + Mouse 38.00£              7.60£                45.60£              

South West Hygiene
Sanitary Bin and Nappy Disposal Units Rental - Isambard House - 
28/03/2025-27/03/2026

325.13£            65.03£              390.16£            

South West Hygiene
Sanitary Bin and Nappy Disposal Units Rental - Library - 19/03/2025 - 
18/03/2026

60.92£              12.18£              73.10£              

South West Surfacing 
Specialists Ltd

Purchase and installation of crash barrier and Cornish bollards as part of the 
Isambard House car park refurbishment work

4,500.00£         900.00£            5,400.00£         

South West Water - Fairmead 
Road

Water Charges 27/09/2024 to 26/11/2024 15.83£              -£                  15.83£              

South West Water - Guildhall Water and Sewerage Charges - 25/09/2024 to 26/11/2024 124.09£            -£                  124.09£            

South West Water - Library Water and Sewerage Charges - 03/01/2025 - 04/02/2025 18.98£              -£                  18.98£              

South West Water - Longstone 
Depot - Connection to Bowling 
Green

Water and Sewerage  Charges 03/01/2025 - 04/02/2025 30.35£              2.52£                32.87£              

South West Water - Longstone 
Toilets - Connection to Bowling 
Pavilion

Water and Sewerage  Charges 03/01/2025 - 04/02/2025 246.25£            18.98£              265.23£            

South West Water - Maurice 
Huggins Room

Water and Sewerage Charges - 03/01/2025 - 04/02/2025 18.98£              1.65£                20.63£              

Spectrum floor-site Ltd
New LVT Flooring And Adhesive LVT Glue For Installation In Cupboard 
Down Stairs In The Guildhall

45.00£              9.00£                54.00£              

Spot-On-Supplies Cleaning Supplies - Longstone Depot 95.24£              19.05£              114.29£            

Spot-On-Supplies Cleaning Supplies - Isambard House 28.36£              5.67£                34.03£              

Spot-On-Supplies Cleaning Supplies -Guildhall 12.93£              2.59£                15.52£              

SSG Training & Consultancy IOSH working Safely course for SDGA 200.00£            40.00£              240.00£            

Staff Expenses Extra keys cut for beehive padlocks 10.00£              -£                  10.00£              

Page 205



Contact Description Net VAT Gross

Staff Expenses Business mileage for Assistant Service Delivery Manager January 2025 202.85£            -£                  202.85£            

Staff Expenses Western Morning Newspaper - 03/01/2025 - 31/01/2025 33.50£              -£                  33.50£              

Staff Expenses Refreshment Costs - for Window Launch and Plougastel Forum 16.03£              -£                  16.03£              

Staff Salaries Staff Salaries 41,949.19£       -£                  41,949.19£       

Starboard Systems Ltd t/a 
Scribe Accounts

Scribe Allotments Subscription Fee (2025) 420.00£            84.00£              504.00£            

Stripe Card Processing fees 15.74£              -£                  15.74£              

Tartendown Nursery Queen Elizabeth roses 89.94£              17.99£              107.93£            

Thirsty Work Water Cooler Hire & water - February 2024 199.90£            39.98£              239.88£            

Timberland Landscaping and 
Supplies

Gate furnishings required for the fencing of the bee hives at Churchtown 
Allotments

15.80£              3.16£                18.96£              

Timberland Landscaping and 
Supplies

Grounds Maintenance Materials 35.49£              7.10£                42.59£              

Timberland Landscaping and 
Supplies

Posts to be used for memorial headstone safety 115.00£            23.00£              138.00£            

Tool station Tool consumables - Longstone Depot 10.29£              2.05£                12.34£              

Tool station Tool consumables - Longstone Depot 15.03£              3.00£                18.03£              

Tool station Tool consumables - Longstone Depot 31.66£              6.33£                37.99£              

Tool station Repair Materials - Guildhall 5.97£                1.19£                7.16£                

Tool station Tool consumables - Longstone Depot 24.84£              4.97£                29.81£              

Tool station FFP3 Moulded Valved Disposable Face Mask for Service Delivery use 3.55£                0.71£                4.26£                

Tool station Tool consumables - Longstone Depot 23.80£              4.76£                28.56£              

Tool station Plumbing Materials To Complete Job In Toilet at Longstone Depot. 41.59£              8.32£                49.91£              

Tool station Tools And Equipment Consumables Service Delivery Department. 32.41£              6.48£                38.89£              

Trade UK Account Maintenance Materials - Public Toilet 16.66£              3.33£                19.99£              

Trade UK Account Safety Boots for Service Delivery Staff 69.99£              -£                  69.99£              

Trade UK Account Safety equipment for Service Delivery Staff 18.32£              3.67£                21.99£              

Trade UK Account Maintenance Materials - Isambard House 49.99£              10.00£              59.99£              

Trade UK Account
New Toilet And Floor Paint For Longstone Depot Staff Toilet Refurbishment 
Project

171.48£            34.31£              205.79£            

Travis Perkins Trading 
Company Ltd

Additional Wood For Cupboard Installation At Guildhall First Floor 60.54£              12.11£              72.65£              

Travis Perkins Trading 
Company Ltd

Screws and Door Frame Architrave To Complete New Cupboard Doors 38.23£              7.64£                45.87£              

Travis Perkins Trading 
Company Ltd

Cleaning Materials - Guildhall 33.15£              6.63£                39.78£              

Travis Perkins Trading 
Company Ltd

Floor Self Levelling Screed for use at Longstone Depot Staff Toilet 14.66£              2.93£                17.59£              

Travis Perkins Trading 
Company Ltd

Paint And Roller Set To Clean Up Interior On New Cupboard Installation 
Work

37.58£              7.52£                45.10£              

Travis Perkins Trading 
Company Ltd

Blocks For New Installation Plaque At Victoria Gardens 5.43£                1.09£                6.52£                

Tudor Environmental Grounds Maintenance Materials 198.35£            39.67£              238.02£            

Tudor Environmental Grounds Maintenance Materials 105.93£            21.19£              127.12£            

UK Identity Ltd ID Badge for staff member 11.40£              1.75£                13.15£              

UK Identity Ltd ID Card for new staff members 9.20£                1.50£                10.70£              

Viking Direct Dehumidifier for Town Clerk's Office 85.49£              17.10£              102.59£            

Viking Direct Mouse mat for Planning and General Administrator 3.99£                0.80£                4.79£                

Viking Direct Green paper for committee minutes 38.03£              7.60£                45.63£              

Page 206



Contact Description Net VAT Gross

Viking Direct Office Cost - Library 40.43£              8.09£                48.52£              

Viking Direct Office Costs - Longstone 21.45£              4.29£                25.74£              

Westcountry Skip Hire 27/01/2025 Disposal of Skip Waste 321.00£            64.20£              385.20£            

Westcountry Skip Hire 27/01/2025 Disposal of Skip Waste 321.00£            64.20£              385.20£            

XL Displays Ltd Banner for the Be a Councillor recruitment campaign 232.75£            46.55£              279.30£            

Zurich Municipal Additional Insurance cover for play parks 10/10/2024 - 09/10/2025 109.91£            -£                  109.91£            

Grand Total 476,319.76£     5,673.30£         481,993.06£     

Page 207



To receive an updated report on the Town Council Schedule of Meetings for the year 

2025/26 and consider any actions 

 

Report to: Full Town Council 

Date of Report: 3 April 2025 

Officer Writing the Report: Office Manager / Assistant to the Town Clerk 

Pursuant to: Full Council held on 9.01.25 minute nr. 318/24/25 

Officers Recommendations  

1. To note the rescheduled date for the Policy and Finance meeting scheduled to be held in 

September. 

 

2. To recommend to formally adopt the updated Town Council schedule of meetings for the 

year 2025/26 to the Annual Meeting of Saltash to be held on 15 May 2025, as attached. 

 

Report Summary 

The proposed date for the Policy and Finance Committee meeting, originally scheduled for 9 

September 2025, needs to be rescheduled due to annual leave.  

The proposed date is 23 September 2025. 

 

Signature of Officer: 

 

 

Page 208

Agenda Item 19

https://modern.saltash.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1137&MId=1500&Ver=4


SALTASH TOWN COUNCIL
SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS 2025/26

Tuesday 1 1 Tuesday
Wednesday 2 2 Wednesday
Thursday 3 1 3 Thursday
Friday 4 2 4 1 Friday
Saturday 5 3 5 2 Saturday
Sunday 6 4 1 6 3 Sunday
Monday 7 5 2 7 4 1 Monday
Tuesday 8 6 3 8 5 2 Tuesday
Wednesday 9 7 4 9 6 3 Wednesday
Thursday 10 8 5 10 7 4 Thursday
Friday 11 9 6 11 8 5 Friday

Saturday 12 10 7 12 9 6 Saturday

Sunday 13 11 8 13 10 7 Sunday

Monday 14 12 9 14 11 8 Monday
Tuesday 15 13 10 15 12 9 Tuesday
Wednesday 16 14 11 16 13 10 Wednesday

Thursday 17 15 12 17 14 11 Thursday
Friday 18 16 13 18 15 12 Friday
Saturday 19 17 14 19 16 13 Saturday
Sunday 20 18 15 20 17 14 Sunday

Monday 21 19 16 21 18 15 Monday
Tuesday 22 20 17 22 19 16 Tuesday
Wednesday 23 21 18 23 20 17 Wednesday
Thursday 24 22 19 24 21 18 Thursday
Friday 25 23 20 25 22 19 Friday
Saturday 26 24 21 26 23 20 Saturday
Sunday 27 25 22 27 24 21 Sunday
Monday 28 26 23 28 25 22 Monday
Tuesday 29 27 24 29 26 23 Tuesday
Wednesday 30 28 25 30 27 24 Wednesday
Thursday 29 26 31 28 25 Thursday
Friday 30 27 29 26 Friday
Saturday 31 28 30 27 Saturday
Sunday 29 31 28 Sunday
Monday 30 29 Monday
Tuesday 30 Tuesday

Annual FTC
Town Council Additional  Meetings: Attendance (by invitation) for Civic Parade:
Planning and Licensing Annual Town Council 15 May 2025 at 7p.m. May Fair 3 May 2025
Policy & Finance Annual Meeting with Parishioners 5 March 2026 at 6:30p.m. Regatta 7 - 8 June 2025
Services Remembrance Armistice Day (RBL) 11 November 2025
Personnel Civic Events: Remembrance Civic Service 9 November 2025
Burial Authority Mayor Choosing TBC
Burial Board Civic Service TBC
Bank Holiday D Day 80 Remembrance Event 8 May 2025

VE Day 80

MAY FAIR

APRIL MAY JUNE JULY

ELECTIONS

AUGUST SEPTEMBER

REGATTA

Annual Town Council

P
age 209



SALTASH TOWN COUNCIL
SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS 2025/26

Wednesday 1 Wednesday
Thursday 2 1 Thursday
Friday 3 2 Friday
Saturday 4 1 3 Saturday
Sunday 5 2 4 1 1 Sunday
Monday 6 3 1 5 2 2 Monday
Tuesday 7 4 2 6 3 3 Tuesday
Wednesday 8 5 3 7 4 4 Wednesday
Thursday 9 6 4 8 5 5 Thursday
Friday 10 7 5 9 6 6 Friday

Saturday 11 8 6 10 7 7 Saturday

Sunday 12 9 7 11 8 8 Sunday

Monday 13 10 8 12 9 9 Monday
Tuesday 14 11 9 13 10 10 Tuesday
Wednesday 15 12 10 14 11 11 Wednesday

Thursday 16 13 11 15 12 12 Thursday
Friday 17 14 12 16 13 13 Friday
Saturday 18 15 13 17 14 14 Saturday
Sunday 19 16 14 18 15 15 Sunday

Monday 20 17 15 19 16 16 Monday
Tuesday 21 18 16 20 17 17 Tuesday
Wednesday 22 19 17 21 18 18 Wednesday
Thursday 23 20 18 22 19 19 Thursday
Friday 24 21 19 23 20 20 Friday
Saturday 25 22 20 24 21 21 Saturday
Sunday 26 23 21 25 22 22 Sunday
Monday 27 24 22 26 23 23 Monday
Tuesday 28 25 23 27 24 24 Tuesday
Wednesday 29 26 24 28 25 25 Wednesday
Thursday 30 27 25 29 26 26 Thursday
Friday 31 28 26 30 27 27 Friday
Saturday 29 27 31 28 28 Saturday
Sunday 30 28 29 Sunday
Monday 29 30 Monday
Tuesday 30 31 Tuesday

31

Annual FTC Additional  Meetings: Attendance (by invitation) for Civic Parade:
Town Council Annual Town Council 15 May 2024 May Fair 3 May 2025 
Planning and Licensing Annual Meeting With Parisioners 5th March 2025 at 6:30p.m. Regatta 7 - 8 June 2025
Policy & Finance Remembrance Armistice Day (RBL) 11 November 2025
Services Civic Events: Remembrance Civic Service 9 November 2025
Personnel Mayor Choosing TBC
Burial Authority Civic Service TBC
Burial Board D Day 80 Remembrance Event 8 May 2025
Bank Holiday

CHRISTMAS FESTIVAL

ANNUAL PARISHIONERS

ARMISTICE DAY

DECEMBER JANUARY MARCHFEBRUARY

REMEMBRANCE CIVIC 
SERVICE

OCTOBER NOVEMBER

P
age 210



TO RECEIVE A REPORT FROM SALTASH TOWN TEAM AND CONSIDER ANY 

ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 

 

REPORT FROM TOWN TEAM RE. THE FIRST STREET MARKET ON 15/3/2025 

 

There was no doubt the market had favourable weather and so the shoppers came out. From 

both the stallholders and the public the response was very favourable but, more importantly 

for what we were trying to achieve, the responses from the existing shopkeepers was also 

very positive with comments such as:- 

 

1.  “Look at the number of people in the street – fantastic.” 

 

2.  “If I had known it was going to be so busy I would have got extra staff in.” 

 

3.  “Sorry, we haven’t got any food left.” 

 

4.  “Certainly more people looking in the window and coming in the shop.” 

 

We hope to build a statistical analysis of footfall/trade at some stage during the market trial 

over the next 5 months but at this stage, visually, there were more people in Fore Street and 

this seemed to be spread throughout the town centre, helped by the Craft/Arts Fair in Saltash 

Studio, which will also run on the next market day, 19th April. 

 

There is not due to be another Town Team meeting until after the May elections and the 

nomination of representatives from STC and CC thereafter but, in the meantime, we are 

aware of a coupled of points raised re. the first market which will be considered in the 

meantime. 

 

1.  Whether there should be signage to show that the Belle Vue car parks were open. There 

     were several comments to the effect that the ‘Road Closed Ahead’ signs deterred people 

      from parking therein. 

 

Chairman Town Team P Ryland  

end of report. 

 

Page 211

Agenda Item 20



To receive a request from the Saltash & District Branch of the Royal British 

Legion and consider any actions and associated expenditure. 

 

The Town Council have received a request from Saltash Royal British Legion (RBL) 

for the Civic Party to attend a church service and wreath laying ceremony at St 

Nicholas and St Faith Church in remembrance of VE Day 80.  

The event is taking place on Thursday 8 May at 10.15am.   

The Civic Party will form at the Guildhall for 10.05am and walk to the church.  

The Mayor’s pew and mace holders will be used by the Civic Party. After the service 

the Mayor will be invited to lay a wreath on the ‘Lest We Forget’ War Memorial 

Benches.  

RBL have also requested the Town Council further support the church service by 

printing the Order of Service - 60 copies of a four-page Order of Service in black and 

white.   

 

Invitation received from Saltash RBL 

I would be delighted if the Mayor could make this a civic event, including mace 
bearers. 
 
Please can you approach the council to ask for free printing of the order of service 
 
Kind regards 
 
Bill Dent 
President 
Saltash RBL 
 

End of report. 

Page 212

Agenda Item 21


	Agenda
	5 To receive and approve the Minutes of the Full Town Council Meeting held on 6 March 2025 as a true and correct record.
	6a Policy and Finance held on 11 March;
	Minutes
	163/24/25 To receive a report on updating Standing Orders and consider any actions and associated expenditure.

	6b Planning and Licensing held on 18 March;
	Minutes

	6c Extraordinary Personnel held on 27 March.
	Minutes
	98/24/25 To receive a staffing report from the Town Clerk and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	Mins FINANCE OFFICER JOB DESCRIPTION
	Mins Staff Organisation Template


	7 To review the Town Council's Provision of IT and Acceptable Use Policy and consider any actions.
	DRAFT Provision of IT Equipment & Acceptable Use Policy

	9 To receive the Chairman's report and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	10 To receive the Monthly Crime Figures and consider any actions.
	12 To receive a report from Community Area Partnerships and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	14 To receive a report from Saltash Chamber of Commerce and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	16 To receive an update on the future of the health care in Saltash and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	18a To advise the receipts for February 2025;
	18b To advise the payments for February 2025;
	19 To receive an updated report on the Town Council Schedule of Meetings for the year 2025-26 and consider any actions.
	DRAFT Scehdule of Meetings 2025-2026

	20 To receive a report from Saltash Town Team and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	21 To receive a request from the Saltash & District Branch of the Royal British Legion and consider any actions and associated expenditure.

